
 CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS  

 

CITY COUNCIL REGULAR SESSION 

321 WALNUT STREET, GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TUESDAY, AUGUST 03, 2021 – 7:00 PM 

Anyone wishing to address the city council regarding any topic on this agenda is requested to complete a 

card available at the city clerk's desk.  Speakers are respectfully requested to limit their comments to three 

(3) minutes. 

The city council prohibits the use of cell phones and other electronic devices which emit an audible sound 

during all meetings with the exception of law enforcement, fire and rescue or health care providers on 

call. Persons in violation may be requested to leave the meeting 

AGENDA 

Invocation & Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag - Pastor Patrick Martin, Russell Baptist Church 

Roll Call 

Mayor to call on members of the audience wishing to address the Council on matters not on the Agenda. 

PUBLIC HEARINGS 

1. First Reading of Ordinance No. O-06-2021, an ordinance requesting to rezone property from 

Agriculture / Industrial (County) to Planned Unit Development for the Ayrshire Development on 

land owned by Gustafson’s Cattle, Inc., approximately 560.52 acres on CR 15 A, a portion of 

016515-000-00.  Michael Daniels 

CONSENT AGENDA 

All matters under the consent agenda are considered to be routine by the city council and will be enacted 

by one motion in the form listed below. There will be no separate discussion on these items. If discussion 

is desired, that item will be removed from the consent agenda and will be considered separately. Backup 

documentation and staff recommendations have been previously submitted to the city council on these 

items. 

2. City Council approval of, and authorization for the Mayor to execute, Disbursement Request #3 

which includes Contractor’s Pay Request #2 for Williams Industrial Services, LLC, in the 

amount of $459,854.82 (already paid) and Mittauer & Associates Invoice # 21289 in the amount 

of $8500.00, for the Florida Department of Environmental Protection (FDEP), State Revolving 

Fund (SRF), Harbor Road Water Reclamation Facility (WRF) Expansion, Phase 2, SRF 

Agreement No. WW1000420.  Scott Schultz 

3. City Council approval of funding in the amount of $125,038.65 to Gresco for electrical materials 

for inventory and the Magnolia Point reconductor project.  Scott Schultz 

4. City Council approval of the FY 2021 Revenues and Expenditures Report and the Quarterly 

Investment Report for the period ending June 30, 2021.  Marlena Guthrie 

Page 1



August 03, 2021 Agenda Page 2 of 3 

 

 

5. City Council approval of Magnolia Point Reconductor Phase 1- Council authorization to award 

Heart Utility with Phase 1 of installing the backbone feeder for the reconductor project at 

Magnolia Point in an amount not to exceed $300,000.  Andy Yeager 

6. City Council approval to pay Invoice # 1 and # 2 to SPX Transformer Solutions in the total 

amount of $977,105.00 for the purchase of Chapman Transformer #3.  Andy Yeager 

7. City Council approval of Pay Application #6 to Terry’s Electric for Chapman Substation 

Construction Improvements in the amount of $114,950.00, leaving a balance of $184,126.80 in 

contract number LC 2020-17 in the total amount of $879,086.00. Andy Yeager 

COUNCIL BUSINESS 

8. FMPA - August 2021 Bob Page 

9. Lien Reduction Request For 704 Governors Cir  Ben Plourd 

10. Lien Reduction Request For 402 Roberts St.  Ben Plourd 

11. Lien Reduction Request For 115 St. Johns  Ben Plourd 

12. City Manager and City Attorney Reports and/or Correspondence/Executive Summary Reports. 

13. City Council Reports and/or Correspondence. 

Adjournment 

 

 

The City Council meets the first and third Tuesday of each month beginning at 7:00 p.m., unless 

otherwise scheduled.  Meetings are held in City Hall at 321 Walnut Street.  Video and audio 

recordings of the meetings are available in the City Clerk’s Office upon request. 

City may take action on any matter during this meeting, including items that are not set forth within 

this agenda. 

Minutes of the City Council meetings can be obtained from the City Clerk’s office.   The Meetings 

are usually recorded, but are not transcribed verbatim for the minutes.  Persons requiring a 

verbatim transcript may make arrangements with the City Clerk to duplicate the recordings, if 

available, or arrange to have a court reporter present at the meeting.  The cost of duplication and/or 

court reporter will be at the expense of the requesting party. 

Persons who wish to appeal any decision made by the City Council with respect to any matter 

considered at this meeting will need a record of the proceedings, and for such purpose may need to 

ensure that a verbatim record of the proceedings is made, which record includes the testimony and 

evidence upon which the appeal is based.  The City is not responsible if the inhouse recording is 

incomplete for any reason. 

ADA NOTICE 

Page 2



August 03, 2021 Agenda Page 3 of 3 

 

 

In accordance with Section 286.26, Florida Statutes, persons with disabilities needing special 

accommodations to participate in this meeting should contact the City Clerk’s office no later than 5:00 

p.m. on the day prior to the meeting. 

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION: 

Pursuant to Section 286.0114, Florida Statutes, effective October 1, 2013, the public is invited to speak 

on any “proposition” before a board, commission, council, or appointed committee takes official action 

regardless of whether the issue is on the Agenda.  Certain exemptions for emergencies, ministerial acts, 

etc. apply.  This public participation does not affect the right of a person to be heard as otherwise provided 

by law. 

EXPARTE COMMUNICATIONS 

Oral or written exchanges (sometimes referred to as lobbying or information gathering) between a Council 

Member and others, including staff, where there is a substantive discussion regarding a quasijudicial 

decision by the City Council. The exchanges must be disclosed by the City Council so the public may 

respond to such exchanges before a vote is taken. 

 

Page 3



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA  

TO:  City Council MEETING DATE: August 3, 2021 

FROM: Michael Daniels, AICP, Planning & Zoning Director 

SUBJECT: Request to rezone property from Agriculture / Industrial (County) to Planned Unit 

Development for the Ayrshire Development on land owned by Gustafson’s Cattle, Inc., 

approximately 560.52 acres on CR 15 A, a portion of 016515-000-00 
 

PROPERTY DESCRIPTION 

APPLICANT: Ellen Avery-Smith, Esq. of Rogers 

Tower, PA 
OWNER: Gustafson’s Cattle, Inc. 

PROPERTY LOCATION: CR 15 A 

PARCEL NUMBER: 016515-000-00 

FILE NUMBER: 202100301 

CURRENT ZONING:  Agriculture (County) / Industrial Select (County) 

FUTURE LAND USE DESIGNATION: Rural Fringe (County) / Industrial (County) to Residential 

Low Density (City) 

SURROUNDING LAND USE 

NORTH: FLU: Recreation 

Z: Recreation 

Use: Undeveloped 

SOUTH: FLU: Industrial (County) 

Z: Heavy Industrial (County) 

Use: Industrial / Undeveloped  

EAST: FLU: Industrial (County) 

Z: Heavy Industrial (County) 

Use: Industrial  

WEST: FLU: Rural Residential / Commercial / 

Agriculture (County) 

Z: Agricultural Residential / Commercial 

(County) 

Use: Single Family Homes, Commercial, 

Undeveloped 

BACKGROUND 

DEVELOPMENT DESCRIPTION: 

The applicant, Ellen Avery Smith Esq, of Rogers Tower PA has submitted an annexation request for 560.52 

acres on behalf of her client, D.R. Horton, as part of their contractual agreement to purchase the property 

from the current owner Gustafson’s Cattle Inc.  The property is located on the east side of CR 15A, west of 

Page 4

Item #1.



the railroad tracks, south of Green Cove Avenue, and north of Jersey Avenue.  The applicant has also 

submitted a large-scale Future Land Use request to Residential Low Density and a site-specific Future Land 

Use Policy.  The Future Land Use requests were approved for state transmittal on May 18th by City Council 

and transmitted to the Florida Department of Economic Opportunity on May 27th.    The state has reviewed 

the submittal and identified no comment related to adverse impacts to state resources facilities.   State agency 

review is included within your packet. Both cases as well as the annexation will be taken to City Council for 

final adoption/approval in August.  The schedule of the public hearing dates with City Council is set forth in 

the table below: 

Project Type  City Council 

Annexation 2nd Reading 8/17/2021 

Future Land Use Map / Site 

Specific Adoption 8/17/2021 

Zoning -- PUD 8/3 & 8/17/2021 

163 Development Agreement TBD 

      

The site is located within the City’s Electric Service Boundary. It will be served by the City’s electric and 

sanitation services and by the Clay County Utility Authority for water and sewer.    

The site historically was used as a dairy farm.  The dairy farm is no longer in service, and the property has 

been allowed to go fallow.  The property is heavily wooded with a combination of hardwood and invasive 

species.  A large L-shaped wetland is located in the south-central portion of the property.  This request is a 

large-scale Future Land Use Amendment which, if transmitted by City Council, shall be reviewed by the 

Department of Economic Opportunity prior to City Council action on adoption.   

The applicant is proposing the development of 2,100 single family homes with two access points off of CR 

15 A.  The applicant is also proposing to build a 4-lane roadway to connect across the City property to the 

north and build a bridge across the railroad tracks to the east to connect to US 17.  The City property to the 

north was bought by the City using Florida Forever Funds to develop a regional park facility.    As a result, 

the applicant and the City are in discussions with the Florida Department of Environmental Protection 

(FDEP) to conduct a Land Exchange to exchange property from the Gustafson site so that a roadway can be 

constructed.  A maximum of 231 single family units can be developed if the Land Exchange is not granted 

by FDEP.  The applicant is also proposing a minimum of 27.8625 acres of park land within the development.  

This includes a minimum of a 10-acre park that will be open to the public.  In addition, the applicant has 

agreed to pay a $400 per dwelling unit park dedication fee to be used for capital improvements for parks 

throughout the City, as well as agreed to pay for the construction of a police substation, which is included in 

the draft developer’s agreement.  The project is expected to be fully built out in 20 years. 

The Planning and Zoning Commission unanimously approved the PUD with staff conditions on July 27, 

2021.       

Public Notice 
Staff advertised per the requirements of the Land Development Regulations (Sec. 101-351) by sending 

letters to surrounding property owners within 300’, placing a legal ad in the Clay Today, and posting a 

Public Hearing Notice sign on the property, all approximately 10 days prior to the hearing.  

Page 5

Item #1.



Compliance with Land Development Code 
Section 117-421 

All proposed development requesting to be reviewed as a planned unit development shall provide the 

following information on the application for development approval: 

1. The application for approval of a proposed development shall indicate that the development 

approval is requested as a planned unit development. 

Analysis of Consistency: This application requests to rezone the project site from to a Planned Unit 

Development (PUD).  

2. The application shall clearly show the calculation allowed by the future land use map per type of 

land use category and the calculation of the land use by type in the proposed development.  

Analysis of Consistency: The total acreage for the project site is ±560.62 acres. This application requests 

to rezone the entire project site to PUD.  The applicant has also applied to amend the FLUM concurrent 

with this PUD Rezoning application.  The companion application will amend the FLU designation for the 

site from Institutional to Residential Low Density 0->4 du/ac.  Based on the proposed Residential Low 

Density FLU designation, a maximum of 2,242 residential units could be achieved on the project site. 

3. The application shall indicate the benefit to the city for allowing the planned unit development. 

The benefits may include: 

a. Permit a compact approach to the development of land such that units are clustered allowing 

for a larger percentage of parks and environmental sensitive areas to remain undisturbed.   

Analysis of Consistency: This application will allow the development of land in a manner that is 

compatible with the surrounding neighborhood by provide large buffer areas but allow for flexibility in lot 

widths and residential type.  The PUD Rezoning will increase the variety in the City’s housing types and 

will potentially increase the variety in the City’s market rate housing prices.  

b. Accomplish a more desirable environment than would be possible through the strict 

application of minimum requirements of the land development code; 

Analysis of Consistency: Specific development standards / density controls are proposed for this PUD 

which will allow for the flexibility of development in terms of not requiring attached or detached garages 

for each dwelling unit.  Such as allowing narrower public rights of way and lot width, so that additional 

units can be built but at the same allowing for greater tree preservation and buffering against adjacent 

property owners.   

c. Provide for an efficient use of land, resulting in smaller networks of utilities and streets; 

Analysis of Consistency: Specific development standards / density controls are proposed for this PUD 

which will allow for the flexibility of development in terms of not requiring attached or detached garages 

for each dwelling unit.  Such as allowing narrower public rights of way and lot width, so that additional 

units can be built but at the same allowing for greater tree preservation and buffering against adjacent 

property owners.   

d. Enhance the appearance of neighborhoods through preservation of natural features, the 

provision of underground utilities and the provisions of recreation areas and open space; 

Page 6

Item #1.



Analysis of Consistency: The proposed PUD Rezoning will allow for the development of undeveloped 

property with construction.  Elevations of the proposed residential structures are provided in the materials 

included in the PUD Written Description.  Development consistent with these elevations will ensure 

compatibility with the appearance of the neighborhood.  Tree preservation and tree planting will be 

required to ensure the environmental and aesthetic quality of the neighborhood will be preserved and 

enhanced. 

e. Provide an opportunity for new approaches to ownership 

Analysis of Consistency: The proposed development of this site allows for more housing options and a 

wider variety of single-family detached homes and attached homes.   

f. Provide an environment of stable character compatible with surrounding residential areas; 

and 

Analysis of Consistency: This application requests the development of single family detached and 

attached homes on the subject property. The proposed residential units are compatible with surrounding 

residential development.  

g. Retain property values over the years. 

Analysis of Consistency:  

The proposed development will bring new residents into the City helping to preserve the 

community fabric in this neighborhood and retain property values into the future.  

  

4. The application for development approval must comply with all requirements of the land 

development code. 

Analysis of Consistency: As outlined in this application and the companion SsCPA application, the 

proposed PUD rezoning complies with all requirements of the Land Development Code. 

Consistency with Comprehensive Plan 
The applicant proposes to amend the FLUM Designation from the County’s Rural Fringe and Industrial to 

RLD, Residential Low Density, on the subject property. The following Comprehensive Plan Elements have 

Goals, Objectives, and Policies (GOPs) that support the proposed amendment to the Future Land Use Map 

of the City of Green Cove Springs Comprehensive Plan:  

  

• Future Land Use Element  

• Transportation Element  

• Housing Element   

• Sanitary Sewer, Solid Waste, Drainage, Potable Water and Aquifer Recharge Element 

• Conservation Element 

 

Staff finds the application consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and the Goals, Objectives, and Policies 

(GOPs) therein.  A more detailed discussion, including consistency statements, of the specific goals, 

objectives, and policies is provided below.   

 

Page 7

Item #1.



FUTURE LAND USE ELEMENT 

Goal 1 
To develop and maintain land use programs and activities to provide for the most appropriate use of the land 

and direct growth to suitable areas while protecting the public, health, safety and welfare. 

Analysis of Consistency: The City of Green Cove Springs has had a growing need for housing as the 

population grows and the city develops. While new housing in the form of in-fill development has been 

ongoing, a large boon of housing would not be feasible with the current land area within the municipal limits. 

The annexation of the presently undeveloped proposed property will allow for an appropriate use of the land, 

which extends an existing residential area of town further southward. This will be done while simultaneously 

protecting or mitigating for important natural resources on-site, as well as accounting the health, safety, and 

welfare of future citizens / residents.  The proposed development is consistent with this goal.        

 
Policy 1.1.1  

All land use decisions shall be consistent with the Conservation Element and require the analysis and/or 

coordination of the following: 

a. Size of development; 

b. Relationship and compatibility of proposed development with the adjacent and surrounding land 

uses; 

c. Compatibility and suitability of soils and topography for drainage and septic systems; 

d. Relationship to wetlands and floodplains; and 

e. Impact on adopted levels of service. 

Analysis of Consistency: The proposed development will be required to meet the City’s comprehensive plan 

and land development regulation requirements, which will ensure the size of the development is reasonable 

and works with the land, the development is compatible with surrounding land uses, the soils and topography 

are suitable for drainage systems, and the property maintains a positive relationship with wetlands maintained 

on-site. Adopted levels of services will be maintained throughout the construction of the development. 

 

Policy 1.1.3 
Development in the Conservation areas must be permitted by the Department of Environmental Protection, 

and all applicable local, state, and federal agencies, prior to receiving final approval by the City. 

Analysis of Consistency: The applicant is already in discussions with the appropriate agencies to ensure the 

land is developed in the best manner possible and conserved lands are maintained is good conditions, not 

impacted by development.        

 

Objective 1.2.1  
The City shall ensure that development orders are conditioned upon the provision of essential facilities and 

services which meet the established Level of Service (LOS) standards and necessary to serve the proposed 

development by reviewing each site plan/development proposal to ensure compliance with concurrency and 

do not go beyond LOS threshold.  

  

Analysis of Consistency: The property currently is undeveloped.  Adopted levels of services will be 

maintained throughout the construction of the development. 

 

Objective 1.2.2 
The City shall continue its policy for mandatory sewer and water hookups for new development.   

Page 8

Item #1.



   

Analysis of Consistency: As part of the subdivision approval of this project, the development will be 

required to connect to CCUA’s water and sewer facilities. 

 

Policy 1.5.1  
Planned Unit Developments shall be encouraged to control growth and design. 

 

Analysis of Consistency: The applicant has presently submitted a voluntary annexation request and future 

land use amendment, but in the future will be submitting a Planned Unit Development rezoning application, 

which will allow for innovation in design as well as protection of natural resources.   

 

TRANSPORTATION ELEMENT 

 
Objective 2.3 Review of Proposed Development 
All future development shall be reviewed to ensure that the adopted the level of service standards 

is met and that the development is consistent with applicable land development regulations and 

supports the Future Land Use Map. 

 

Analysis of Consistency: The City and the applicant are working together to ensure the project will be 

consistent with and maintain adopted level of service standards, through review of a Traffic Study. 

 

Objective 2.8  
Site Development Traffic Circulation: The City shall require that all major developments and planned unit 

developments provide a circulation system which: provides adequate access to the major roadway network; 

provides for sound design of local and collector streets within such development; provides for the 

development of multi-use trails, and otherwise provides for the objectives and policies of the Land Use and 

Transportation Plan. 

 

Analysis of Consistency: The proposed project will be designed in accordance with City requirements for 

circulation, access, and connectivity. The applicant is considering providing a trail throughout the proposed 

subdivision to connect CR 15A to US Highway 17, which will be wide enough to support public safety and 

encourage pedestrian activity through the subdivision.   

 

Policy 2.10.4 
The City shall review development consistent with the standards in the land development regulations to 

assure that adequate provisions exist for the bicycle and pedestrian. 

 

Analysis of Consistency: As discussed above, the City is working with the applicant to ensure adequate 

provisions will be made for bicycles and pedestrians. 

 

HOUSING ELEMENT 

 
GOAL 3 

The City of Green Cove Springs shall make provisions for adequate and affordable housing that meets the 

physical and social needs of all segments of the current and future population of the City. 

 

Page 9

Item #1.



Analysis of Consistency: This application would allow up to 2,242 dwelling units to be added to the housing 

market and will increase the variety of housing options within the City for its residents. The proposed lot 

sizes will also potentially increase the variety of market rate prices within the City.    

 

Objective 3.1: Adequate and Affordable Housing 
The City shall continue to assist the private sector in providing dwelling units of various types, sizes, and 

costs to meet the housing needs of the current and future residents and residents with special housing needs. 

 

Analysis of Consistency: This application permits a maximum of 2,242 residential units, supporting this 

objective to provide dwelling units of various types, sizes, and costs. 

 

Objective 3.2: Substandard Housing Conditions 
The City shall conserve the quality of the existing housing stock and work to reduce the number of 

substandard housing units each year. 

 

Analysis of Consistency: This application will allow for the development of new residential units, consistent 

with this objective. 

 

SANITARY SEWER, SOLID WASTE, DRAINAGE, POTABLE WATER, AND AQUIFER 

RECHARGE ELEMENT 

 

Policy 4.4.1 
The City's land development regulations shall require review of all proposed development to ensure adequate 

retention/detention of stormwater runoff to maintain surface water quality, to encourage percolation, and 

reduce impacts to drainage canals, surface water, and groundwater. The City shall require proof of obtaining 

the appropriate drainage and stormwater permits and approvals from the DEP, SJRWMD and Army Corps 

of Engineers, prior to issuing development permits. No development shall be allowed to degrade surface 

water quality below the standards set forth in Chapter 40C-42, F.A.C. and Chapter 17-25, F.A.C. 

 

Analysis of Consistency: The applicant is already working with and will continue to work with required 

agencies to ensure surface water quality is maintained, and drainage / stormwater are appropriately handled 

to best protect the environment and ensure public health and safety. 

 

CONSERVATION ELEMENT 

 

GOAL 5 
The City of Green Cove Springs shall conserve, utilize, and protect its natural resources to ensure that 

adequate resources are available for future generations.  

 

Analysis of Consistency: The applicant hired Carter Environmental Services to provide an Environmental 

Report which is included within the packet.  The report identifies the environmental processes that will have 

to be followed in order to move forward with the development of this property.  The City, and designated 

state agencies will work together to ensure the protection of natural resources during development. Portions 

of the land will be retained as open space for visual enjoyment and conservation purposes. 

  

  

Page 10

Item #1.



 Environmental Conditions Analysis 
 
Maps of Environmental Features 

 

Page 11

Item #1.



 

 

Wetlands 

According to the National Wetlands Inventory, most of the property is a Freshwater Emergent Wetland 

with a small portion being a Freshwater Forested/Shrub Wetland. The developer has hired Carter 

Environmental Services who has delineated the wetlands on the property.  The developer shall be required 

to secure all required permit from the Florida Department of Environmental Protection and the St John’s 

River Water Management District prior to development approval  

 

Soils 

There are currently 8 types of soils located onsite: 

 

 Goldhead Fine Sand, which encompasses most of the site, is a poorly drained soil; 

 Hurricane Fine Sand is a gently sloping, somewhat poorly drained soil;  

 Sapelo Fine Sand is a gently sloping, poorly drained soil; 

 Leon Fine Sand is a gently sloping, poorly drained soil; 

 Plummer Fine Sand is a gently sloping, poorly drained soil; 

 Centenary Fine Sand is a gently sloping, moderately well drained soil; 

 Urban Land is an unranked soil; 

 Ridgewood Fine Sand is a gently sloping, somewhat poorly drained soil; 

 

 

All new development shall be required to meet the stormwater management requirements of the St John’s 

Water Management District.   

 

 

 

Page 12

Item #1.



Flood Zones 

According to the FEMA Flood Map Service Center, the project site is located primarily within FEMA 

Flood Zone A, which has a 1% annual chance of flooding and is within the 100-year floodplain. A small 

portion on the western edge of the property within FEMA Flood Zone X, which is outside the 100-year 

floodplain.  

 

Wellfield Protection Zone 

The project site is not located within or adjacent to a wellfield protection zone. 

 

Historic Structures and Markers 

There are no historic structures or markers found on the site. 
 

Public Facilities Impact 
 

Traffic Impacts 

Land Use1 Dwelling  
Units/SF 

Daily AM Peak PM Peak 

(ITE) Rate Trips Rate Trips Rate Trips 

Maximum Development 
Potential Based on  
Existing FLU  
 

Single Family Residential   
(ITE 210)* 

540* 9.57 5,168 .75 405 1.01 545 

Light Industrial**  4,143,863** 6.97 28,883 .92 3,812 .97 4,020 

Total - - 34,051 - 4,217 - 4,565 

*Based on maximum density for Rural Fringe Future Land Use Designation and Industrial Park Future 

Land Use designation.   

**Based on maximum square footage for in the Industrial Park Future Land Use Designation. 

 

Land Use1 
Units 

Daily AM Peak PM Peak 

(ITE) Rate Trips Rate Trips Rate Trips 

Proposed 

Single Family Residential   
(ITE 210) 

2,100 9.57 21,456 .75 1,681 1.01 2,264 

Total - - 21,456 - 1,681 - 2,264 

1. Source: Institute of Transportation Engineers: Trip Generation Manual 8h Edition 

 

Conclusion: The proposed Future Land Use Amendment would result in a decrease of potential traffic at 

the subject property as set forth in the above traffic impact table.  A traffic study for 2,100 single family 

residential units has been submitted and is being reviewed by City staff and the Florida Department of 

Transportation (FDOT) pursuant to the City’s Traffic Study Guidelines that all roadway facilities shall 

operate at the required Level of Service as set forth in the Comprehensive Plan.   

 

Potable Water & Sanitary Sewer Impacts 

Potable Water and Sanitary Sewer will be provided by the Clay County Utility Authority (CCUA). CCUA 

provides water and wastewater services to most residents within the unincorporated county, as well as some 

Page 13

Item #1.



local municipalities and a portion of Bradford County. According to their 2017 Evaluation and Appraisal 

Report, Clay County determined the regional facilities serving the county are capable of meeting projected 

demand through 2040. 

 

Potable Water Impacts 

System Category Gallons Per Day (GPD) 

Current Permitted Capacity1 34,000,000 

Less Actual Water Flows 11,900,000 

Projected Potable Water Demand from Proposed Project1      653,100 
1. Source: Clay County 2040 Comprehensive Plan Exhibit C Community Facilities Element. Formula Used: 2100 dwelling units x 311 

gallons per day 

 

Conclusion: The project shall be served by the Clay County Utility Authority (CCUA).  CCUA has 

adequate capacity for the proposed demand.  The City has approved an agreement with CCUA to provide 

temporary service for up to 300 units until such time as CCUA has the facilities in place to serve the 

development.   

 

 

Sanitary Sewer Impacts  

System Category Gallons Per Day (GPD) 

Projected Wastewater Demand from Proposed Project2 585,900 
1. Source: Clay County 2040 Comprehensive Plan Exhibit C Community Facilities Element. Formula Used: 2100 dwelling units x 279 

gallons per day 

 

Conclusion: The project shall be served by the Clay County Utility Authority (CCUA).  CCUA shall add 

an additional phase to the Governor’s Park Plant to serve this development.  The City has approved an 

agreement with CCUA to provide temporary service for up to 300 units until such time as CCUA has the 

facilities in place to serve the development.   

 

Recreation Impacts 

The Developer will be required to provide 5 acres of Recreational Space per 1,000 persons projected. 

Assuming the property is developed with the maximum number of single-family dwellings allowed per the 

proposed future land use, 2,100 units, with 2.65 persons per dwelling unit, the minimum required 

Recreational Space the developer would need to provide would be 27.825 acres.    

 

Solid Waste Impacts 

System Category LBs Per Day / Tons per Year 

Solid Waste Generated by Proposed Project1 44,520 lbs. / 8,124.9 tons 

Solid Waste Facility Capacity2 Minimum 3 Years Capacity 
1. Source: City of Green Cove Springs Comprehensive Plan. Formula Used: (2100 dwelling units x 2.65 persons per dwelling unit x 8 

lbs. per day)  
2. Source: Clay County Comprehensive Plan 

 

Conclusion:  The City of Green Cove Springs’ solid waste is disposed of at the Rosemary Hill Solid Waste 

Management Facility operated by Clay County.  Per the Clay County Comprehensive Plan, a minimum of 

three (3) years capacity shall be maintained at the County’s solid waste management facility.  The estimated 

impacts from the proposed development are not expected to negatively impact the City’s adopted LOS or 

exceed the County solid waste management facility’s capacity. 

Page 14

Item #1.



 

 

Public School Facilities Impact 

 

Conclusion: The School District of Clay County has provided a school capacity determination, which is 

included in this packet.  The report shows that there is no capacity for Elementary Schools and partial 

capacity for Junior High Schools with the School Concurrency Service Areas.  

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends approval of the first reading of Ordinance O-06-2021 for form and legality, the 

proposed rezoning from Agriculture/Industrial (County) to PUD for 560.62 acres for the Ayrshire 

Development (a portion of parcel # 016515-000-00) subject to the following conditions:   
1. Shall be subject to the requirements of the site-specific Future Land Use policy set forth in Ordinance O-04-

2021.   

2. No more than 231 residential dwelling units may be constructed prior to the construction, approval and 

dedication of a four-lane roadway connecting the subject property to US 17 or an updated traffic study that 

shows the removal of the US Highway 17 connection shall be reviewed and approved by the City.    

3. The Developer’s Agreement stipulating the provision and improvements for agreed upon payments for public 

facilities shall be approved at such time as the traffic study mitigation requirements have been determined 

through the Intersection Control Evaluation (ICE) Procedure administered by the Florida Department of 

Transportation.  No additional development order can be issued until such time as the Developer’s Agreement 

is approved by City Council.   

 

 

Motion to approve the first reading of Ordinance O-06-2021 for form and legality, to rezone the 

Ayrshire Development (a portion of parcel #016515-000-00) subject to the following conditions: 

1. Shall be subject to the requirements of the site-specific Future Land Use policy set forth in Ordinance O-04-

2021.   

2. No more than 231 residential dwelling units may be constructed prior to the construction, approval and 

dedication of a four-lane roadway connecting the subject property to US 17 or an updated traffic study that 

shows the removal of the US Highway 17 connection shall be reviewed and approved by the City.    

3. The Developer’s Agreement stipulating the provision and improvements for agreed upon payments for public 

facilities shall be approved at such time as the traffic study mitigation requirements have been determined 

through the Intersection Control Evaluation (ICE) Procedure administered by the Florida Department of 

Transportation.  No additional development order can be issued until such time as the Developer’s Agreement 

is approved by City Council.   

 

 

 

 

 

Page 15

Item #1.



ORDINANCE NO. O-06-2021  
  

  

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF GREEN 

COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA REZONING ±560.52 ACRES 

OF PROPERTY LOCATED EASTERLY OF OAKRIDGE 

AVENUE / COUNTY ROAD 15A; IDENTIFIED AS A 

PORTION OF TAX ID # 016515-000-00 AND MORE 

PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED IN EXHIBIT “A”, and 

SHOWN IN EXHIBIT “B” FROM AGRICULTURAL 

(COUNTY) AND INDUSTRIAL (COUNTY) TO PUD –

PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT, SPECIFICALLY 

DESCRIBED IN EXHIBIT “C”; PROVIDING FOR 

REPEALER, SEVERABILITY AND SETTING AN 

EFFECTIVE DATE.  

  

RECITALS  

  

WHEREAS, an application for a site-specific amendment to the Official 

Zoning Map, as described below, has been filed with the City by Ellen Avery-

Smith, Esq., of Rogers Tower, PA, (“Agent”) on behalf of Gustafson’s Cattle, 

Inc., (“Owner”); and  

  

WHEREAS, the Owner desires to obtain approval for a Planned Unit 

Development (“PUD”) in the City known as Ayrshire Planned Unit 

Development (“PUD” or “Project”); and  

  

WHEREAS, the Owner wishes to construct the Project, consisting of a 

2,100-unit single family attached and detached subdivision, on a portion of 

016515-000-00, for which the legal description is attached hereto as Exhibit “A” 

and is herein referred to as the “Property”; and  

  

WHEREAS, a duly advertised quasi-judicial public hearing on the proposed 

amendment was conducted on July 27, 2021 by the Planning and Zoning Board, 

sitting as the Local Planning Agency (LPA) and the LPA reviewed and 

considered comments received during the public hearing concerning the 

application and made its recommendation for approval to the City Council; and  

  

WHEREAS, the City Council considered the recommendations of the LPA 

at duly advertised quasi-judicial public hearings on August 3, 2021 and August 

17, 2021 and provided for and received public participation; and  

  

Page 16

Item #1.



Ordinance O-06-2021 

Page 2 of 21 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council has determined and found said application for 

the amendment, to be consistent with the City of Green Cove Springs 

Comprehensive Plan and Land Development Regulations; and,  

  

WHEREAS, for reasons set forth in this Ordinance that is hereby adopted 

and incorporated as findings of fact, that the Green Cove Springs City Council 

finds and declares that the enactment of this amendment is in the furtherance of 

the public health, safety, morals, order, comfort, convenience, appearance, 

prosperity, or general welfare.  

  

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT ENACTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL 

OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA AS FOLLOWS:  

 Section 1.  Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law.   

1. The above recitals are true and correct and incorporated herein by reference.  

2. The proposed site-specific amendment to the Official Zoning Map is 

consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and Land Development 

Regulations.  

3. The amendment will not cause a reduction in the adopted level of service 

standards for transportation, potable water, sanitary sewer, solid waste, 

stormwater, recreation, or public schools.  

  

Section 2. Official Zoning Map Amended.  The Official Zoning Map 

is hereby amended for newly annexed property from the County’s Industrial and 

Agricultural designations to Planned Unit Development, PUD, for a portion of 

Tax Parcel 38-06-26-016515-000-00, in accordance with the legal description 

found in Exhibit “A” and map found in Exhibit “B” attached hereto and 

incorporated herein.  

  

Section 3. Development Parameters.  The development shall follow 

the parameters set forth in the PUD Written Description found in Exhibit “C” 

and the Conceptual Map found in Exhibit “D” attached hereto and incorporated 

herein.  

  

  Section 4. Ordinance to be Construed Liberally.  This ordinance shall 

be liberally construed in order to effectively carry out the purposes hereof which 

are deemed to be in the best interest of the public health, safety and welfare of 

the citizens and residents of Green Cove Springs, Florida.  

  

  Section 5. Repealing Clause.  All ordinances or parts of ordinances in 

conflict herewith are, to the extent of the conflict, hereby repealed.  

  

Page 17

Item #1.



Ordinance O-06-2021 

Page 3 of 21 

 

  Section 6. Severability.  It is the declared intent of the City Council of 

the City of Green Cove Springs that, if any section, sentence, clause, phrase, or 

provision of this ordinance is for any reason held or declared to be 

unconstitutional, void, or inoperative by any court or agency of competent 

jurisdiction, such holding of invalidity or unconstitutionality shall not affect the 

remaining provisions of this ordinance, and the remainder of the ordinance after 

the exclusions of such part or parts shall be deemed to be valid.  

  

  Section 7. Effective Date.  This Ordinance shall be effective upon its 

passage and adoption on the second and final reading.  

  

    

 INTRODUCED AND APPROVED AS TO FORM ONLY ON THE FIRST 

READING BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GREEN COVE 

SPRINGS, FLORIDA, ON THIS 3RD DAY OF AUGUST 2021.  

  

             CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, 

FLORIDA  

  

  

  

                          

             Edward R. Gaw, Mayor  

  

ATTEST:  

  

  

  

              

Erin West, City Clerk  

  

  

Page 18

Item #1.



Ordinance O-06-2021 

Page 4 of 21 

 

 PASSED ON SECOND AND FINAL READING BY THE CITY 

COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA, 

THIS 17th DAY OF AUGUST 2021.  

  

             CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, 

FLORIDA  

  

  

  

                           

             Edward R. Gaw, Mayor  

  

ATTEST:  

  

  

  

              

Erin West, City Clerk  

  

APPROVED AS TO FORM:  

  

  

  

              

L. J. Arnold, III, City Attorney  

  

Page 19

Item #1.



Ordinance O-06-2021 

Page 5 of 21 

 

EXHIBIT “A”  
LEGAL DESCRIPTION:  

January 08, 2021                      Work Order No. 21-008.00 

                                         File No. 127E-39.00A 

 

Ayrshire North Re-Zoning 

 

A portion of Section 38 of the George I.F. Clarke Grant, Township 6 South, Range 26 East, Clay County, 

Florida, being a portion of those lands described and recorded in Official Records Book 1545, page 513 of 

the Public Records of said county and being more particularly described as follows: 

 

For a Point of Reference, commence at the intersection of the Easterly right of way line of County Road 

15A, (South Oakridge Avenue), a 100 foot right of way as presently established with the Southerly right of 

way line of Green Cove Avenue, a variable width right of way as presently established; thence Southerly 

along said Easterly right of way line and along the arc of a curve concave Westerly having a radius of 

1959.86 feet, through a central angle of 14°47’09”, an arc length of 505.76 feet to the point of tangency of 

said curve, said arc being subtended by a chord bearing and distance of South 05°15’37” East, 504.36 feet; 

thence South 02°07’57” West, continuing along last said Easterly right of way line, 1331.79 feet to the 

Southwest corner of those lands described and recorded in Official Records Book 3863, page 203 of said 

Public Records and the Point of Beginning. 

 

From said Point of Beginning, thence Easterly and Northeasterly along the Southerly and Southeasterly 

boundary of last said lands, the following 12 courses: Course 1, thence South 88°31’42” East, departing 

last said Easterly right of way line, 282.59 feet; Course 2, thence North 21°17’17” East, 161.55 feet; Course 

3, thence South 68°42’43” East, 287.10 feet; Course 4, thence South 58°52’43” East, 32.90 feet; Course 5, 

thence South 37°48’54” East, 22.40 feet; Course 6, thence North 70°53’31” East, 15.20 feet; Course 7, 

thence North 34°14’49” East, 52.23 feet; Course 8, thence South 88°17’22” East, 94.17 feet; Course 9, 

thence North 31°43’31” East, 427.82 feet; Course 10, thence North 73°46’32” West, 158.11 feet; Course 

11, thence North 13°06’51” East, 477.10 feet; Course 12, thence North 10°55’57” East, 142.00 feet to a 

point lying on the Southwesterly line of those lands described and recorded as Parcel “A” in Official 

Records Book 3316, page 1098 of said Public Records; thence South 77°06’26” East, along last said line, 

2932.48 feet to the Northwest corner of those lands described and recorded in Official Records Book 3855, 

page 1391 of said Public Records; thence Southerly along the westerly line thereof, the following 3 courses: 

Course 1, thence South 21°54’49” East, 3242.16 feet; Course 2, thence South 68°05’09” West, 1307.43 

feet; Course 3, thence South 21°54’51” East, 1003.87 feet to a point lying on the Northerly line of an Access 

and Maintenance Easement as described an recorded in Official Records Book 3855, page 1394 of said 

Public Records; thence Westerly along said Northerly line, the following 26 courses: Course 1, thence 

South 37°01’31” West, 149.07 feet to the point of curvature of a curve concave Northwesterly having a 

Page 20

Item #1.



Ordinance O-06-2021 

Page 6 of 21 

 

radius of 955.00 feet; Course 2, thence Southwesterly along the arc of said curve, through a central angle 

of 16°37’06”, an arc length of 276.99 feet to a point on said curve, said arc being subtended by a chord 

bearing and distance of South 45°20’05” West, 276.02 feet; Course 3,  thence South 67°24’13” West, along 

a non-tangent line, 105.10 feet; Course 4, thence South 53°45’05” West, 12.16 feet; Course 5, thence South 

13°14’26” West, 24.72 feet; Course 6, thence South 63°07’28” West, 859.11 feet; Course 7, thence North 

26°52’32” West, 5.00 feet; Course 8, thence South 63°07’28” West, 382.73 feet; Course 9, thence North 

26°52’32” West, 31.65 feet; Course 10, thence South 63°07’28” West, 74.60 feet; Course 11, thence South 

26°52’32” East, 36.65 feet; Course 12, thence South 63°07’28” West, 102.14 feet to the point of curvature 

of a curve concave Northerly having a radius of 955.00 feet; Course 13, thence Westerly along the arc of 

said curve, through a central angle of 22°47’15”, an arc length of 379.82 feet to the point of tangency of 

said curve, said arc being subtended by a chord bearing and distance of South 74°31’05” West, 377.32 feet; 

Course 14, thence South 85°54’43” West, 731.91 feet; Course 15, thence North 04°05’17” West, 5.00 feet 

to a point on a non-tangent curve concave Northerly having a radius of 250.00 feet; Course 16, thence 

Westerly along the arc of said curve, through a central angle of 05°44’03”, an arc length of 25.02 feet to 

the point of tangency of said curve, said arc being subtended by a chord bearing and distance of South 

88°46’45” West, 25.01 feet; Course 17, thence North 88°21’14” West, 61.78 feet; Course 18, thence North 

19°49’14” West, 8.30 feet; Course 19, thence North 55°44’57” West, 30.16 feet; Course 20, thence South 

67°18’10” West, 29.23 feet; Course 21, thence South 07°09’24” West, 17.00 feet; Course 22, thence North 

88°21’14” West, 362.37 feet; Course 23, thence South 01°38’46” West, 5.00 feet; Course 24 thence North 

88°21’14” West, 800.00 feet; Course 25, thence North 01°38’46” East, 10.00 feet; Course 26, thence North 

88°21’14” West, 355.52 feet to a point lying on the aforementioned Easterly right of way line of County 

Road 15A; thence North 02°07’57” East, along last said Easterly right of way line, 5150.65 feet to the Point 

of Beginning. 

 

Containing 560.52 acres, more or less. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 21

Item #1.



Ordinance O-06-2021 

Page 7 of 21 

 

EXHIBIT “B”  
  

 

 

  

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 22

Item #1.



Ordinance O-06-2021 

Page 8 of 21 

 

  

EXHIBIT “C” --- PUD Written Description  

 
Ayrshire Planned Unit Development 

 
 

 

 
 
 

City of Green Cove Springs, Florida 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

   
                              March 22, 2021 
  Revised April 5, 2021 
  Revised June 28, 2021 
  Revised July 9, 2021 
  Revised July 21, 2021 

Page 23

Item #1.



Ordinance O-06-2021 

Page 9 of 21 

 

Team Roster 

 

Owners: 

Gustafson’s Cattle, Inc. 

P.O. Box 600337 

Jacksonville, Florida 32260 

 

Applicant: 

  

 D.R. Horton, Inc. – Jacksonville 

 Bob Porter, Anthony Sharp, John Gislason 

 4220 Race Track Road 

 St. Johns, Florida 32259 

 (904) 421-4612 

 

Land Planning/Civil Engineering: 

Dunn & Associates, Inc. 

Vince Dunn, David Taylor 

8647 Baypine Road, Suite 200 

Jacksonville, Florida 32256 

(904) 363-8916 

 

Transportation: 

 Chindalur Traffic Solutions, Inc. 

 Rajesh Chindalur 

 8833 Perimeter Park Boulevard, Suite 103 

 Jacksonville, Florida 32216 

 (904) 619-3368 

 

Legal: 

Rogers Towers, P.A. 

Ellen Avery-Smith, Esq. 

100 Whetstone Place, Suite 200  

St. Augustine, Florida 32086 

(904) 825-1615 

 

Exhibit List: 

Exhibit “A” – Legal Description of the Property 

Exhibit “B” – Conceptual Development Plan 

Exhibit “C” – Collector Road Typical Section 

Exhibit “D” – Typical Landscape Plan 

 

 

 

Page 24

Item #1.



Ordinance O-06-2021 

Page 10 of 21 

 

A. Development Summary 
 

This application proposes to rezone approximately 561 acres (the “Property”) from 

Agriculture (AG) and Industrial Select (IS) (Clay County) to Planned Unit Development 

(PUD) in the City of Green Cove Springs.  The Property is owned by Gustafson’s Cattle, 

Inc. and is under contract for purchase by D.R. Horton, Inc. – Jacksonville (the 

“Applicant”).  A legal description of the Property is attached as Exhibit “A”. 

 

The requested PUD rezoning application is a companion to applications to annex the 

Property into the City of Green Cove Springs and to change the Future Land Use Map 

designation from Industrial and Rural Fringe (Clay County) to Residential Low Density in 

the City.  The PUD is consistent with the proposed City Future Land Use Map (“FLUM”) 

designations set forth in the City of Green Cove Springs Comprehensive Plan. 

 

The Property is located east of County Road 15A, north and west of U.S. Highway 17 and 

south of the current corporate limits of Green Cove Springs. The City owns a vacant 

regional park site to the north of the Property.  The rest of the Property is surrounded by 

industrial and residential lands, some of which are developed and others are vacant. 

 

The Applicant will provide roads, utilities, parks and other infrastructure to serve the 

Property.  A majority of the on-site wetlands will be preserved and set aside to enhance the 

natural attributes of the site. 

Unless specified otherwise in this PUD text and the PUD ordinance approving the same, 

the project will comply with applicable provisions of the City of Green Cove Springs Land 

Development Code (the “Code”). 

B. The Property 

 

The Property includes approximately 561 acres. Wetlands will be delineated pursuant to 

requirements of the St. Johns River Water Management District (“District”) and Florida 

Department of Environmental Protection (“FDEP”), and any proposed wetland impacts 

will be permitted by the District and Corps. A conceptual site plan for the Property is 

illustrated on the Conceptual Development Plan attached as Exhibit “B”.   

 

C. Residential Development 
 

The Property will include a maximum of 2,100 residential units, which will include single-

family and townhome dwellings. No more than 30 percent of the residential units will be 

townhomes.  Approximately 462 acres of the Property are developable. 

The Property will also include parks and other recreational areas to serve the proposed 

residential development. Temporary construction offices and trailers, and essential services 

including roads, water, sewer, gas, telephone, stormwater management facilities, radio, 

television and electric and cellular communication towers will be permitted within 

residential portions of the project. 

Page 25

Item #1.



Ordinance O-06-2021 

Page 11 of 21 

 

D. Non-residential Development 

 

There will be no non-residential development within the Property except for uses ancillary 

to the residential development described in Section C hereof. 

E. Site Development Criteria 

 

1. Residential Criteria 

a.  Single-Family Residential: 

1. Setbacks:  The minimum building setbacks are as follows: 

a. A minimum of 50 feet from the right-of-way of County Road 15A 

and 20 feet from the primary internal access road labeled Jersey 

Avenue on the Conceptual Development Plan. 

b. Lot setbacks are:  Front Yard:  20 feet from face of garage, 15 feet 

from front facade of house; 10 feet on Corners (with no vehicular 

access from Corner front yard) 

  Rear Yard:  10 feet 

Side Yard:  6.5 feet for 43-foot-wide lots; 5 feet for 

all other lots 

2. Building height:  Buildings shall not exceed 35 feet in height. 

3. Minimum lot size:  4,300 square feet. 

4. Minimum lot width:  43 feet.  No more than 50 percent of lots within the 

Project will be 43 feet wide.  All other lots will be a minimum of 50 feet 

wide. 

5. Maximum impervious surface ratio:  40 percent for the Property (the entire 

PUD). 

6. Maximum lot coverage by buildings:  60 percent per Lot. 

7. Density:  There are approximately 561 acres designated for residential use 

within the Property.  The Residential Low Density Future Land Use 

designation of the Property allows a maximum density of four (4) units per 

acre. The proposed density of 3.75 units per acre is consistent with the 

requirements for the Residential Low Density Future Land Use category set 

forth in the Green Cove Springs Comprehensive Plan. 

8. Parking:  Each residence will have two (2) parking spaces.  Single-family 

homes will have enclosed garages that are a minimum of 200 square feet 

(10 feet by 20 feet).  Recreational vehicles, boats and trailers shall not be 

parked in front yards, or in the minimum required side yards and shall be 

screened from view.  The Applicant shall record a homeowners’ association 

Page 26

Item #1.



Ordinance O-06-2021 

Page 12 of 21 

 

(“HOA”) declaration of restrictive covenants against title to the Property 

that limits parking to one side of the street. 

2. Townhome Criteria 

a. Setbacks:  The minimum building setbacks are as follows: 

1. A minimum of 50 feet from the right-of-way of County Road 15A 

and 20 feet from the primary internal access road labeled Jersey 

Avenue on the Conceptual Development Plan. 

 2. Lot setbacks are:  Front Yard:  15 feet 

       Rear Yard:  10 feet 

Side Yard:  10 feet from property lines, 0 feet for 

interior lots with common wall lines, minimum 20 

feet of separation between buildings 

b. Building height:  Townhome buildings shall not exceed 45 feet in height.   

             c. Minimum lot size: 1,200 square feet 

             d. Minimum lot width: 15 feet. 

             e. Maximum impervious surface ratio:  40 percent for the Property (the entire PUD). 

                f. Maximum lot coverage by buildings:  75 percent per townhome parcel. 

             g. Density.  See Section E.1.a.7 for residential density calculation. 

             h. Parking: Townhome units will have two (2) parking spaces per unit.  The townhome 

area shall also include one (1) guest parking space for each four (4) dwelling units. 

3.  Signage.  On-site signs shall be permitted within the Property. Project signage shall meet 

the applicable requirements of Code Sections 125-13 and 125-14 except as follows: 

a. At each project entrance along County Road 15A, the Applicant shall be permitted one (1) 

ground sign, with a maximum of 32 square feet of advertising display area. These signs 

will not exceed 12 feet in height.  The generation locations of these signs will be depicted 

on applicable construction plans.  Project signs may be lighted or illuminated.  The 

Applicant may construct a fence, masonry wall or berm or install landscaping and/or 

vegetation (or provide a combination thereof) to compliment the entrance feature.  

b. Construction and/or advertising signs shall be allowed as on-site temporary signs. Such 

signs must be removed within 30 days after the last unit is sold. The signs may be two (2) 

sided with each face limited to 16 square feet.   

c. Various locational, directional, model home and traffic control signs shall be allowed on 

site to direct traffic and for identification of sales offices, recreation areas, etc.  Such signs 

will be a maximum of six (6) square feet in size. 

 

Page 27

Item #1.



Ordinance O-06-2021 

Page 13 of 21 

 

G. Infrastructure 

 

1. Drainage:  A master stormwater management system shall be owned, constructed 

and maintained by a homeowners’ association (“HOA”) or a community 

development district (“CDD”).  The stormwater management system will be 

constructed in accordance with the requirements of the City of Green Cove Springs 

and the St. Johns River Water Management District, including the construction of 

pond sides that slope gently into the ponds for safety purposes.  The City shall have 

no responsibility for the ownership, operation or maintenance of stormwater ponds 

located within the Property, and the HOA or CDD will assume responsibility for 

all issues related to maintenance and operation of such ponds.  The HOA or CDD 

shall have the right, but not the obligation, to install fences around some or all 

stormwater ponds within the Property; provided, however, that if pond slopes 

exceed 4:1, the HOA or CDD will be required to install fencing around applicable 

ponds.  Final HOA or CDD documents will be submitted with the final plat 

application.  The conceptual master stormwater plan for the entire PUD shall be 

approved prior to the City’s approval of the first final plat. 

2. Site Access:  Vehicular access within the Property connects off-site to County Road 

15A and U.S. Highway 17 in the locations depicted on the Conceptual 

Development Plan.  The primary site access collector road will be constructed in 

accordance with the typical section attached as Exhibit “C”.  In the event the 

primary site access collector road is not connected to U.S. Highway 17, the 

Applicant will provide an updated traffic study that removes the U.S. Highway 17 

connection prior to the City’s approval of a plat containing the 231st lot within the 

Property.  Following completion of such traffic study, the City and the Applicant 

will negotiate in good faith a transportation proportionate share agreement, 

pursuant to Section 163.3180(5)(h), Florida Statutes, to address roadway 

improvements needed to mitigate for project traffic impacts.  Streets interior to the 

project shall be publicly dedicated.  Traffic calming techniques, including but not 

limited to raised intersections, traffic circles and shared multi-modal spaces, will 

be encouraged. 

3. Pedestrian Circulation:  An eight (8)-foot multi-use path shall be provided along 

one side of the primary access collector road from U.S. 17 (if the PUD is connected 

to U.S. 17) to County Road 15A (including east of the railroad track).  No sidewalk 

shall be provided on the other side of such collector road.  Internal project 

pedestrian circulation will be provided via sidewalks on one side of internal streets.  

No sidewalks will be provided on the other side of internal streets.  Sidewalks shall 

be five (5) feet in width and shall be provided on one side of residential streets. 

Sidewalks will connect to all project park sites.  Any sidewalks constructed along 

County Road 15A shall be six (6) feet in width, to the extent there is right-of-way 

adequate for six (6)-foot sidewalks.   

4. Parks, Open Space and Recreational Facilities:  The project will provide a 

minimum of five (5) acres of parks for every 1,000 residents, per Comprehensive 

Page 28

Item #1.



Ordinance O-06-2021 

Page 14 of 21 

 

Plan Policy 6.3.4. The project will be presumed to have 2.65 residents per unit for 

the purposes of calculating park requirements under this PUD.  Based on this 

calculation, the project will provide a minimum of 27.825 acres of parks.  The 

Applicant, its successors and assigns, will provide recreational facilities which may 

include an amenity center, swimming pool, playgrounds, tot lots, pickleball courts, 

dog parks, walking trials, multi-purpose trials and others to serve the community.  

The project will include an approximately ten (10)-acre passive park located 

adjacent to the large pond in the central portion of the Property that contains bird 

rookeries (the “Passive Park”).  The Passive Park will be owned by a community 

development district and will be available for use by Ayrshire residents and 

members of the public.  The Passive Park will contain walking trails and an 

observation tower overlooking the rookeries. 

5. Solid Waste Collection:  Solid waste collection will be provided by the City. 

6. Utilities:  All utilities within the Project shall be underground, to the extent feasible.  

As part of the subdivision approval of this project, Ayrshire will extend Green Cove 

Springs water and wastewater facilities to the initial phase of the development.  

Subsequent phases will be served by CCUA once its new water and wastewater 

plants are completed.  The Applicant will submit an underground electric layout for 

the project to the City for approval prior to final Construction Improvement Plan 

approval. 

7. Transportation Systems:  All transportation systems will comply with applicable 

provisions of City Code Chapter 113, Article II, Division 2, except for (a) the 

primary access collector road, for which the typical section is attached as Exhibit 

“C”; (b) roadways will be designed with a minimum 45-foot paved radius for cul-

de-sacs, with a minimum 50 feet of right-of-way and with a ten (10)-foot utility 

easement; and (c) except as otherwise set forth in this PUD ordinance and its 

exhibits. 

H. Buffering and Landscaping 

 

1. Perimeter Buffer:  A natural or landscaped buffer a minimum of 30 feet wide shall 

be located along the perimeters of the Property, except that the buffer along County 

Road 15A shall be 95 feet wide (will include existing electric and other utility 

easements and a minimum 20 feet of natural or landscaped area) and the buffer 

along the railroad line and adjacent to the property owned by Martin Marietta shall 

be 100 feet wide. The Applicant will be permitted to construct sidewalks within the 

perimeter buffer, in the general locations depicted on the Conceptual Development 

Plan. Buffer areas will be owned and maintained by an HOA or CDD. 

2. Landscaping. A typical landscape plan for the Property is attached hereto as Exhibit 

“D”.  Tree mitigation and landscaping will comply with applicable provisions of 

Code Chapter 113, Article VI.  Street trees for all roadways, including the north 

Page 29

Item #1.



Ordinance O-06-2021 

Page 15 of 21 

 

side of Jersey Avenue, shall comply with applicable provisions of City Code 

Section 113-244.  Parking lots that contain more than 10 parking spaces shall meet 

applicable landscape requirements of City Code Section 113-246.  Parking areas 

with ten (10) or fewer spaces will be required to provide a minimum of one (1) 

canopy tree, as defined by City Code, a minimum of 2.5 inches diameter breast 

height (“dbh”) at the time of planting, which will be planted in an area a minimum 

size of 200 square feet.  Such tree shall be irrigated through the establishment 

period.  The Applicant will provide tree surveys for portions of the Property subject 

to development with the filing of construction plans for such areas.  Such tree 

surveys shall show all existing trees 12 inches dbh or larger and shall detail which 

of such trees are proposed to be saved and removed.  No tree surveys will be 

provided for areas of the Property that will remain undisturbed.  A canopy tree of a 

minimum 2.5 inches dbh at the time of planting shall be planted on each single-

family lot prior to the City’s issuance of a certificate of occupancy.  Such trees shall 

be irrigated through the establishment period. 

3.  Upland Buffers:  An averaged 25-foot natural vegetative upland buffer shall be 

required and maintained between developed area and contiguous wetlands.  The 25 

feet shall be measured from the State jurisdictional wetland line.  

I. Temporary Uses 

Ten (10) percent of the homes within the PUD may be constructed as model homes with 

approved construction plans.  The model homes may be built during construction of the 

infrastructure and may be used for sales, administration and construction offices. The City 

will not issue certificates of occupancy for model homes until related infrastructure 

construction has been completed; cleared for service and accepted by all permitting 

agencies, including the City.  Parking for the model homes and sales offices will be located 

within the driveway or adjacent lot.  Model homes will be required to meet applicable 

building code requirements for business occupancy. Development of the site and 

construction of the improvements will require temporary uses such as construction trailers, 

sales offices, temporary signage and temporary access.  Temporary construction and sales 

trailers will be removed no later than 30 days following the issuance of a certificate of 

occupancy for the last home constructed on the Property.  The Applicant shall be permitted 

to erect temporary on-site construction and real estate signage on the Property.  

J. Accessory Uses 

Standard residential accessory uses will be allowed within the residential building areas of the site, 

including but not limited to decks, swimming pools, patios, air conditioning units, walkways and 

sidewalks.   

Accessory uses such as private garages/mother-in-law suites and storage buildings; home 

occupations in compliance with applicable provisions of City Code Section 117-789; 

model homes; guardhouses; air conditioning units and related heating/cooling units; 

swimming pools and pool equipment; fences, walls or hedges; gazebos and other open-air 

structures; boardwalks, docks, and other similar uses shall be permitted within the 

Page 30

Item #1.



Ordinance O-06-2021 

Page 16 of 21 

 

Property. Accessory uses shall comply with the applicable development criteria set forth 

in Section E of this PUD text. 

The following criteria will apply to mother-in-law suites: 

1. The unit shall be accessory to and on the same property as a single-family dwelling 

unit. 

2. The unit shall be developed in conjunction with or after development of the principal 

dwelling unit and the owner of the property must reside within either the principal or 

the accessory dwelling unit. 

3. Not more than one (1) accessory dwelling unit per single-family residential lot is 

permitted. 

4. No accessory dwelling unit shall be sold separately from the principal dwelling unit. 

The accessory dwelling unit and the principal dwelling unit shall be located on a single 

lot or parcel, or on a combination of lots or parcels. 

5. The air-conditioned floor area of the accessory dwelling unit shall not exceed 50 

percent of the air-conditioned floor area of the principal structure, The accessory 

dwelling unit shall be no less than 200 square feet of air-conditioned floor area. 

6. The unit shall meet the site development criteria specified in Section E of this PUD 

text. 

7. The unit shall be designed so that the exterior façade material is similar in appearance 

(material and color) of the existing principal structure. 

8. A minimum of one (1), but not more than two (2) parking spaces shall be provided for 

the accessory dwelling unit, in addition to the spaces required for the principal dwelling 

unit. 

9. Construction of the accessory dwelling unit, in combination with all structures on the 

property, shall not cause the maximum lot coverage of this PUD to be exceeded. 

10. The accessory dwelling unit shall be serviced by centralized water and wastewater. 

11. An accessory dwelling unit shall be treated as a townhome unit for impact fees.  
 

K. Project Phasing 

The project will be constructed in one (1), 20-year phase.  Construction will be commenced 

by 2024 and shall be completed by December 31, 2044.  For purposes of this PUD, 

“commencement” shall mean securing approved construction drawings.  “Completion” 

shall be defined as the installation of horizontal infrastructure and City approval of as-

builts. 

 
L. Ownership Agreement 

The Applicant, on behalf of itself and its successors and assigns, hereby agrees and 

stipulates to proceed with the proposed development in accordance with the PUD 

ordinance for this application as adopted by the Green Cove Springs City Council.  The 

Applicant also agrees to comply with all conditions and safeguards established by the City 

of Green Cove Springs with respect to this Planned Unit Development application. 

Page 31

Item #1.



Ordinance O-06-2021 

Page 17 of 21 

 

Ayrshire PUD - Exhibit “A” 

 

Legal Description of the Property 

 
A portion of Section 38 of the George I.F. Clarke Grant, Township 6 South, Range 26 East, Clay County, 

Florida, being a portion of those lands described and recorded in Official Records Book 1545, page 513 of 

the Public Records of said county and being more particularly described as follows: 

 

For a Point of Reference, commence at the intersection of the Easterly right of way line of County Road 

15A, (South Oakridge Avenue), a 100 foot right of way as presently established with the Southerly right of 

way line of Green Cove Avenue, a variable width right of way as presently established; thence Southerly 

along said Easterly right of way line and along the arc of a curve concave Westerly having a radius of 

1959.86 feet, through a central angle of 14°47’09”, an arc length of 505.76 feet to the point of tangency of 

said curve, said arc being subtended by a chord bearing and distance of South 05°15’37” East, 504.36 feet; 

thence South 02°07’57” West, continuing along last said Easterly right of way line, 1331.79 feet to the 

Southwest corner of those lands described and recorded in Official Records Book 3863, page 203 of said 

Public Records and the Point of Beginning. 

 

From said Point of Beginning, thence Easterly and Northeasterly along the Southerly and Southeasterly 

boundary of last said lands, the following 12 courses: Course 1, thence South 88°31’42” East, departing 

last said Easterly right of way line, 282.59 feet; Course 2, thence North 21°17’17” East, 161.55 feet; Course 

3, thence South 68°42’43” East, 287.10 feet; Course 4, thence South 58°52’43” East, 32.90 feet; Course 5, 

thence South 37°48’54” East, 22.40 feet; Course 6, thence North 70°53’31” East, 15.20 feet; Course 7, 

thence North 34°14’49” East, 52.23 feet; Course 8, thence South 88°17’22” East, 94.17 feet; Course 9, 

thence North 31°43’31” East, 427.82 feet; Course 10, thence North 73°46’32” West, 158.11 feet; Course 

11, thence North 13°06’51” East, 477.10 feet; Course 12, thence North 10°55’57” East, 142.00 feet to a 

point lying on the Southwesterly line of those lands described and recorded as Parcel “A” in Official 

Records Book 3316, page 1098 of said Public Records; thence South 77°06’26” East, along last said line, 

2932.48 feet to the Northwest corner of those lands described and recorded in Official Records Book 3855, 

page 1391 of said Public Records; thence Southerly along the westerly line thereof, the following 3 courses: 

Course 1, thence South 21°54’49” East, 3242.16 feet; Course 2, thence South 68°05’09” West, 1307.43 

feet; Course 3, thence South 21°54’51” East, 1003.87 feet to a point lying on the Northerly line of an Access 

and Maintenance Easement as described an recorded in Official Records Book 3855, page 1394 of said 

Public Records; thence Westerly along said Northerly line, the following 26 courses: Course 1, thence 

South 37°01’31” West, 149.07 feet to the point of curvature of a curve concave Northwesterly having a 

radius of 955.00 feet; Course 2, thence Southwesterly along the arc of said curve, through a central angle 

of 16°37’06”, an arc length of 276.99 feet to a point on said curve, said arc being subtended by a chord 

bearing and distance of South 45°20’05” West, 276.02 feet; Course 3,  thence South 67°24’13” West, along 

a non-tangent line, 105.10 feet; Course 4, thence South 53°45’05” West, 12.16 feet; Course 5, thence South 

13°14’26” West, 24.72 feet; Course 6, thence South 63°07’28” West, 859.11 feet; Course 7, thence North 

26°52’32” West, 5.00 feet; Course 8, thence South 63°07’28” West, 382.73 feet; Course 9, thence North 

26°52’32” West, 31.65 feet; Course 10, thence South 63°07’28” West, 74.60 feet; Course 11, thence South 

26°52’32” East, 36.65 feet; Course 12, thence South 63°07’28” West, 102.14 feet to the point of curvature 

Page 32

Item #1.



Ordinance O-06-2021 

Page 18 of 21 

 

of a curve concave Northerly having a radius of 955.00 feet; Course 13, thence Westerly along the arc of 

said curve, through a central angle of 22°47’15”, an arc length of 379.82 feet to the point of tangency of 

said curve, said arc being subtended by a chord bearing and distance of South 74°31’05” West, 377.32 feet; 

Course 14, thence South 85°54’43” West, 731.91 feet; Course 15, thence North 04°05’17” West, 5.00 feet 

to a point on a non-tangent curve concave Northerly having a radius of 250.00 feet; Course 16, thence 

Westerly along the arc of said curve, through a central angle of 05°44’03”, an arc length of 25.02 feet to 

the point of tangency of said curve, said arc being subtended by a chord bearing and distance of South 

88°46’45” West, 25.01 feet; Course 17, thence North 88°21’14” West, 61.78 feet; Course 18, thence North 

19°49’14” West, 8.30 feet; Course 19, thence North 55°44’57” West, 30.16 feet; Course 20, thence South 

67°18’10” West, 29.23 feet; Course 21, thence South 07°09’24” West, 17.00 feet; Course 22, thence North 

88°21’14” West, 362.37 feet; Course 23, thence South 01°38’46” West, 5.00 feet; Course 24 thence North 

88°21’14” West, 800.00 feet; Course 25, thence North 01°38’46” East, 10.00 feet; Course 26, thence North 

88°21’14” West, 355.52 feet to a point lying on the aforementioned Easterly right of way line of County 

Road 15A; thence North 02°07’57” East, along last said Easterly right of way line, 5150.65 feet to the Point 

of Beginning. 

 

Containing 560.52 acres, more or less. 

 

 

 
  

Page 33

Item #1.



Ordinance O-06-2021 

Page 19 of 21 

 

Ayrshire PUD - Exhibit “B” 

 

Conceptual Development Plan 

 

 

Page 34

Item #1.



Ordinance O-06-2021 

Page 20 of 21 

 

 

 

Ayrshire PUD - EXHIBIT “C” 

 

Collector Road Typical Section 

 

 
 

Page 35

Item #1.



Ordinance O-06-2021 

Page 21 of 21 

 

Ayrshire PUD - EXHIBIT “D” 

Typical Landscape Plan 

 

Page 36

Item #1.



SD

SD

SD

SD

SD

SD

SD

SD

SD

SD

SD

SD

SITE SUMMARY

LEGEND

=

=

=

WETLANDS

UPLAND
BUFFER

WETLAND
IMPACT

= RECREATION

=
GENERAL ENTRY
SIGNAGE LOCATION*

= OPEN SPACEO.S.

Dunn & Associates, Inc.
CIVIL ENGINEERS / LAND PLANNERS

* *

*
*
*

*
*

*

*
*

Ordinance O-06-2021 - Exhibit D

Page 37

Item #1.



 

 

AYRSHIRE DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 

THIS AYRSHIRE DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”) is made and 

entered into on this _____ day of __________, 2021, by and between D.R. HORTON, INC. – 

JACKSONVILLE, a Delaware corporation (the “Applicant”), and the CITY OF GREEN 

COVE SPRINGS, a municipal corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of 

Florida (the “City”). City, and Applicant may sometimes be referred to herein, collectively, as 

the “Parties.” 

A. The Applicant attests and warrants that it is the contract purchaser of  the property 

described in Exhibit “A” attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference, which is 

located within unincorporated Clay County, Florida (the “Property”), and that Philip A. 

Fremento, as the Division President of Applicant, is authorized to execute all binding documents 

on behalf of Applicant. 

 

B. The Applicant has applied to voluntarily annex the Property into the City pursuant 

to Section 171.044, Florida Statutes, and Ordinance No. 0-02-2021. 

 

C. The Property is proposed to be given a Future Land Use Map (“FLUM”) 

designation of Residential Low Density.  The Property is proposed to be zoned to Planned Unit 

Development (the “PUD”) and will be developed in accordance with these applicable future land 

use and zoning designations.  

 

D. The Applicant desires to develop a residential project to be called Ayrshire on the 

Property, with a maximum of 2,100 single-family and townhome residential units (the 

“Development”). 

 

E. The Applicant will construct certain public roadway, utility and other 

improvements, both on the Property and off-site, to mitigate for impacts of the Development, as 

set forth herein. 

 

F. The Applicant and the City desire to enter into this Agreement to provide for the 

provision of certain site improvements that will benefit the Development and the public. 

 

G. This Agreement is consistent with the City Charter, the City 2025 Comprehensive 

Plan and the City Land Development Code, as well as, with provisions of Chapter 163, Florida 

Statutes, Chapter 166, Florida Statutes, Chapter 187, Florida Statutes, Article VIII, Section 2(b), 

Constitution of the State of Florida and other applicable law and serves a public purpose. 

 

H. The City has determined that the requirements of Section 163.3231, Florida 

Statutes, have been met in that: 

 

Page 38

Item #1.



2 

JAX_3451018_5 

i. The City has adopted a local Comprehensive Plan that is in compliance. 

 

ii. The proposed development of the Property is consistent with the City of Green 

Cove Springs 2025 Comprehensive Plan, including the Future Land Use Map. 

 

iii. This Agreement constitutes a binding commitment on the part of the Applicant, 

its successors and assigns, to develop the Property consistent with the 

Comprehensive Plan and applicable provisions of the City of Green Cove Springs 

Land Development Code (the “City Code”). 

 

I. The following is the Public Facility Schedule applicable to the development of the 

Property through the thirty (30) years of this Development Agreement, to 2051: 

 

i. Transportation. Transportation capacities will be provided by the City or other 

agency as set forth in its regulations and Capital Improvement Program, as 

amended from time to time, and in compliance with the provisions of this 

Agreement and the respective responsibilities of the parties. 

 

ii. Potable Water and Sanitary Sewer. The Clay County Utility Authority (the 

“CCUA”) will provide adequate water and wastewater service to the Property in 

accordance with local government development orders and interlocal agreements 

that have been and will be issued for development of the Property from time to 

time. The Applicant will construct water and sewer line extensions necessary to 

serve the Property, as well as other improvements in compliance with the 

provisions of this Agreement and the respective responsibilities of the parties. 

 

iii. Solid Waste. The City will provide solid waste disposal to the Property through its 

solid waste collection franchisee. 

 

iv. Drainage. Concurrently with development of the Property or portions thereof, the 

Applicant will provide drainage in accordance with St. Johns River Water 

Management District rules and in accordance with local government development 

orders that have been and will be issued for development of the Property from 

time to time, as well as other improvements in compliance with the provisions of 

this Agreement and the respective responsibilities of the parties. 

 

v. Parks/Open Space. Concurrently with development of the Property or portions 

thereof, the Applicant will provide parks and open space as required in applicable 

provisions of the City Comprehensive Plan and PUD ordinance for the Property.  

 

J. The population density and maximum height possible for the Development under 

its FLUM, the PUD and current City Code include all uses in the Residential Low Density 

zoning district, up to a maximum of four (4) units per developable acre. 

 

K. This Agreement strengthens the public planning process, encourages sound 

capital improvement planning and financing, assists in assuring there are adequate capital 

Page 39

Item #1.



3 

JAX_3451018_5 

facilities for the development, encourages private participation and comprehensive planning and 

reduces the costs of development. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual terms, covenants, and conditions 

in this Agreement, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of 

which are acknowledged, the Parties agree as follows:  

1. Findings of Fact. The Recitals set forth above are true and correct and are 

incorporated herein by reference as Findings of Fact. 

 

2. Purpose and Intent. The Applicant and the City desire to enter into this 

Agreement to address their respective responsibilities for both on-site and off-site improvements 

related to the Development. The Parties intend to utilize this Agreement to identify the 

methodology to be used for allocating costs for the potable water system, the sanitary sewer 

system, the stormwater system and the transportation system. In addition, the Agreement 

identifies the available credits to the Applicant, the potential for future credits, and the City’s 

share of financial responsibility for improvements that may benefit the City’s overall utility, 

stormwater and transportation systems beyond that needed for this Development. The Parties do 

not intend to vest the Development to current land development regulations, and Applicant or its 

successors and assigns will be required to meet all applicable codes at the time individual 

development orders or permits are sought. 

 

3. Public Facility Improvements. CCUA will provide water and sanitary sewer 

services to the Property pursuant to separate utility agreements between CCUA and the 

Applicant.  CCUA is the applicant for temporary City water and sewer service for the site.  The 

Applicant agrees that Applicant or the developer of each parcel, as it is developed, within the 

Property, shall pay the water/sewer connection/tap costs/fees for lots, units or structures within 

the project at the time of issuance of a building permit for the particular improvement. The 

Applicant agrees that Applicant or the developer of each property, as they are developed, within 

the Property, shall abide by all applicable federal, state and local codes, design, permitting and 

construction standards, requirements, policies, rules and regulations for civil site plan, utilities, 

stormwater and buildings. In addition, the Parties agree to the following utility and infrastructure 

improvements: 

 

A. Potable Water System. 

i. Applicant shall comply with all codes, laws and regulations necessary for 

the development of the Property applicable at the time each development 

permit is issued and will pay all usual and customary costs associated with 

providing potable water on-site to the Property for its intended uses. 

ii. Applicant agrees to provide to CCUA any necessary easements on, under 

and across the Property for the construction, operation and maintenance of 

the potable water system. 

iii. Applicant shall be permitted to temporarily connect to the City water 

system for the first phase of the Development.  If temporary capacity is 

Page 40

Item #1.



4 

JAX_3451018_5 

needed, the Applicant will provide such capacity in coordination with the 

City’s Public Works Department. 

B. Sanitary Sewer System. 

i. Applicant shall comply with all codes, laws and regulations necessary for 

the development of the Property applicable at the time each development 

permit is issued and will pay all usual and customary costs associated with 

providing sanitary sewer onsite to the Property for its intended uses. 

ii. Applicant agrees to provide to CCUA any necessary easements on, under 

and across the Property for the construction, operation and maintenance of 

the sanitary sewer system. 

iii. Applicant shall be permitted to temporarily connect to the City sewer 

system for the first phase of the Development.  If temporary capacity is 

needed, the Applicant will provide such capacity in coordination with the 

City’s Public Works Department. 

C. Stormwater System. 

i. Applicant shall comply with all codes, laws and regulations necessary for 

the development of the Property applicable at the time each development 

permit is issued and will pay all usual and customary costs associated with 

providing stormwater capture, retention and treatment on-site to the 

Property for its intended uses. 

ii. Applicant agrees to provide to the City any necessary easements on, under 

and across the Property for the construction, operation and maintenance of 

the stormwater system.  

D. Police Substation. 

i. The Applicant will provide a police substation office in the amenity center 

for the Development; which substation will be a minimum of 150 square feet.  

Parking for the substation will be provided in the amenity center parking lot. 

The Applicant will also work with the City on a police substation, as detailed 

in Section 5.A hereof. 

4. Transportation/Mobility Improvements.  In addition to the public facility 

improvements provided for in Section 3 hereof, the Applicant and the City will cooperate in 

providing the following transportation and mobility improvements related to the Development: 

A. The Applicant shall construct, at the Applicant’s expense, a collector road 

(the “Connector Road”) that will run west from U.S. Highway 17, through the City’s regional 

park site, into the Property and connect to County Road 15A.  The four (4)-lane Connector Road 

section shall begin at U.S. Highway 17 and end at the roundabout, and a three (3)-lane Connector 

Road section, with center turn lane(s), shall be constructed from the roundabout to County Road 

Page 41

Item #1.



5 

JAX_3451018_5 

15A, as depicted on the conceptual plan attached hereto as Exhibit “B” and incorporated herein 

by this reference (the “Conceptual Plan”).  A typical section for the Connector Road is attached 

hereto as Exhibit “C” and incorporated herein by this reference (the “Connector Road Typical 

Section”).  The Applicant, its successors and assigns, shall pay for the cost of designing, 

permitting and constructing the Connector Road and shall receive road impact fee credits (or 

proportionate share or mobility fee credits, if applicable) equal to the actual cost of designing, 

permitting and constructing the Connector Road.  Design of the Connector Road will conform to 

applicable requirements of the Florida Department of Transportation and the City.  Once 

constructed, the Connector Road will be maintained by the City.  The City will not issue 

certificates of occupancy for more than 231 residential units within the Development until either 

the Applicant completes construction of the Connector Road to U.S. 17 or provides a new traffic 

study if such connection to U.S. 17 cannot be achieved due to the location of the railroad tracks 

west of U.S. 17.  In the event the Connector Road is not connected to U.S. Highway 17, the 

Applicant shall provide an updated traffic study that removes the U.S. Highway 17 connection 

prior to the City’s approval of a plat containing the 231st lot within the Property.  Following 

completion of such traffic study, the City and the Applicant will negotiate in good faith a 

transportation proportionate share agreement, pursuant to Section 163.3180(5)(h), Florida 

Statutes, to address roadway improvements needed to mitigate for project traffic impacts. 

B. The Applicant shall construct the Connector Road through the City 

regional park site, at the Applicant’s expense.  The Applicant will also stub out water and sewer 

lines it installs within the Property to the southern boundary of the City regional park site, if so 

requested by the City. 

C. The Applicant and the City agree that based on the Applicant’s traffic 

study submitted with the companion Comprehensive Plan Amendment application for the 

Property, no proportionate fair share, mobility or other similar mitigation payment shall be due 

related to the Development’s projected impacts to the regional roadway network.  An interim 

traffic study addressing traffic distribution shall be required by the Applicant every five (5) 

years.  The interim traffic study shall examine the Development’s traffic distribution and its 

impact on segment and intersection analysis to determine if additional traffic mitigation 

requirements are required. 

5. Land Contributions.   

A. Police Substation. The Applicant shall dedicate to the City a parcel of 

approximately one-half (1/2) acre (the “Substation Site”) and provide funding to the City for the 

construction of a 2,000-square-foot police substation (the “Substation”).  The Applicant will 

work with the City on the location of the Substation Site. 

B. Schools.  The Applicant, its successors and assigns, will comply with 

applicable provisions of Section 163.3180(6), Florida Statutes, in providing any required school 

proportionate share mitigation and will pay any applicable school impact fees for the 

Development in the timing and manner required by law. 

C. Land Swap.  In order for the Applicant to construct the Connector Road, it 

will be necessary for the Applicant and the City to exchange certain real property.  The 

Page 42

Item #1.



6 

JAX_3451018_5 

Applicant will exchange an approximately eight (8)-acre parcel within the Property, in the 

location labeled “Land Swap” on the Conceptual Plan, with the City for the 100-foot-wide 

(minimum) right-of-way for the Connector Road within the City’s regional park site, which is 

approximately 5.18 acres and is depicted on the Conceptual Plan.  The Applicant’s parcel has a 

value greater than the City parcel, as required in Rule 62-818.016, Florida Administrative Code, 

which regulates such land exchanges.  The Applicant will prepare all deeds, legal descriptions 

and sketches of description for the parcel exchange, at its expense. 

6. Parks.  The Applicant shall pay a per-unit park fee to the City for construction of 

improvements to Public Parks within the City of Green Cove Springs.  The per-unit fee shall be 

$400, which shall be paid by the Applicant to the City upon the filing of a building permit 

application for each home.  The Applicant will also provide an approximately ten (10)-acre 

passive park adjacent to the large pond located in the central portion of the Property that contains 

bird rookeries (the “Passive Park”).  The Passive Park will be owned by a community 

development district and will be available for use by Ayrshire residents and other residents of 

Green Cove Springs.  The Passive Park will contain walking trails and an observation tower 

overlooking the rookeries. 

7. Development Timing.  The Property is intended to be developed with the 

phasing set forth in the PUD, which provides the Development will be constructed in one (1), 20-

year phase.  Construction will be commenced by December 31, 2024 and shall be completed by 

December 31, 2044.  For purposes of the PUD, “commencement” means securing approved 

construction drawings for the first portion of the Development and “completion” is defined as the 

installation of horizontal infrastructure and City approval of as-builts.  After Development 

commencement has occurred, there shall be development activity, which is defined as active 

building permits for residential development, for a five (5)-year period.  If the Applicant fails to 

obtain a building permit from the City for the first home within the Property within five (5) years 

from the Applicant commencing the Development, the Applicant will lose its transportation 

concurrency/reserved roadway capacity for the Property and shall have to reapply for said 

transportation concurrency/reserved roadway capacity before commencing development.  Once 

the Applicant obtains its first building permit for residential development within the Property, it 

shall be vested for transportation concurrency/reserved roadway capacity. The City shall review 

the Development at least once every twelve (12) months to determine if there has been 

demonstrated good faith compliance with this Agreement, pursuant to Section 163.3235, Florida 

Statutes. 

8. Authority and Duration. This Agreement is made and granted pursuant to 

Sections 163.3220-163.3243, Florida Statutes, and is effective through the thirtieth (30th) 

anniversary of the Effective Date of this Agreement, and any extension of this Agreement. 

9. Amendment, Extension of Agreement.  If state or federal laws are enacted after 

the execution of this Agreement that are applicable to and preclude the Parties’ compliance with 

the terms of this Agreement, this Agreement shall be modified or revoked as necessary to 

comply with the relevant State or federal laws, pursuant to Section 163.3241, Florida Statutes, as 

may be amended from time to time.  The duration of this Agreement may be extended by the 

City pursuant to law and after conducting a public hearing in the manner specified in Section 

163.3225, Florida Statutes, as may be amended from time to time. 

Page 43

Item #1.



7 

JAX_3451018_5 

10. Necessity to Obtain Permits. The Applicant acknowledges its obligation to 

obtain all necessary federal, state and other local development permits (not mentioned herein) for 

development of the Property. The failure of this Agreement to address any particular permit, 

condition, term or restriction applicable to development of the Property shall not relieve the 

Applicant or any successors or assigns of the necessity of complying with federal, state, and 

other local permitting requirements, conditions, terms or restrictions as may be applicable. 

11. Agreement Consistent with Comprehensive Plan and Section 163.3180, 

Florida Statutes (2020). The City hereby acknowledges and agrees that (i) the Development is 

consistent with Florida Statutes and with the City’s Comprehensive Plan and Land Development 

Regulations, and (ii) that the City’s Comprehensive Plan is in compliance with the State of 

Florida Comprehensive Plan. 

12. Remedies. Each party to this Agreement shall be entitled to seek enforcement of 

this Agreement against the other party consistent with Section 163.3243, Florida Statutes, as may 

be amended from time to time. 

13. Binding Effect. The burdens of this Agreement shall be binding upon, and the 

benefits of this Agreement shall inure to, all successors in interest to the Parties to this 

Agreement. When Applicant is used in this Agreement, it includes Applicant and any successors 

and assigns owning any rights to the Property, jointly and severally, assuming all their 

obligations set out in the Agreement, unless the obligations have been fully discharged. 

14. Applicable Law: Jurisdiction and Venue. This Agreement and the rights and 

obligations of the City and Applicant under this Agreement shall be governed by, construed 

under, and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of Florida (2020). This Agreement 

may be enforced as provided in Section 163.3243, Florida Statutes, as may be amended from 

time to time. Venue for any litigation pertaining to the subject matter of this Agreement shall be 

exclusively in Clay County, Florida. If any provision of this Agreement, or the application of this 

Agreement to any person or circumstances, shall to any extent be held invalid or unenforceable 

by a court of competent jurisdiction, then the remainder of this Agreement shall be valid and 

enforceable to the fullest extent permitted by law. 

The fact that this Agreement does not detail all laws, rules, regulations, permits, 

conditions, terms and restrictions that must be satisfied to complete the Development 

contemplated by this Agreement shall not relieve Applicant or its successors in interest of the 

obligation to comply with the law governing such permit requirements, conditions, terms and 

restrictions. 

15. Joint Preparation. Preparation of this Agreement has been a joint effort of the 

parties and the resulting document shall not, solely as a matter of judicial construction, be 

construed more severely against one of the parties than the other. 

16. Exhibits. All exhibits attached to this Agreement contain additional terms of this 

Agreement and are incorporated into this Agreement by reference. 

17. Captions or Paragraph Headings. Captions and paragraph headings contained 

in this Development Agreement are for convenience and reference only, and in no way define, 

Page 44

Item #1.



8 

JAX_3451018_5 

describe, extend or limit the scope of intent of this Agreement, nor the intent of any provision of 

this Agreement. 

18. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each 

constituting a duplicate original; such counterparts shall constitute one and the same Agreement. 

19. Effective Date and Recordation. This Agreement shall become effective fifteen 

(15) days after it has been recorded in the Public Records of Clay County (the “Effective Date”). 

20. Amendment. This Agreement may be amended, cancelled or revoked consistent 

with the notice and hearing procedures of Section 163.3225, Florida Statutes, and the terms of 

Section 163.3237, Florida Statutes, as may be amended from time to time. 

21. Further Assurances. Each party to this Agreement agrees to do, execute, 

acknowledges and deliver, or cause to be done, executed, acknowledged and delivered, all such 

further acts, and assurances in a manner and to the degree allowed by law, as shall be reasonably 

requested by the other party in order to carry out the intent of and give effect to this Agreement. 

Without in any manner limiting the specific rights and obligations set forth in this Agreement or 

illegally limiting or infringing upon the governmental authority of the City, the Parties declare 

their intention to cooperate with each other in effecting the purposes of this Agreement, and to 

coordinate the performance of their respective obligations under the terms of this Agreement. 

22. Notices. Any notices or reports required by this Development Agreement shall be 

sent to the following: 

To the City: 

 

 

 

 

With copies to: 

City Manager 

City of Green Cove Springs 

321 Walnut Street 

Green Cove Springs, Florida 32043 

 

Jim Arnold, Attorney 

City of Green Cove Springs 

321 Walnut Street 

Green Cove Springs, Florida 32043 

cityattorney@greencovesprings.com 

 

To the Applicant: 

 

 

 

 

With copies to: 

 

D.R. Horton, Inc. – Jacksonville 

Attn: John R. Gislason 

4220 Race Track Road 

St. Johns, Florida 32259 

 

Ellen Avery-Smith, Esq. 

Rogers Towers, P.A. 

100 Whetstone Place, Suite 200 

St. Augustine, Florida 32086 

 

 

Page 45

Item #1.



9 

JAX_3451018_5 

  

Page 46

Item #1.



10 

JAX_3451018_5 

Passed and Duly Adopted by the City Commission of the City of St. Augustine, Florida 

this ____ day of ___________, 2021. 

Attest:   

  

CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, 

FLORIDA, a municipal corporation 

By: ________________________________ 

 Steve Kennedy, City Manager 

Approved as to form, legal sufficiency and 

execution: 

By: ________________________________ 

 L.J. Arnold, III, City Attorney 

 

 

  

Page 47

Item #1.



11 

JAX_3451018_5 

 

Signed, sealed and delivered in the presence of: 

   

 

____________________________            

Witness                                   

Print Name:__________________ 

       

____________________________             

Witness 

Print Name:__________________      

       

 

D.R. HORTON INC. -JACKSONVILLE, 

a Delaware corporation 

 

 

By: ___________________________ 

Its: ___________________________ 

Date: _________________________ 

STATE OF FLORIDA 

 

COUNTY OF ____________ 

 

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me by means of ___ physical presence or 

___ online notarization on this day ___ of ________________, 2021, by 

_____________________________, as __________________ of D.R. Horton, Inc. - 

Jacksonville., a Delaware corporation, on behalf of the corporation, who is (check one)  

personally known to me or  has produced a valid driver’s license as identification. 

   
            

           Notary Public 

    Name:      

      Commission Expires: _____________ 

 

  

Page 48

Item #1.



12 

JAX_3451018_5 

EXHIBIT “A” 

 

The Property 

 

A portion of Section 38 of the George I.F. Clarke Grant, Township 6 South, Range 26 East, Clay 

County, Florida, being a portion of those lands described and recorded in Official Records Book 

1545, page 513 of the Public Records of said county and being more particularly described as 

follows: 

 

For a Point of Reference, commence at the intersection of the Easterly right of way line of 

County Road 15A, (South Oakridge Avenue), a 100 foot right of way as presently established 

with the Southerly right of way line of Green Cove Avenue, a variable width right of way as 

presently established; thence Southerly along said Easterly right of way line and along the arc of 

a curve concave Westerly having a radius of 1959.86 feet, through a central angle of 14°47’09”, 

an arc length of 505.76 feet to the point of tangency of said curve, said arc being subtended by a 

chord bearing and distance of South 05°15’37” East, 504.36 feet; thence South 02°07’57” West, 

continuing along last said Easterly right of way line, 1331.79 feet to the Southwest corner of 

those lands described and recorded in Official Records Book 3863, page 203 of said Public 

Records and the Point of Beginning. 

 

From said Point of Beginning, thence Easterly and Northeasterly along the Southerly and 

Southeasterly boundary of last said lands, the following 12 courses: Course 1, thence South 

88°31’42” East, departing last said Easterly right of way line, 282.59 feet; Course 2, thence 

North 21°17’17” East, 161.55 feet; Course 3, thence South 68°42’43” East, 287.10 feet; Course 

4, thence South 58°52’43” East, 32.90 feet; Course 5, thence South 37°48’54” East, 22.40 feet; 

Course 6, thence North 70°53’31” East, 15.20 feet; Course 7, thence North 34°14’49” East, 

52.23 feet; Course 8, thence South 88°17’22” East, 94.17 feet; Course 9, thence North 31°43’31” 

East, 427.82 feet; Course 10, thence North 73°46’32” West, 158.11 feet; Course 11, thence 

North 13°06’51” East, 477.10 feet; Course 12, thence North 10°55’57” East, 142.00 feet to a 

point lying on the Southwesterly line of those lands described and recorded as Parcel “A” in 

Official Records Book 3316, page 1098 of said Public Records; thence South 77°06’26” East, 

along last said line, 2932.48 feet to the Northwest corner of those lands described and recorded 

in Official Records Book 3855, page 1391 of said Public Records; thence Southerly along the 

westerly line thereof, the following 3 courses: Course 1, thence South 21°54’49” East, 3242.16 

feet; Course 2, thence South 68°05’09” West, 1307.43 feet; Course 3, thence South 21°54’51” 

East, 1003.87 feet to a point lying on the Northerly line of an Access and Maintenance Easement 

as described an recorded in Official Records Book 3855, page 1394 of said Public Records; 

thence Westerly along said Northerly line, the following 26 courses: Course 1, thence South 

37°01’31” West, 149.07 feet to the point of curvature of a curve concave Northwesterly having a 

radius of 955.00 feet; Course 2, thence Southwesterly along the arc of said curve, through a 

central angle of 16°37’06”, an arc length of 276.99 feet to a point on said curve, said arc being 

subtended by a chord bearing and distance of South 45°20’05” West, 276.02 feet; Course 3,  

thence South 67°24’13” West, along a non-tangent line, 105.10 feet; Course 4, thence South 

53°45’05” West, 12.16 feet; Course 5, thence South 13°14’26” West, 24.72 feet; Course 6, 

thence South 63°07’28” West, 859.11 feet; Course 7, thence North 26°52’32” West, 5.00 feet; 

Course 8, thence South 63°07’28” West, 382.73 feet; Course 9, thence North 26°52’32” West, 

Page 49

Item #1.



13 

JAX_3451018_5 

31.65 feet; Course 10, thence South 63°07’28” West, 74.60 feet; Course 11, thence South 

26°52’32” East, 36.65 feet; Course 12, thence South 63°07’28” West, 102.14 feet to the point of 

curvature of a curve concave Northerly having a radius of 955.00 feet; Course 13, thence 

Westerly along the arc of said curve, through a central angle of 22°47’15”, an arc length of 

379.82 feet to the point of tangency of said curve, said arc being subtended by a chord bearing 

and distance of South 74°31’05” West, 377.32 feet; Course 14, thence South 85°54’43” West, 

731.91 feet; Course 15, thence North 04°05’17” West, 5.00 feet to a point on a non-tangent curve 

concave Northerly having a radius of 250.00 feet; Course 16, thence Westerly along the arc of 

said curve, through a central angle of 05°44’03”, an arc length of 25.02 feet to the point of 

tangency of said curve, said arc being subtended by a chord bearing and distance of South 

88°46’45” West, 25.01 feet; Course 17, thence North 88°21’14” West, 61.78 feet; Course 18, 

thence North 19°49’14” West, 8.30 feet; Course 19, thence North 55°44’57” West, 30.16 feet; 

Course 20, thence South 67°18’10” West, 29.23 feet; Course 21, thence South 07°09’24” West, 

17.00 feet; Course 22, thence North 88°21’14” West, 362.37 feet; Course 23, thence South 

01°38’46” West, 5.00 feet; Course 24 thence North 88°21’14” West, 800.00 feet; Course 25, 

thence North 01°38’46” East, 10.00 feet; Course 26, thence North 88°21’14” West, 355.52 feet 

to a point lying on the aforementioned Easterly right of way line of County Road 15A; thence 

North 02°07’57” East, along last said Easterly right of way line, 5150.65 feet to the Point of 

Beginning. 

 

Containing 560.52 acres, more or less. 

 

 

  

Page 50

Item #1.



14 

JAX_3451018_5 

EXHIBIT “B” 

 

Conceptual Plan 

  

Page 51

Item #1.



15 

JAX_3451018_5 

EXHIBIT “C” 

 

Connector Road Typical Section 

 

 

 

 

Page 52

Item #1.



 Ayrshire – PUD Traffic Study 
City of Green Cove Springs, Clay County, Florida 

                          

Chindalur Traffic Solutions, Inc.                                    Page 1 of 8                                      06/29/2021 
 

Introduction  
This traffic  impact study (TIS) was performed  in support of  the proposed Ayrshire PUD rezoning 
application.  The proposed development is anticipated to include a maximum of 2,100 residential 
dwelling  units  (1,470  single‐family  and  630 Multi‐family  Townhomes).    Access  to  the  proposed 
development is anticipated to be provided via a roadway (bridge over the CSX railroad) connecting 
to US 17, via existing Jersey Avenue and an additional driveway on CR 15A (Oak Ridge Avenue). 
 
For the purpose of this traffic study, the analysis was performed under four (4) analysis phases: 

 Year  2025  (Analysis  Phase  01)  assumed  231  single‐family  dwelling  units  with  access  via  a 
roadway on Oak Ridge Avenue.  

 Year 2027 (Analysis Phase 02) assumed 500 single‐family dwelling units (cumulative) with access 
via a roadway on Oak Ridge Avenue and a four‐lane bridge from the project northern entrance 
to US 17 across from Hall Park Road.  

 Year 2030 (Analysis Phase 03) assumed 1,000 single‐family dwelling units. 

 Year 2035 (Analysis Phase 04) assumed 2,100 residential dwelling units (1,470 single‐family and 
630 Multi‐family  Townhomes).    A  third  project  access  via  existing  Jersey  Avenue  was  also 
assumed for this analysis phase.    

 
Figure 01 shows the project location.  A copy of the Generalized Site Plan (GSP) provided by Dunn 
and Associates, Inc. is included as Attachment A.  The methodology used in this study is consistent 
with the methodology discussed with the City’s Planning and Zoning Director on October 29th, 2020.   
 
Trip Generation 
Trip generation for the proposed project was estimated using the equation provided in the Trip 
Generation Manual, 10th Edition published by Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE).  Table 
01 summarizes the Daily, AM peak and PM peak hour trip generation for the proposed residential 
development under each of the development phases.   

 Year 2025 (Analysis Phase 01) development is anticipated to generate 2,246 daily trips that 
include 169 AM peak and 227 PM peak trips.   

 Year  2027  (Analysis  Phase  02)  development  is  anticipated  to  generate  4,574  daily  trips 
(cumulative) that include 360 AM peak and 476 PM peak trips 

 Year  2030  (Analysis  Phase  03)  development  is  anticipated  to  generate  8,648  daily  trips 
(cumulative) that include 715 AM peak and 927 PM peak trips 

 Year  2035  (Analysis  Phase  04)  development  is  anticipated  to  generate  17,049  daily  trips 
(cumulative) that include 1,323 AM peak and 1,645 PM peak trips 

 
Study Area, Existing Conditions and Data Collection 
As discussed with the City’s Planning and Zoning Director and the City of Green Cove Springs traffic 
study guidelines, the study area includes the following intersections: 

 SR 16 W at Oak Ridge Avenue 

 SR 16 W / Ferris Ave. at US 17 

 SR 16 E / Cooks Ln. at US 17 

 Oak Ridge Avenue at Green Cove Avenue 

 US 17 at Oak Ridge Avenue 

Page 53

Item #1.



 Ayrshire – PUD Traffic Study 
City of Green Cove Springs, Clay County, Florida 

                          

Chindalur Traffic Solutions, Inc.                                    Page 2 of 8                                      06/29/2021 
 

 US 17 at Ayrshire Boulevard/Hall Park Road (Project Access Intersection) 

 Oak Ridge Avenue at Ayrshire Boulevard (Project Access Intersection) 

 Oak Ridge Avenue at Jersey Avenue (Project Access Intersection) 
 
Figures 02 and 03 show the existing conditions at the above stated intersections.  AM peak (7:00 
AM to 9:00 AM) and PM peak (4:00 PM to 6:00 PM) period turning movement counts that includes 
autos, heavy vehicles, bicycles and pedestrians were obtained at the above stated intersections on 
April 22, 2021.  These counts were further adjusted by applying a season factor of 0.93 (0.94*0.99) 
to adjust for seasonal variations.  The year 2019 season factor was used as the year 2020 season 
factors are anticipated to be not accurate due to the COVID 19 Pandemic.  The season factors were 
obtained from the FDOT traffic counts online portal.  Attachment B includes the traffic counts and 
season factors data.  Figure 04 includes AM peak and PM peak hour turning movements at the study 
intersections. 
 
Future Background Traffic Volumes 
Future year traffic projections were made by applying a growth factor to existing traffic volumes.  
The  growth  factor  was  estimated  by  performing  trends  analysis  of  the  historical  AADT  of  the 
roadway segments within the study area.  The historical AADT was obtained from the FDOT traffic 
counts online portal.  Table 02 summarizes the growth rate calculations.  As shown in this table, 
majority of the roadway segments showed a negative trend.  However, a minimum of 1.0% per year 
growth rate was applied.   

 The future year 2025 traffic volumes at the study intersections were estimated by applying a 
growth factor of 1.04 to the year 2021 traffic volumes.   

 The future year 2027 traffic volumes at the study  intersection were estimated by applying a 
growth factor of 1.06 to the year 2021 traffic volumes.   

 The future year 2030 traffic volumes at the study  intersection were estimated by applying a 
growth factor of 1.09 to the year 2021 traffic volumes.   

 The future year 2035 traffic volumes at the study  intersection were estimated by applying a 
growth factor of 1.14 to the year 2021 traffic volumes.   

 
Attachment C  includes the historical AADT and Trends Analysis plots.   Figures 05, 06, 07 and 08 
show year 2025, year 2027, year 2030 and year 2035 future conditions background traffic volumes 
at the study intersections respectively. 
 
Planned and Programmed Improvements 
All  of  the  planned  and  programmed  improvements  within  the  transportation  study  area 
identified from the FDOT Five (5) year work program, FDOT Long Range Plan and Clay County 
Capital Improvement Plan document were included in the model and the segment analysis.  The 
following planned and programmed improvements were included in the analysis.  Details of these 
projects are included in Attachment D.   
 

 First Coast Expressway: I‐10 to N. Of Argyle Forest Boulevard  

 First Coast Expressway: N. of Argyle Forest Boulevard to Blanding Boulevard (SR 21) 

 First Coast Expressway: Blanding Boulevard (SR 21) to North of SR 16 

Page 54

Item #1.



 Ayrshire – PUD Traffic Study 
City of Green Cove Springs, Clay County, Florida 

                          

Chindalur Traffic Solutions, Inc.                                    Page 3 of 8                                      06/29/2021 
 

 First Coast Expressway: North of SR 16 to East of CR 209 

 First Coast Expressway (New St. Johns River Bridge): SR 16 to CR 16A (St. Johns County) by 
year 2027 

 First Coast Expressway (St. Johns County): CR 16A to I‐95 
 
Trip Distribution and Assignment 
Trip  distribution  for  year  2025  (Analysis  Phase  01)  and  year  2027  (Analysis  Phase  02) 
development was determined based on existing traffic patterns (traffic entering and the exiting 
the City of Green Cove Springs).  Figures 09 and 10 show year 2025 and year 2027 project traffic 
distribution and peak hour traffic assignment at the study intersections.  Following is a summary 
of the project traffic distribution under the year 2025 and year 2027 development conditions: 

 15% oriented to the west of SR 16 West 

 15% oriented to the south on US 17 

 35% oriented to the north on US 17 

 35% oriented to the east on SR 16E 
 
Upon construction of the First Coast Expressway, the traffic patterns in the area are anticipated 
to change.   Hence, trip distribution for year 2030 (Analysis Phase 03) and year 2035 (Analysis 
Phase 04) development conditions was obtained from the interim year 2030 model set of the 
Northeast Regional Planning Activity Based Model (NERPM_AB3v1) travel demand forecasting 
model, provided by the North Florida Transportation Planning Organization (NFTPO). Figures 11 
and 12 show year 2030 and year 2035 project traffic distribution and peak hour traffic assignment 
at the study intersections.  Following is a summary of the project traffic distribution percentages 
in the vicinity of the proposed project under year 2030 and year 2035 development conditions: 

 Oak Ridge Avenue – SR 16 to Project Entrance: 6.7% 

 Oak Ridge Avenue – Project Entrance to US 17: 4.32% 

 US 17 – Project Entrance to First Coast Expressway: 48.63% 

 US 17 – SR 16 East to Project Entrance: 40.35% 
 
Attachment E includes the travel demand model plots showing the project traffic distributions 
(unadjusted distributions).  Attachment F includes a figure depicting the adjusted project traffic 
distribution percentages in the vicinity of the proposed development. 
 
Build‐Out Traffic Volumes 
Build‐out  traffic  volumes  include  the  future  background  traffic  volumes  and  the  project  traffic 
assignment  under  each  of  the  year  2025,  year  2027,  year  2030  and  year  2035  development 
conditions.   Figures 13, 14, 15 and 16 show the year 2025, year 2027, year 2030 and year 2035 
development conditions respectively.    
 
Access Intersection Turn Lanes Evaluation 
A 330‐foot southbound left turn lane on Oak Ridge Avenue currently exists at Jersey Avenue.  The 
95th percentile queue  length  is anticipated to be no greater  than 25  feet.   Hence the existing 
southbound left turn lane is anticipated to be adequate.  The need for southbound left turn lanes 
on  Oak  Ridge  Avenue  at  Ayrshire  Boulevard  and  Jersey  Avenue  was  evaluated  using  the 

Page 55

Item #1.



 Ayrshire – PUD Traffic Study 
City of Green Cove Springs, Clay County, Florida 

                          

Chindalur Traffic Solutions, Inc.                                    Page 4 of 8                                      06/29/2021 
 

Harmelink  Curves  criteria  and  guidance.    Figure  17  includes  plots  evaluating  the  need  for 
southbound left turn lanes on Oak Ridge Avenue at Ayrshire Boulevard and Jersey Avenue was 
evaluated  using  the  Harmelink  Curves  criteria  and  guidance.    As  shown  in  these  plots,  a 
southbound  left  turn  lane  on Oak  Ridge  Avenue  at  Ayrshire  Boulevard  and  Jersey  Avenue  is 
anticipated to be warranted under the build‐out conditions of the proposed development.   
 
The required deceleration length for 50‐mph design speed is 290‐feet (including 50‐feet taper) 
for  rural  roadways.    A  storage  length  of  100‐feet  (4  vehicles)  should  be  provided.    390‐feet 
(including 50‐feet taper) southbound left turn lanes are recommended on Oak Ridge Avenue at 
Ayrshire Boulevard and Jersey Avenue. 
 
Intersection Capacity Analysis 
Intersection capacity analysis of the study intersections was performed during the AM peak and 
PM peak periods under the existing, future background and build‐out conditions using Synchro 
10 software.  This software uses HCM 2000/2010 procedures and methodologies in calculating 
LOS and delay at signalized intersections and un‐signalized intersections.  Existing signal timing 
and  phasing  information  for  the  signalized  study  intersections  were  obtained  from  Florida 
Department of Transportation Traffic Operations Department.  A copy of these signal timing and 
phasing details are included in Attachment G.   
 
Table 03 summarizes the existing conditions intersection capacity analysis Delay and LOS summary 
during the AM peak and PM peak conditions.  As shown in this table, all the critical approaches at 
all  the  study  intersections  are  currently  operating  at  LOS  E  or  better with  the  exception  of  SR 
16W/Ferris Street at US 17 intersection.  This intersection is currently operating at LOS F during the 
PM peak hour.   
 
Tables 04, 05, 06 and 07  summarize the  future year 2025, year 2027, year 2030 and year 2035 
background traffic conditions intersection capacity analysis Delay and LOS summary during the AM 
peak and PM peak conditions.  As summarized in these tables, all the critical approaches at the study 
intersections are anticipated  to operate at LOS E or better with  the exception of SR 16W/Ferris 
Street at US 17 intersection.  This intersection is anticipated to continue operating at LOS F during 
the PM peak hours. 
 
Tables 08, 09, 10 and 11 summarize the  future year 2025, year 2027, year 2030 and year 2035 
project build‐out traffic conditions intersection capacity analysis Delay and LOS summary during the 
AM peak and PM peak conditions.  As summarized in these tables, all the critical approaches at the 
study intersections are anticipated to operate at LOS E or better with the exception of SR 16W/Ferris 
Street at US 17 intersection.  This intersection is anticipated to continue operating at LOS F during 
the PM peak hours. 
 
The US 17/Ferris Street intersection is currently operating at LOS F and will continue to operate 
at LOS F in the future.  However, upon construction of the First Coast Expressway, traffic volumes 
at  both  SR  16  intersections  on  US  17  are  anticipated  to  reduce  and  the  Delay  and  LOS  are 
anticipated to improve.  Additionally, due to the change in traffic patterns, FDOT is anticipated 

Page 56

Item #1.



 Ayrshire – PUD Traffic Study 
City of Green Cove Springs, Clay County, Florida 

                          

Chindalur Traffic Solutions, Inc.                                    Page 5 of 8                                      06/29/2021 
 

to re‐time the traffic signals at these two intersections which will result in improved operational 
conditions.   
 
A copy of the HCM worksheets under the existing, future background and build‐out conditions 
are included as Attachment H.   
 
US 17 and Ayrshire Boulevard:  A four lane bridge connecting the proposed development and US 
17 will be built by year 2027 development conditions.  Upon construction, the intersection of US 17 
and Ayrshire Boulevard is anticipated to require a traffic signal.   Since US 17 is a FDOT roadway, the 
intersection is subject to FDOT’s Intersection Control Evaluation (ICE) review and approval process.  
The ICE process is anticipated to result in either a traditional traffic signal or a Signalized R‐Cut or a 
Signalized  Median  U‐turn  intersection  control.    However,  for  the  purpose  of  this  analysis  a 
traditional traffic signal  is assumed under the year 2027, year 2030 and year 2035 development 
conditions.    As  summarized  in  the  above‐mentioned  tables,  the  intersection  is  anticipated  to 
operate at  LOS E or better under  the build‐out  conditions of  the proposed development.      This 
intersection will be designed and constructed based on the outcome of the FDOT ICE analysis.  In 
addition to the traffic signal, appropriate auxiliary turn lanes will be constructed on US 17 at Ayrshire 
Boulevard intersection. 
 
Oak Ridge Avenue at Ayrshire  Boulevard:   Separate  left  and  right  turn  lanes  (Westbound)  are 
recommended on Ayrshire Boulevard at Oak Ridge Avenue intersection.  A maximum queue of 50 
feet is anticipated on Ayrshire Boulevard at Oak Ridge Avenue.  Hence, the westbound left turn lane 
on Ayrshire Boulevard at Oak Ridge Avenue need to provide for at least 100 feet storage plus 50 feet 
taper.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 57

Item #1.



 Ayrshire – PUD Traffic Study 
City of Green Cove Springs, Clay County, Florida 

                          

Chindalur Traffic Solutions, Inc.                                    Page 6 of 8                                      06/29/2021 
 

Summary and Conclusions 
   
  This  traffic  impact  study  (TIS) was  performed  in  support  of  the  proposed  Ayrshire  PUD 
rezoning application.   The proposed development  is anticipated to  include a maximum of 2,100 
residential dwelling units  (1,470  single‐family and 630 Multi‐family Townhomes).   Access  to  the 
proposed development is anticipated to be provided via a roadway (bridge over the CSX railroad) 
connecting to US 17, via existing Jersey Avenue and an additional driveway on CR 15A (Oak Ridge 
Avenue). 
 
  For  the purpose of  this  traffic  study,  the analysis was performed under  four  (4) analysis 
phases: 

 Analysis Phase 01 (Year 2025) assumed 231 single‐family dwelling units with access via a 
roadway on Oak Ridge Avenue.  

 Analysis Phase 02  (Year  2027)  assumed 500  single‐family dwelling units  (cumulative) 
with access via a roadway on Oak Ridge Avenue and a four‐lane bridge from the project 
northern entrance to US 17 across from Hall Park Road.  

 Analysis Phase 03 (Year 2030) assumed 1,000 single‐family dwelling units. 

 Analysis Phase 04 (Year 2035) assumed 2,100 residential dwelling units (1,470 single‐
family  and  630 Multi‐family  Townhomes).    A  third  project  access  via  existing  Jersey 
Avenue was also assumed for this analysis phase.    

 

 Year 2025 (Analysis Phase 01) development is anticipated to generate 2,246 daily trips 
that include 169 AM peak and 227 PM peak trips.   

 Year 2027 (Analysis Phase 02) development is anticipated to generate 4,574 daily trips 
(cumulative) that include 360 AM peak and 476 PM peak trips 

 Year 2030 (Analysis Phase 03) development is anticipated to generate 8,648 daily trips 
(cumulative) that include 715 AM peak and 927 PM peak trips 

 Year 2035 (Analysis Phase 04) development  is anticipated to generate 17,049 daily 
trips (cumulative) that include 1,323 AM peak and 1,645 PM peak trips 

 
  AM peak (7:00 AM to 9:00 AM) and PM peak (4:00 PM to 6:00 PM) period turning movement 
counts that  includes autos, heavy vehicles, bicycles and pedestrians were obtained at the above 
stated intersections on April 22, 2021.  These counts were further adjusted by applying a season 
factor of 0.93 (0.94*0.99) to adjust for seasonal variations.  The year 2019 season factor was used 
as the year 2020 season factors are anticipated to be not accurate due to the COVID 19 Pandemic.   
 
  The future year 2025 traffic volumes at the study intersections were estimated by applying 
a growth factor of 1.04 to the year 2021 traffic volumes.  The future year 2027 traffic volumes at the 
study  intersection were  estimated  by  applying  a  growth  factor  of  1.06  to  the  year  2021  traffic 
volumes.  The future year 2030 traffic volumes at the study intersection were estimated by applying 
a growth factor of 1.09 to the year 2021 traffic volumes.  The future year 2035 traffic volumes at the 
study  intersection were  estimated  by  applying  a  growth  factor  of  1.14  to  the  year  2021  traffic 
volumes.   
 

Page 58

Item #1.



 Ayrshire – PUD Traffic Study 
City of Green Cove Springs, Clay County, Florida 

                          

Chindalur Traffic Solutions, Inc.                                    Page 7 of 8                                      06/29/2021 
 

  Trip  distribution  for  year  2025  (Analysis  Phase  01)  and  year  2027  (Analysis  Phase  02) 
development was determined based on existing traffic patterns (traffic entering and the exiting 
the City of Green Cove Springs).  Following is a summary of the project traffic distribution under 
the year 2025 and year 2027 development conditions: 

 15% oriented to the west of SR 16 West 

 15% oriented to the south on US 17 

 35% oriented to the north on US 17 

 35% oriented to the east on SR 16E 
 

Upon  construction  of  the  First  Coast  Expressway,  the  traffic  patterns  in  the  area  are 
anticipated to change.  Hence, trip distribution for year 2030 (Analysis Phase 03) and year 2035 
(Analysis Phase 04) development conditions was obtained from the interim year 2030 model set 
of  the  Northeast  Regional  Planning  Activity  Based  Model  (NERPM_AB3v1)  travel  demand 
forecasting model.  Following is a summary of the project traffic distribution percentages in the 
vicinity of the proposed project under year 2030 and year 2035 development conditions: 

 Oak Ridge Avenue – SR 16 to Project Entrance: 6.7% 

 Oak Ridge Avenue – Project Entrance to US 17: 4.32% 

 US 17 – Project Entrance to First Coast Expressway: 48.63% 

 US 17 – SR 16 East to Project Entrance: 40.35% 
 
  Build‐out  traffic  volumes  include  the  future  background  traffic  volumes  and  the  project 
traffic assignment under each of the year 2025, year 2027, year 2030 and year 2035 development 
conditions.   
 
  A  330‐foot  southbound  left  turn  lane  on Oak  Ridge  Avenue  currently  exists  at  Jersey 
Avenue.  The 95th percentile queue length is anticipated to be no greater than 25 feet.  Hence 
the existing southbound left turn lane is anticipated to be adequate.  A southbound left turn lane 
on Oak Ridge Avenue at Ayrshire Boulevard is anticipated to be warranted under the build‐out 
conditions of  the proposed development.   The required deceleration  length for 50‐mph design 
speed  is  290‐feet  (including  50‐feet  taper)  for  rural  roadways.    A  storage  length  of  100‐feet  (4 
vehicles)  should be provided.    A  390‐feet  (including  50‐feet  taper)  southbound  left  turn  lane  is 
recommended on Oak Ridge Avenue at Ayrshire Boulevard. 
 
  All the critical approaches at all the study intersections are currently operating at LOS E or 
better with the exception of SR 16W/Ferris Street at US 17 intersection.  This intersection is currently 
operating at LOS F during the PM peak hour.   
 
  All the critical approaches at the study intersections are anticipated to operate at LOS E or 
better  with  the  exception  of  SR  16W/Ferris  Street  at  US  17  intersection.    This  intersection  is 
anticipated to continue operating at LOS F during the PM peak hours. 
 
  All the critical approaches at the study intersections are anticipated to operate at LOS E or 
better  with  the  exception  of  SR  16W/Ferris  Street  at  US  17  intersection.    This  intersection  is 
anticipated to continue operating at LOS F during the PM peak hours. 

Page 59

Item #1.



 Ayrshire – PUD Traffic Study 
City of Green Cove Springs, Clay County, Florida 

                          

Chindalur Traffic Solutions, Inc.                                    Page 8 of 8                                      06/29/2021 
 

The US 17/Ferris Street intersection is currently operating at LOS F and will continue to 
operate at LOS F in the future.  However, upon construction of the First Coast Expressway, traffic 
volumes at both SR 16 intersections on US 17 are anticipated to reduce and the Delay and LOS 
are  anticipated  to  improve.   Additionally,  due  to  the  change  in  traffic  patterns,  FDOT  is 
anticipated to re‐time the traffic signals at these two intersections which will result in improved 
operational conditions.   
   
  A four‐lane bridge connecting the proposed development and US 17 will be built by build‐
out conditions of the Phase 02 development.   Upon construction, the  intersection of US 17 and 
Ayrshire Boulevard is anticipated to require a traffic signal.   Since US 17 is a FDOT roadway, the 
intersection is subject to FDOT’s Intersection Control Evaluation (ICE) review and approval process.  
The  ICE process  is anticipated to result  in either a traditional traffic signal or Signalized R‐Cut or 
Signalized  Median  U‐turns  intersection  control.    However,  for  the  purpose  of  this  analysis  a 
traditional  traffic  signal  is  assumed  under  the  Phase  02,  Phase  03  and  Phase  04  development 
conditions.   
 
  Separate left and right turn lanes (Westbound) are recommended on Ayrshire Boulevard at 
Oak Ridge Avenue intersection.  A maximum queue of 50 feet is anticipated on Ayrshire Boulevard 
at Oak Ridge Avenue.   Hence,  the westbound  left  turn  lane on Ayrshire Boulevard at Oak Ridge 
Avenue need to provide for at least 100 feet storage plus 50 feet taper.   
 

Page 60

Item #1.



S.R
. 16

 W. U
S
 17

US
 1
7

S
. 
Oa

kr
id
ge

 A
ve

.

Rail Road

Firs
t Co

ast 
Exp

res
swa

y

(Und
er C

ons
truc

tion
)

Proposed Project Site

Jersey Ave.

N

N
.T
.S

.

Chindalur Traffic Solutions, Inc.
8833 Perimeter Park Boulevard,
Suite 103
Jacksonville, FL 32216
Phone: (904) 619-3368
www.ctrafficsolutions.com

Clay County, Florida
Ayrshire CPA - Traffic Study

Figure 01 - Project Location

Page 61

Item #1.



S.R. 
16 W

.

S
. Oakridge Ave.

S.R. 
16 W

.

Ferr
is St

.

US
 17

S
. Oakridge Ave.

Gre
en 

Cov
e A

ve.

US
 17

Cooks L
ane

S.R. 16
 E / Le

onard C
. Taylor

 Pkwy.

Chindalur Traffic Solutions, Inc.
8833 Perimeter Park Boulevard,
Suite 103
Jacksonville, FL 32216
Phone: (904) 619-3368
www.ctrafficsolutions.com

Clay County, Florida
Ayrshire CPA - Traffic Study

Figure 02 - Existing Conditions

N

1"
 =

 1
00

'

S.R. 16 W. and Ferris Street at US 17S.R. 16 W. at S. Oakridge Avenue

S. Oakridge Avenue at Green Cove Avenue US 17 at Cooks Lane and S.R. 16 E. / Leonard C. Taylor Pkwy.

Page 62

Item #1.



C
R
 1

5A
 /

 S
. 
Oa

kr
id
ge

 A
ve

.
Proposed Ayrshire Parkway

S
. 
Oa

kr
id
ge

 A
ve

.

Proposed
Project Site

S. Oakridge Ave.

U
S
 1

7

US
 1
7 
/ 
SR

 1
5

Hall Park Road

US
 1
7

Proposed Ayrshire Parkway

Project Driveway / Jersey Ave.

S
. 
Oa

kr
id
ge

 A
ve

.

Proposed
Project Site

Chindalur Traffic Solutions, Inc.
8833 Perimeter Park Boulevard,
Suite 103
Jacksonville, FL 32216
Phone: (904) 619-3368
www.ctrafficsolutions.com

Clay County, Florida
Ayrshire CPA - Traffic Study

Figure 03 - Existing Conditions

N

1"
 =

 1
00

'

S. Oakridge Avenue at Project Driveway

S. Oakridge Avenue at US 17 US 17 at Hall Park Road

S. Oakridge Avenue at Project Driveway / Jersey Avenue

Page 63

Item #1.



US 17

N

C
o
o
k
s

L
n
.

F
e
r
r
i
s
 
S
t
.

S
.
R
.

1
6
 
W
.

S. Oakridge

Ave.

E
x
i
s
t
.

D
r
i
v
e
w
a
y

S
.
R
.
 
1
6
 
E
.

US 17

S
.
 
O
a
k
r
i
d
g
e

A
v
e
.

S
.
R
.
 
1
6
 
W
.

G
r
e
e
n

C
o
v
e

A
v
e
.

Ayrshire

Parkway

P
r
o
j
e
c
t

D
r
i
v
e
w
a
y

H
a
l
l

P
a
r
k
 
R
d
.

R
a
i
l
 
R
o
a
d

S
p
u
r

R
a
i
l
 
R
o
a
d

Rail Road

Chindalur Traffic Solutions, Inc.

8833 Perimeter Park Boulevard,

Suite 103

Jacksonville, FL 32216

Phone: (904) 619-3368

www.ctrafficsolutions.com

Clay County, Florida

Ayrshire CPA - Traffic Study

 

Figure 04 - Year 2021 AM and PM Peak Hour Traffic Volumes

 

LEGEND:

534 - AM Peak Hour Traffic

(923)
- PM Peak Hour Traffic

(0) 0

(11) 4

(673) 650

(164) 115

(
0
)
 
0

(
1
7
3
)
 
1
8
5

(
4
0
)
 
1
1

(
2
1
2
)
 
2
4
7

9
 
(
1
7
)

1
5
 
(
4
7
)

1
5
 
(
1
5
)

0
 
(
0
)

11 (17)

583 (947)

185 (311)

0 (0)

(0) 0

(13) 11

(27) 23

(46) 26

(
0
)
 
0

(
1
7
)
 
6
1

(
3
1
3
)
 
4
6
8

(
8
2
)
 
9
7

3
1
 
(
2
6
)

2
7
1
 
(
4
9
4
)

2
7
 
(
4
4
)

0
 
(
0
)

32 (52)

30 (18)

86 (140)

0 (0)

(109) 97

96 (91)

(3) 0

(5) 33

(594) 392

4 (1)

517 (582)

0 (1)

(1) 0

(455) 594

(393) 284

(20) 13

(
0
)
 
0

(
2
5
)
 
1
8

(
3
0
)
 
7
7

(
1
)
 
0

3
9
7
 
(
7
6
2
)

1
9
 
(
8
7
)

1
4
9
 
(
2
1
9
)

7
 
(
1
)

158 (197)

336 (428)

1 (4)

0 (0)

(0) 0

(10) 45

(136) 110

(0) 0

(
0
)
 
0

(
0
)
 
1

(
0
)
 
0

(
0
)
 
0

1
0
 
(
6
3
)

0
 
(
0
)

1
7
 
(
2
1
)

0
 
(
0
)

40 (25)

130 (185)

0 (0)

0 (0)

(0) 0

(482) 255

(9) 32

(
0
)
 
0

(
9
)
 
2
9

(
1
0
0
)
 
6
8

359 (385)

64 (82)

0 (0)

(109) 97

96 (91)

2
 
(
4
5
)

2
 
(
3
)

(598) 394

521 (584)

Page 64

Item #1.



US 17

N

C
o
o
k
s

L
n
.

F
e
r
r
i
s
 
S
t
.

S
.
R
.

1
6
 
W
.

S. Oakridge

Ave.

E
x
i
s
t
.

D
r
i
v
e
w
a
y

S
.
R
.
 
1
6
 
E
.

US 17

S
.
 
O
a
k
r
i
d
g
e

A
v
e
.

S
.
R
.
 
1
6
 
W
.

G
r
e
e
n

C
o
v
e

A
v
e
.

Ayrshire

Parkway

P
r
o
j
e
c
t

D
r
i
v
e
w
a
y

H
a
l
l

P
a
r
k
 
R
d
.

R
a
i
l
 
R
o
a
d

S
p
u
r

R
a
i
l
 
R
o
a
d

Rail Road

Chindalur Traffic Solutions, Inc.

8833 Perimeter Park Boulevard,

Suite 103

Jacksonville, FL 32216

Phone: (904) 619-3368

www.ctrafficsolutions.com

Clay County, Florida

Ayrshire CPA - Traffic Study

 

Figure 05 - Year 2025 AM and PM Peak Hour (Analysis Phase 01) Background Traffic Volumes

 

LEGEND:

534 - AM Peak Hour Traffic

(923)
- PM Peak Hour Traffic

(0) 0

(12) 4

(707) 676

(172) 120

(
0
)
 
0

(
1
8
2
)
 
1
9
2

(
4
2
)
 
1
1

(
2
2
3
)
 
2
5
7

9
 
(
1
8
)

1
6
 
(
4
9
)

1
6
 
(
1
6
)

0
 
(
0
)

11 (18)

606 (994)

192 (327)

0 (0)

(0) 0

(14) 11

(28) 24

(48) 27

(
0
)
 
0

(
1
8
)
 
6
3

(
3
2
9
)
 
4
8
7

(
8
6
)
 
1
0
1

3
2
 
(
2
7
)

2
8
2
 
(
5
1
9
)

2
8
 
(
4
6
)

0
 
(
0
)

33 (55)

31 (19)

89 (147)

0 (0)

(114) 101

100 (94)

(1) 0

(478) 618

(413) 295

(21) 14

(
0
)
 
0

(
2
6
)
 
1
9

(
3
2
)
 
8
0

(
1
)
 
0

4
1
3
 
(
8
0
0
)

2
0
 
(
9
1
)

1
5
5
 
(
2
3
0
)

7
 
(
1
)

164 (207)

349 (449)

1 (4)

0 (0)

(0) 0

(11) 47

(143) 114

(0) 0

(
0
)
 
0

(
0
)
 
1

(
0
)
 
0

(
0
)
 
0

1
0
 
(
6
6
)

0
 
(
0
)

1
8
 
(
2
2
)

0
 
(
0
)

42 (26)

135 (194)

0 (0)

0 (0)

(0) 0

(506) 265

(9) 33

(
0
)
 
0

(
9
)
 
3
0

(
1
0
5
)
 
7
1

373 (404)

67 (86)

0 (0)

(114) 101

100 (95)

(3) 0

(5) 34

(624) 408

4 (1)

538 (611)

0 (1)

2
 
(
4
7
)

2
 
(
3
)

(628) 410

542 (613)

Page 65

Item #1.



US 17

N

C
o
o
k
s

L
n
.

F
e
r
r
i
s
 
S
t
.

S
.
R
.

1
6
 
W
.

S. Oakridge

Ave.

E
x
i
s
t
.

D
r
i
v
e
w
a
y

S
.
R
.
 
1
6
 
E
.

US 17

S
.
 
O
a
k
r
i
d
g
e

A
v
e
.

S
.
R
.
 
1
6
 
W
.

G
r
e
e
n

C
o
v
e

A
v
e
.

Ayrshire

Parkway

P
r
o
j
e
c
t

D
r
i
v
e
w
a
y

H
a
l
l

P
a
r
k
 
R
d
.

R
a
i
l
 
R
o
a
d

S
p
u
r

R
a
i
l
 
R
o
a
d

Rail Road

Chindalur Traffic Solutions, Inc.

8833 Perimeter Park Boulevard,

Suite 103

Jacksonville, FL 32216

Phone: (904) 619-3368

www.ctrafficsolutions.com

Clay County, Florida

Ayrshire CPA - Traffic Study

 

Figure 06 - Year 2027 AM and PM Peak Hour (Analysis Phase 02) Background Traffic Volumes

 

LEGEND:

534 - AM Peak Hour Traffic

(923)
- PM Peak Hour Traffic

(0) 0

(12) 4

(713) 689

(174) 122

(
0
)
 
0

(
1
8
3
)
 
1
9
6

(
4
2
)
 
1
2

(
2
2
5
)
 
2
6
2

1
0
 
(
1
8
)

1
6
 
(
5
0
)

1
6
 
(
1
6
)

0
 
(
0
)

12 (18)

618 (1,004)

196 (330)

0 (0)

(0) 0

(14) 12

(29) 24

(49) 28

(
0
)
 
0

(
1
8
)
 
6
5

(
3
3
2
)
 
4
9
6

(
8
7
)
 
1
0
3

3
3
 
(
2
8
)

2
8
7
 
(
5
2
4
)

2
9
 
(
4
7
)

0
 
(
0
)

34 (55)

32 (19)

91 (148)

0 (0)

(116) 103

102 (97)

(1) 0

(482) 630

(417) 301

(21) 14

(
0
)
 
0

(
2
7
)
 
1
9

(
3
2
)
 
8
2

(
1
)
 
0

4
2
1
 
(
8
0
8
)

2
0
 
(
9
2
)

1
5
8
 
(
2
3
2
)

7
 
(
1
)

167 (209)

356 (454)

1 (4)

0 (0)

(4) 0

(11) 48

(144) 117

(0) 0

(
0
)
 
0

(
0
)
 
1

(
0
)
 
0

(
0
)
 
0

1
1
 
(
6
7
)

0
 
(
0
)

1
8
 
(
2
2
)

0
 
(
0
)

42 (27)

138 (196)

0 (0)

0 (0)

(0) 0

(511) 270

(10) 34

(
0
)
 
0

(
1
0
)
 
3
1

(
1
0
6
)
 
7
2

381 (408)

68 (87)

0 (0)

(116) 103

102 (97)

(3) 0

(5) 35

(630) 416

4 (1)

548 (617)

0 (1)

2
 
(
4
8
)

2
 
(
3
)

(634) 418

552 (619)

Page 66

Item #1.



US 17

N

C
o
o
k
s

L
n
.

F
e
r
r
i
s
 
S
t
.

S
.
R
.

1
6
 
W
.

S. Oakridge

Ave.

E
x
i
s
t
.

D
r
i
v
e
w
a
y

S
.
R
.
 
1
6
 
E
.

F
.
E
.
C
.

E
x
p
r
e
s
s
w
a
y

US 17

S
.
 
O
a
k
r
i
d
g
e

A
v
e
.

S
.
R
.
 
1
6
 
W
.

G
r
e
e
n

C
o
v
e

A
v
e
.

Ayrshire

Parkway

P
r
o
j
e
c
t

D
r
i
v
e
w
a
y

F

.

E

.

C

.

E

x

p

r

e

s

s

w

a

y

H
a
l
l

P
a
r
k
 
R
d
.

R
a
i
l
 
R
o
a
d

S
p
u
r

R
a
i
l
 
R
o
a
d

Rail Road

Chindalur Traffic Solutions, Inc.

8833 Perimeter Park Boulevard,

Suite 103

Jacksonville, FL 32216

Phone: (904) 619-3368

www.ctrafficsolutions.com

Clay County, Florida

Ayrshire CPA - Traffic Study

 

Figure 07 - Year 2030 AM and PM Peak Hour (Analysis Phase 03) Background Traffic Volumes

 

LEGEND:

534 - AM Peak Hour Traffic

(923)
- PM Peak Hour Traffic

(0) 0

(12) 4

(733) 709

(179) 125

(
0
)
 
0

(
1
8
9
)
 
2
0
2

(
4
4
)
 
1
2

(
2
3
1
)
 
2
6
9

1
0
 
(
1
9
)

1
6
 
(
5
1
)

1
6
 
(
1
6
)

0
 
(
0
)

12 (19)

635 (1,032)

202 (339)

0 (0)

(0) 0

(14) 12

(29) 25

(50) 28

(
0
)
 
0

(
1
9
)
 
6
6

(
3
4
1
)
 
5
1
0

(
8
9
)
 
1
0
6

3
4
 
(
2
8
)

2
9
5
 
(
5
3
8
)

2
9
 
(
4
8
)

0
 
(
0
)

35 (57)

33 (20)

94 (153)

0 (0)

(119) 106

105 (99)

(1) 0

(25) 32

(899) 925

(22) 14

(
0
)
 
0

(
2
7
)
 
2
0

(
2
)
 
4

(
3
2
)
 
8
0

2
2
 
(
4
2
)

1
 
(
5
)

8
 
(
1
2
)

8
 
(
1
)

9 (11)

777 (1,256)

21 (94)

0 (0)

(4) 0

(11) 49

(148) 120

(0) 0

(
0
)
 
0

(
0
)
 
1

(
0
)
 
0

(
0
)
 
0

1
1
 
(
6
9
)

0
 
(
0
)

1
9
 
(
2
3
)

0
 
(
0
)

44 (27)

142 (202)

0 (0)

0 (0)

(0) 0

(525) 278

(10) 35

(
0
)
 
0

(
1
0
)
 
3
2

(
1
0
9
)
 
7
4

391 (420)

70 (89)

0 (0)

(119) 106

105 (99)

(3) 0

(5) 36

(922) 968

4 (1)

831 (1,309)

0 (1)

2
 
(
4
9
)

2
 
(
3
)

(502) 695

(424) 275

164 (204)

240 (228)

Numbers shown at First Coast Expressway and US 17 are for Project Traffic Only.

4
3
1
 
(
8
7
9
)

1
5
4
 
(
2
2
7
)

Page 67

Item #1.



US 17

N

C
o
o
k
s

L
n
.

F
e
r
r
i
s
 
S
t
.

S
.
R
.

1
6
 
W
.

S. Oakridge

Ave.

E
x
i
s
t
.

D
r
i
v
e
w
a
y

S
.
R
.
 
1
6
 
E
.

US 17

S
.
 
O
a
k
r
i
d
g
e

A
v
e
.

S
.
R
.
 
1
6
 
W
.

G
r
e
e
n

C
o
v
e

A
v
e
.

Ayrshire

Parkway

P
r
o
j
e
c
t

D
r
i
v
e
w
a
y

H
a
l
l

P
a
r
k
 
R
d
.

R
a
i
l
 
R
o
a
d

S
p
u
r

R
a
i
l
 
R
o
a
d

Rail Road

F
.
E
.
C
.

E
x
p
r
e
s
s
w
a
y

F

.

E

.

C

.

E

x

p

r

e

s

s

w

a

y

Chindalur Traffic Solutions, Inc.

8833 Perimeter Park Boulevard,

Suite 103

Jacksonville, FL 32216

Phone: (904) 619-3368

www.ctrafficsolutions.com

Clay County, Florida

Ayrshire CPA - Traffic Study

 

Figure 08 - Year 2035 AM and PM Peak Hour (Analysis Phase 04) Background Traffic Volumes

 

LEGEND:

534 - AM Peak Hour Traffic

(923)
- PM Peak Hour Traffic

Numbers shown at First Coast Expressway and US 17 are for Project Traffic Only.

(0) 0

(13) 5

(774) 748

(189) 132

(
0
)
 
0

(
1
9
9
)
 
2
1
3

(
4
6
)
 
1
3

(
2
4
4
)
 
2
8
4

1
0
 
(
2
0
)

1
7
 
(
5
4
)

1
7
 
(
1
7
)

0
 
(
0
)

13 (20)

670 (1,089)

213 (358)

0 (0)

(0) 0

(15) 13

(31) 26

(53) 30

(
0
)
 
0

(
2
0
)
 
7
0

(
3
6
0
)
 
5
3
8

(
9
4
)
 
1
1
2

3
6
 
(
3
0
)

3
1
2
 
(
5
6
8
)

3
1
 
(
5
1
)

0
 
(
0
)

37 (60)

35 (21)

99 (161)

0 (0)

(125) 111

111 (104)

(1) 0

(26) 34

(949) 976

(23) 15

(
0
)
 
0

(
2
9
)
 
2
1

(
2
)
 
4

(
3
4
)
 
8
4

2
3
 
(
4
4
)

1
 
(
5
)

9
 
(
1
3
)

8
 
(
1
)

9 (11)

820 (1,324)

22 (100)

0 (0)

(4) 0

(12) 52

(156) 127

(0) 0

(
0
)
 
0

(
0
)
 
1

(
0
)
 
0

(
0
)
 
0

1
2
 
(
7
2
)

0
 
(
0
)

2
0
 
(
2
4
)

0
 
(
0
)

46 (29)

150 (213)

0 (0)

0 (0)

(0) 0

(554) 293

(10) 37

(
0
)
 
0

(
1
0
)
 
3
3

(
1
1
5
)
 
7
8

413 (443)

74 (94)

0 (0)

(125) 111

111 (104)

(3) 0

(6) 38

(974) 1,021

5 (1)

877 (1,381)

0 (1)

2
 
(
5
2
)

2
 
(
3
)

(530) 733

(488) 290

173 (215)

254 (241)

4
5
5
 
(
9
2
7
)

1
6
3
 
(
2
3
9
)

Page 68

Item #1.



US 17

N

C
o
o
k
s

L
n
.

F
e
r
r
i
s
 
S
t
.

S
.
R
.

1
6
 
W
.

S. Oakridge

Ave.

E
x
i
s
t
.

D
r
i
v
e
w
a
y

S
.
R
.
 
1
6
 
E
.

US 17

S
.
 
O
a
k
r
i
d
g
e

A
v
e
.

S
.
R
.
 
1
6
 
W
.

G
r
e
e
n

C
o
v
e

A
v
e
.

Ayrshire

Parkway

P
r
o
j
e
c
t

D
r
i
v
e
w
a
y

H
a
l
l

P
a
r
k
 
R
d
.

R
a
i
l
 
R
o
a
d

S
p
u
r

R
a
i
l
 
R
o
a
d

Rail Road

LEGEND:

534 - AM Peak Hour Traffic

(923)
- PM Peak Hour Traffic

49%

- Project Traffic Distribution

1
5

.
0

%

15.0%

2
6

.
3

%

58.75% 85.0% 15.0%

35.0%

3
5
.
0

%

(
2
2
)
 
6

1
9
 
(
6
4
)

57 (37)

19 (13)

1
2
 
(
3
9
)

34 (22)

76 (50)

1
1
0
 
(
7
2
)

1
9
 
(
1
3
)

6 (22)

(59) 63

(98) 75

(13) 19

6 (22)

(
1
3
)
 
1
9

6 (22)

(
2
2
)
 
3
4

(
1
5
)
 
2
3

8
 
(
2
6
)

8
 
(
2
6
)

11 (7)

8 (26)

(13) 4

(38) 11

(15) 23

(13) 4

(
7
)
 
1
1

(
1
5
)
 
2
3

Chindalur Traffic Solutions, Inc.

8833 Perimeter Park Boulevard,

Suite 103

Jacksonville, FL 32216

Phone: (904) 619-3368

www.ctrafficsolutions.com

Clay County, Florida

Ayrshire CPA - Traffic Study

 

Figure 09 - Year 2025 AM and PM Peak Hour (Analysis Phase 01) Project Traffic Distribution and Assignment

 

Page 69

Item #1.



US 17

N

C
o
o
k
s

L
n
.

F
e
r
r
i
s
 
S
t
.

S
.
R
.

1
6
 
W
.

S. Oakridge

Ave.

E
x
i
s
t
.

D
r
i
v
e
w
a
y

S
.
R
.
 
1
6
 
E
.

US 17

S
.
 
O
a
k
r
i
d
g
e

A
v
e
.

S
.
R
.
 
1
6
 
W
.

G
r
e
e
n

C
o
v
e

A
v
e
.

Ayrshire

Parkway

P
r
o
j
e
c
t

D
r
i
v
e
w
a
y

H
a
l
l

P
a
r
k
 
R
d
.

R
a
i
l
 
R
o
a
d

S
p
u
r

R
a
i
l
 
R
o
a
d

Rail Road

LEGEND:

534 - AM Peak Hour Traffic

(923)
- PM Peak Hour Traffic

49%

- Project Traffic Distribution

15.0%

7
.
0

%

18.5% 3.75%

35.0%

3
5
.
0

%

(
4
5
)
 
1
4

3
 
(
1
1
)

9 (6)

41 (26)

6
 
(
2
2
)

18 (12)

50 (32)

6
8
 
(
4
4
)

1
0
 
(
7
)

3 (11)

(51) 23

(73) 29

(7) 10

3 (11)

(
7
)
 
1
0

10 (34)

3 (11)

(
6
)
 
9

3
 
(
1
1
)

2
8
 
(
9
5
)

(95) 28

(11) 3

(84) 25

(11) 3

(
6
)
 
9

(
6
)
 
9

76 (49)

85 (55)

76 (49)

(179) 53

(
1
0
4
)
 
1
6
1

(
2
0
)
 
3
0

10 (34)

(20) 30

10 (34)

(20) 30

1
5

.
0

%

Chindalur Traffic Solutions, Inc.

8833 Perimeter Park Boulevard,

Suite 103

Jacksonville, FL 32216

Phone: (904) 619-3368

www.ctrafficsolutions.com

Clay County, Florida

Ayrshire CPA - Traffic Study

 

Figure 10 - Year 2027 AM and PM Peak Hour (Analysis Phase 02) Project Traffic Distribution and Assignment

 

Page 70

Item #1.



US 17

N

C
o
o
k
s

L
n
.

F
e
r
r
i
s
 
S
t
.

S
.
R
.

1
6
 
W
.

S. Oakridge

Ave.

E
x
i
s
t
.

D
r
i
v
e
w
a
y

S
.
R
.
 
1
6
 
E
.

F
.
E
.
C
.

E
x
p
r
e
s
s
w
a
y

US 17

S
.
 
O
a
k
r
i
d
g
e

A
v
e
.

S
.
R
.
 
1
6
 
W
.

G
r
e
e
n

C
o
v
e

A
v
e
.

Ayrshire

Parkway

P
r
o
j
e
c
t

D
r
i
v
e
w
a
y

F

.

E

.

C

.

E

x

p

r

e

s

s

w

a

y

H
a
l
l

P
a
r
k
 
R
d
.

R
a
i
l
 
R
o
a
d

S
p
u
r

R
a
i
l
 
R
o
a
d

Rail Road

Chindalur Traffic Solutions, Inc.

8833 Perimeter Park Boulevard,

Suite 103

Jacksonville, FL 32216

Phone: (904) 619-3368

www.ctrafficsolutions.com

Clay County, Florida

Ayrshire CPA - Traffic Study

 

Figure 11 - Year 2030 AM and PM Peak Hour (Analysis Phase 03) Project Traffic Distribution and Assignment

 

LEGEND:

534 - AM Peak Hour Traffic

(923)
- PM Peak Hour Traffic

49%

- Project Traffic Distribution

4.32%

3
.
4

%

3.35%

40.35%

1
.
5

%

7
 
(
2
4
)

22 (14)

17 (11)

7
 
(
2
5
)

23 (15)

39 (25)

3
7
 
(
2
4
)

1
3
 
(
8
)

(32) 28

(
1
3
)
 
2
1

1 (3)

7 (23)

(
1
4
)
 
2
2

0
 
(
1
)

2
 
(
8
)

(212) 65

(24) 7

(188) 58

(24) 7

(
1
4
)
 
2
2

(
1
)
 
1

173 (111)

7 (5)

173 (111)

(196) 60

(
1
1
6
)
 
1
8
0

(
1
6
8
)
 
2
6
3

88 (287)

(117) 182

(1) 2

(50) 79

1 (3)

(1) 2

(
1
8
)
 
6

4 (14)

25 (16)

(34) 21

(23) 14

2
5
 
(
1
6
)

8
 
(
5
)

3 (9)

4 (14)

(23) 14

(8) 13

Numbers shown at First Coast Expressway and US 17 are for Project Traffic Only.

(
8
6
)
 
2
6

6
1
 
(
1
9
8
)

3
3
.
9

8
%

1
4

.
6

5
%

48.63%

3
.
1

1
%

Page 71

Item #1.



US 17

N

C
o
o
k
s

L
n
.

F
e
r
r
i
s
 
S
t
.

S
.
R
.

1
6
 
W
.

S. Oakridge

Ave.

E
x
i
s
t
.

D
r
i
v
e
w
a
y

S
.
R
.
 
1
6
 
E
.

US 17

S
.
 
O
a
k
r
i
d
g
e

A
v
e
.

S
.
R
.
 
1
6
 
W
.

G
r
e
e
n

C
o
v
e

A
v
e
.

Ayrshire

Parkway

P
r
o
j
e
c
t

D
r
i
v
e
w
a
y

H
a
l
l

P
a
r
k
 
R
d
.

R
a
i
l
 
R
o
a
d

S
p
u
r

R
a
i
l
 
R
o
a
d

Rail Road

F
.
E
.
C
.

E
x
p
r
e
s
s
w
a
y

F

.

E

.

C

.

E

x

p

r

e

s

s

w

a

y

Chindalur Traffic Solutions, Inc.

8833 Perimeter Park Boulevard,

Suite 103

Jacksonville, FL 32216

Phone: (904) 619-3368

www.ctrafficsolutions.com

Clay County, Florida

Ayrshire CPA - Traffic Study

 

Figure 12 - Year 2035 AM and PM Peak Hour (Analysis Phase 04) Project Traffic Distribution and Assignment

 

LEGEND:

534 - AM Peak Hour Traffic

(923)
- PM Peak Hour Traffic

49%

- Project Traffic Distribution

Numbers shown at First Coast Expressway and US 17 are for Project Traffic Only.

4.32%

3
.
4

%

3.35% 4.32%

40.35%

1
.
5

%

1
3
 
(
4
2
)

40 (25)

31 (19)

1
3
 
(
4
4
)

41 (26)

71 (44)

6
7
 
(
4
2
)

2
3
 
(
1
4
)

(57) 50

(
2
4
)
 
3
9

1 (4)

13 (40)

(
2
5
)
 
4
0

0
 
(
2
)

4
 
(
1
4
)

(377) 118

(42) 13

(335) 105

(42) 13

(
2
5
)
 
4
0

(
1
)
 
1

322 (196)

13 (8)

322 (196)

(349) 109

(
2
0
4
)
 
3
3
5

(
2
2
9
)
 
4
8
9

159 (508)

(207) 339

(3) 4

(89) 146

1 (4)

(3) 4

(
3
2
)
 
1
0

8 (24)

45 (28)

(61) 38

(40) 25

4
5
 
(
2
8
)

1
6
 
(
1
0
)

5 (16)

8 (24)

(40) 25

(14) 23

(
1
5
2
)
 
4
8

1
1
0
 
(
3
5
2
)

3
3
.
9

8
%

1
4

.
6

5
%

48.63%

3
.
1

1
%

Page 72

Item #1.



US 17

N

C
o
o
k
s

L
n
.

F
e
r
r
i
s
 
S
t
.

S
.
R
.

1
6
 
W
.

S. Oakridge

Ave.

E
x
i
s
t
.

D
r
i
v
e
w
a
y

S
.
R
.
 
1
6
 
E
.

US 17

S
.
 
O
a
k
r
i
d
g
e

A
v
e
.

S
.
R
.
 
1
6
 
W
.

G
r
e
e
n

C
o
v
e

A
v
e
.

Ayrshire

Parkway

P
r
o
j
e
c
t

D
r
i
v
e
w
a
y

H
a
l
l

P
a
r
k
 
R
d
.

R
a
i
l
 
R
o
a
d

S
p
u
r

R
a
i
l
 
R
o
a
d

Rail Road

Chindalur Traffic Solutions, Inc.

8833 Perimeter Park Boulevard,

Suite 103

Jacksonville, FL 32216

Phone: (904) 619-3368

www.ctrafficsolutions.com

Clay County, Florida

Ayrshire CPA - Traffic Study

 

Figure 13 - Year 2025 AM and PM Peak Hour (Analysis Phase 01) Build-Out Traffic Volumes

 

LEGEND:

534 - AM Peak Hour Traffic

(923)
- PM Peak Hour Traffic

(0) 0

(12) 4

(720) 680

(210) 131

(
0
)
 
0

(
2
0
4
)
 
2
2
6

(
4
2
)
 
1
1

(
2
3
8
)
 
2
8
0

9
 
(
1
8
)

1
6
 
(
4
9
)

1
6
 
(
1
6
)

0
 
(
0
)

11 (18)

617 (1,001)

200 (353)

0 (0)

(0) 0

(14) 11

(28) 24

(48) 27

(
0
)
 
0

(
1
8
)
 
6
3

(
3
9
2
)
 
4
8
7

(
1
0
8
)
 
1
0
7

3
2
 
(
2
7
)

2
8
2
 
(
5
1
9
)

4
7
 
(
1
1
0
)

0
 
(
0
)

90 (92)

31 (19)

108 (160)

0 (0)

(1) 0

(493) 641

(413) 295

(34) 18

(
0
)
 
0

(
3
3
)
 
3
0

(
4
7
)
 
1
0
3

(
1
)
 
0

4
2
1
 
(
8
2
6
)

2
8
 
(
1
1
7
)

1
5
5
 
(
2
3
0
)

7
 
(
1
)

164 (207)

349 (449)

1 (4)

0 (0)

(0) 0

(11) 47

(202) 177

(0) 0

(
0
)
 
0

(
0
)
 
1

(
0
)
 
0

(
0
)
 
0

1
0
 
(
6
6
)

0
 
(
0
)

3
0
 
(
6
1
)

0
 
(
0
)

76 (48)

211 (244)

0 (0)

0 (0)

(0) 0

(506) 265

(9) 33

(
0
)
 
0

(
9
)
 
3
0

(
1
1
8
)
 
9
0

373 (404)

73 (108)

0 (0)

(127) 120

106 (117)

(0) 0

(98) 75

(114) 101

6 (22)

100 (95)

0 (0)

1
1
0
 
(
7
2
)

1
9
 
(
1
3
)

(628) 410

542 (613)

Page 73

Item #1.



US 17

N

C
o
o
k
s

L
n
.

F
e
r
r
i
s
 
S
t
.

S
.
R
.

1
6
 
W
.

S. Oakridge

Ave.

E
x
i
s
t
.

D
r
i
v
e
w
a
y

S
.
R
.
 
1
6
 
E
.

US 17

S
.
 
O
a
k
r
i
d
g
e

A
v
e
.

S
.
R
.
 
1
6
 
W
.

G
r
e
e
n

C
o
v
e

A
v
e
.

Ayrshire

Parkway

P
r
o
j
e
c
t

D
r
i
v
e
w
a
y

H
a
l
l

P
a
r
k
 
R
d
.

R
a
i
l
 
R
o
a
d

S
p
u
r

R
a
i
l
 
R
o
a
d

Rail Road

Chindalur Traffic Solutions, Inc.

8833 Perimeter Park Boulevard,

Suite 103

Jacksonville, FL 32216

Phone: (904) 619-3368

www.ctrafficsolutions.com

Clay County, Florida

Ayrshire CPA - Traffic Study

 

Figure 14 - Year 2027 AM and PM Peak Hour (Analysis Phase 02) Build-Out Traffic Volumes

 

LEGEND:

534 - AM Peak Hour Traffic

(923)
- PM Peak Hour Traffic

(0) 0

(12) 4

(808) 717

(185) 125

(
0
)
 
0

(
1
8
9
)
 
2
0
5

(
4
2
)
 
1
2

(
2
2
5
)
 
2
6
2

1
0
 
(
1
8
)

1
6
 
(
5
0
)

1
6
 
(
1
6
)

0
 
(
0
)

12 (18)

694 (1,053)

196 (330)

0 (0)

(0) 0

(14) 12

(29) 24

(49) 28

(
0
)
 
0

(
1
8
)
 
6
5

(
3
3
2
)
 
4
9
6

(
1
3
2
)
 
1
1
7

3
3
 
(
2
8
)

2
8
7
 
(
5
2
4
)

3
2
 
(
5
8
)

0
 
(
0
)

43 (61)

32 (19)

132 (174)

0 (0)

(1) 0

(482) 630

(501) 326

(32) 17

(
0
)
 
0

(
3
8
)
 
2
8

(
3
8
)
 
9
1

(
1
)
 
0

4
2
1
 
(
8
0
8
)

2
3
 
(
1
0
3
)

1
8
6
 
(
3
2
7
)

7
 
(
1
)

252 (264)

430 (503)

1 (4)

0 (0)

(0) 0

(11) 48

(195) 140

(0) 0

(
0
)
 
0

(
0
)
 
1

(
0
)
 
0

(
0
)
 
0

1
1
 
(
6
7
)

0
 
(
0
)

2
4
 
(
4
4
)

0
 
(
0
)

60 (39)

188 (228)

0 (0)

0 (0)

(0) 0

(531) 300

(10) 34

(
0
)
 
0

(
1
0
)
 
3
1

(
1
1
3
)
 
8
2

391 (442)

71 (98)

0 (0)

(123) 113

105 (108)

(0) 0

(73) 29

(116) 103

3 (11)

102 (97)

0 (0)

6
8
 
(
4
4
)

1
0
 
(
7
)

(654) 448

562 (653)

(0) 0

(5) 35

(630) 416

(179) 53

(
0
)
 
0

(
1
0
4
)
 
1
6
1

(
0
)
 
0

(
2
0
)
 
3
0

2
 
(
4
8
)

0
 
(
0
)

2
 
(
3
)

0
 
(
0
)

4 (1)

548 (617)

10 (34)

0 (1)

Page 74

Item #1.



US 17

N

C
o
o
k
s

L
n
.

F
e
r
r
i
s
 
S
t
.

S
.
R
.

1
6
 
W
.

S. Oakridge

Ave.

E
x
i
s
t
.

D
r
i
v
e
w
a
y

S
.
R
.
 
1
6
 
E
.

F
.
E
.
C
.

E
x
p
r
e
s
s
w
a
y

US 17

S
.
 
O
a
k
r
i
d
g
e

A
v
e
.

S
.
R
.
 
1
6
 
W
.

G
r
e
e
n

C
o
v
e

A
v
e
.

Ayrshire

Parkway

P
r
o
j
e
c
t

D
r
i
v
e
w
a
y

F

.

E

.

C

.

E

x

p

r

e

s

s

w

a

y

H
a
l
l

P
a
r
k
 
R
d
.

R
a
i
l
 
R
o
a
d

S
p
u
r

R
a
i
l
 
R
o
a
d

Rail Road

Chindalur Traffic Solutions, Inc.

8833 Perimeter Park Boulevard,

Suite 103

Jacksonville, FL 32216

Phone: (904) 619-3368

www.ctrafficsolutions.com

Clay County, Florida

Ayrshire CPA - Traffic Study

 

Figure 15 - Year 2030 AM and PM Peak Hour (Analysis Phase 03) Build-Out Traffic Volumes

 

LEGEND:

534 - AM Peak Hour Traffic

(923)
- PM Peak Hour Traffic

Numbers shown at First Coast Expressway and US 17 are for Project Traffic Only.

(0) 0

(12) 4

(946) 774

(203) 132

(
0
)
 
0

(
2
0
3
)
 
2
2
4

(
4
4
)
 
1
2

(
2
3
1
)
 
2
6
9

1
0
 
(
1
9
)

1
6
 
(
5
1
)

1
6
 
(
1
6
)

0
 
(
0
)

12 (19)

808 (1,143)

202 (339)

0 (0)

(0) 0

(14) 12

(29) 25

(50) 28

(
0
)
 
0

(
1
9
)
 
6
6

(
3
4
1
)
 
5
1
0

(
1
0
7
)
 
1
1
2

3
4
 
(
2
8
)

2
9
5
 
(
5
3
8
)

3
6
 
(
7
2
)

0
 
(
0
)

57 (71)

33 (20)

111 (164)

0 (0)

(1) 0

(25) 32

(1,807) 983

(46) 21

(
0
)
 
0

(
4
1
)
 
4
2

(
3
)
 
5

(
3
2
)
 
8
0

2
2
 
(
4
2
)

1
 
(
6
)

1
0
 
(
2
0
)

8
 
(
1
)

16 (16)

950 (1,367)

21 (94)

0 (0)

(0) 0

(11) 49

(180) 148

(0) 0

(
0
)
 
0

(
0
)
 
1

(
0
)
 
0

(
0
)
 
0

1
1
 
(
6
9
)

0
 
(
0
)

2
6
 
(
4
8
)

0
 
(
0
)

67 (42)

181 (227)

0 (0)

0 (0)

(0) 0

(526) 280

(10) 35

(
0
)
 
0

(
1
0
)
 
3
2

(
1
2
2
)
 
9
5

392 (423)

77 (112)

0 (0)

(0) 0

(34) 21

(142) 120

4 (14)

130 (115)

0 (0)

3
7
 
(
2
4
)

1
3
 
(
8
)

(0) 0

(5) 36

(922) 427

(196) 60

(
0
)
 
0

(
1
1
6
)
 
1
8
0

(
0
)
 
0

(
1
6
8
)
 
2
6
3

2
 
(
4
9
)

0
 
(
0
)

2
 
(
3
)

0
 
(
0
)

4 (1)

564 (1,309)

88 (287)

0 (1)

(0) 0

(619) 877

(425) 277

(50) 79

4
9
2
 
(
1
,
0
7
7
)

0
 
(
0
)

1
5
4
 
(
2
7
7
)

0
 
(
0
)

(
0
)
 
0

(
8
6
)
 
2
6

(
0
)
 
0

(
0
)
 
0

164 (204)

241 (231)

0 (0)

0 (0)

(0) 0

(23) 14

(127) 119

2
5
 
(
1
6
)

8
 
(
5
)

3 (9)

109 (113)

0 (0)

Page 75

Item #1.



US 17

N

C
o
o
k
s

L
n
.

F
e
r
r
i
s
 
S
t
.

S
.
R
.

1
6
 
W
.

S. Oakridge

Ave.

E
x
i
s
t
.

D
r
i
v
e
w
a
y

S
.
R
.
 
1
6
 
E
.

US 17

S
.
 
O
a
k
r
i
d
g
e

A
v
e
.

S
.
R
.
 
1
6
 
W
.

G
r
e
e
n

C
o
v
e

A
v
e
.

Ayrshire

Parkway

P
r
o
j
e
c
t

D
r
i
v
e
w
a
y

H
a
l
l

P
a
r
k
 
R
d
.

R
a
i
l
 
R
o
a
d

S
p
u
r

R
a
i
l
 
R
o
a
d

Rail Road

F
.
E
.
C
.

E
x
p
r
e
s
s
w
a
y

F

.

E

.

C

.

E

x

p

r

e

s

s

w

a

y

Chindalur Traffic Solutions, Inc.

8833 Perimeter Park Boulevard,

Suite 103

Jacksonville, FL 32216

Phone: (904) 619-3368

www.ctrafficsolutions.com

Clay County, Florida

Ayrshire CPA - Traffic Study

 

Figure 16 - Year 2035 AM and PM Peak Hour (Analysis Phase 04) Build-Out Traffic Volumes

 

LEGEND:

534 - AM Peak Hour Traffic

(923)
- PM Peak Hour Traffic

Numbers shown at First Coast Expressway and US 17 are for Project Traffic Only.

(0) 0

(13) 5

(1,151) 866

(231) 145

(
0
)
 
0

(
2
2
4
)
 
2
5
3

(
4
6
)
 
1
3

(
2
4
4
)
 
2
8
4

1
0
 
(
2
0
)

1
7
 
(
5
4
)

1
7
 
(
1
7
)

0
 
(
0
)

13 (20)

992 (1,285)

213 (358)

0 (0)

(0) 0

(15) 13

(31) 26

(53) 30

(
0
)
 
0

(
2
0
)
 
7
0

(
3
6
0
)
 
5
3
8

(
1
2
6
)
 
1
2
2

3
6
 
(
3
0
)

3
1
2
 
(
5
6
8
)

4
4
 
(
9
3
)

0
 
(
0
)

77 (85)

35 (21)

130 (180)

0 (0)

(1) 0

(26) 34

(1,284) 1,081

(65) 28

(
0
)
 
0

(
5
4
)
 
6
1

(
3
)
 
5

(
3
4
)
 
8
4

2
3
 
(
4
4
)

1
 
(
7
)

1
3
 
(
2
7
)

8
 
(
1
)

22 (19)

1,142 (1,520)

22 (100)

0 (0)

(0) 0

(12) 52

(213) 177

(0) 0

(
0
)
 
0

(
0
)
 
1

(
0
)
 
0

(
0
)
 
0

1
2
 
(
7
2
)

0
 
(
0
)

3
3
 
(
6
8
)

0
 
(
0
)

87 (55)

221 (257)

0 (0)

0 (0)

(0) 0

(557) 297

(10) 37

(
0
)
 
0

(
1
0
)
 
3
3

(
1
3
9
)
 
1
1
7

414 (447)

87 (134)

0 (0)

(0) 0

(61) 38

(165) 136

8 (24)

156 (132)

0 (0)

6
7
 
(
4
2
)

2
3
 
(
1
4
)

(0) 0

(6) 38

(974) 1,021

(349) 109

(
0
)
 
0

(
2
0
4
)
 
3
3
5

(
0
)
 
0

(
2
9
9
)
 
4
8
9

2
 
(
5
2
)

0
 
(
0
)

2
 
(
3
)

0
 
(
0
)

5 (1)

877 (1,381)

159 (508)

0 (1)

(0) 0

(737) 1,072

(451) 294

(89) 146

5
6
5
 
(
1
,
2
7
9
)

0
 
(
0
)

1
6
3
 
(
2
3
9
)

0
 
(
0
)

(
0
)
 
0

(
1
5
2
)
 
4
8

(
0
)
 
0

(
0
)
 
0

173 (215)

255 (245)

0 (0)

0 (0)

(0) 0

(40) 25

(139) 134

4
5
 
(
2
8
)

1
6
 
(
1
0
)

5 (16)

119 (128)

0 (0)

Page 76

Item #1.



Table 01

Trip Generation

Ayrshire PUD, City of Green Cove Springs, FL

ITE Land Time Rate or

Use Code Description Quantity Units Period Equation Entering Exiting Total Entering Exiting

Year 2025 (Analysis Phase 01)

210 Single Family Home Detatched 231             Dwelling Daily Ln(T) = 0.92 Ln(X) + 2.71 50% 50% 2,246       1,123    1,123   

Units AM Peak T = 0.71(X) + 4.80 25% 75% 169          42          127       

PM Peak Ln(T) = 0.96 Ln(X) + 0.20 63% 37% 227          143        84          

Year 2027 (Analysis Phase 02)

210 Single Family Home Detatched 500             Dwelling Daily Ln(T) = 0.92 Ln(X) + 2.71 50% 50% 4,571       2,286    2,285   

Units AM Peak T = 0.71(X) + 4.80 25% 75% 360          90          270       

PM Peak Ln(T) = 0.96 Ln(X) + 0.20 63% 37% 476          300        176       

1682

Year 2030 (Analysis Phase 03)

210 Single Family Home Detatched 1,000          Dwelling Daily Ln(T) = 0.92 Ln(X) + 2.71 50% 50% 8,648       4,324    4,324   

Units AM Peak T = 0.71(X) + 4.80 25% 75% 715          179        536       

PM Peak Ln(T) = 0.96 Ln(X) + 0.20 63% 37% 927          584        343       

Year 2035 (Analysis Phase 04)

210 Single Family Home Detatched 1,470          Dwelling Daily Ln(T) = 0.92 Ln(X) + 2.71 50% 50% 12,327     6,164    6,163   

Units AM Peak T = 0.71(X) + 4.80 25% 75% 1,049       262        787       

PM Peak Ln(T) = 0.96 Ln(X) + 0.20 63% 37% 1,341       845        496       

221 Multi‐Family Residential (Low‐rise) 630             Units Daily T = 7.56(X) ‐ 40.86 50% 50% 4,722       2,361    2,361   

Units AM Peak Ln(T) = 0.95 Ln(X) ‐ 0.51 23% 77% 274          63          211       

Units PM Peak Ln(T) = 0.89 Ln(X) ‐ 0.02 63% 37% 304          192        112       

17,049     8,525    8,524   

1,323       325        998       

1,645       1,037    608       

Source: Trip Generation Manual, 10th Edition, ITE

Percent Traffic Project Trips

Chindalur Traffic Solutions, Inc. 06/29/2021
Page 77

Item #1.



Table 02

Trends Growth Rate Calculations

Ayrshire PUD, City of Green Cove Springs, FL

Historic Future

Roadway AADT Growth Rate Growth Rate

Oak Ridge Avenue 2,200           1.19% 0.91%

SR 16 East of US 17 17,900         1.75% 1.57%

SR 16 West of Oak Ridge 14,100         6.03% 4.99%

SR 16 West of US 17 12,300         3.21% 2.76%

US 17 North of SR 16 E 19,200         ‐1.26% ‐1.26%

US 17 North of SR 16 W 22,500         0.00% 0.00%

US 17 South of SR 16 E 15,000         3.41% 2.98%

US 17 South of SR 16W 19,400         ‐2.22% ‐2.39%

0.01% 0.01%

Source: Attachment C

Chindalur Traffic Solutions, Inc. 06/29/2021
Page 78

Item #1.



Table 03

Existing Conditions ‐ HCM Delay and LOS Summary

Ayrshire PUD ‐ Traffic Study, City of Green Cove Springs, FL

Signal 95%ile 95%ile

Intersection Approach Control Delay LOS Queue (Feet) Delay LOS Queue (Feet)

SR 16 W at Oak Ridge Avenue Intersection Signal 37.50 D 34.20 C

EB Signal 49.40 D 27.90 C

WB Signal 25.50 C 42.30 D

NB Signal 30.10 C 28.60 C

SB Signal 26.40 C 24.00 C

SR 16 W / Ferris Ave. at US 17 Intersection Signal 33.00 C 130.10 F

EB Signal 56.40 E 37.20 D

WB Signal 46.90 D 40.00 D

NB Signal 21.70 C 216.40 F

SB Signal 29.50 C 48.70 D

SR 16 E / Cooks Ln. at US 17 Intersection Signal 35.00 C 38.80 D

EB Signal 46.90 D 47.20 D

WB Signal 26.50 C 40.00 D

NB Signal 44.60 D 48.30 D

SB Signal 33.60 C 28.90 C

US 17 at Hall Park Road SBL Yield 9.00 A 25                    9.30 A 25                   

WB Stop 18.60 A 25                    11.90 B 25                   

Oak Ridge Avenue at Green Cove Avenue SBL Yield 7.80 A 25                    10.90 B ‐                  

WB Stop 11.80 B 25                    7.70 A 25                   

US 17 at Oak Ridge Avenue NBL Yield 8.70 A 25                    9.00 A 25                   

EB Stop 13.40 B 25                    12.30 B 25                   

Source: Attachment H

AM Peak PM Peak

Chindalur Traffic Solutions, Inc. 06/29/2021
Page 79

Item #1.



Table 04

Year 2025 Background Conditions ‐ HCM Delay and LOS Summary

Ayrshire PUD ‐ Traffic Study, City of Green Cove Springs, FL

Signal 95%ile 95%ile

Intersection Approach Control Delay LOS Queue (Feet) Delay LOS Queue (Feet)

SR 16 W at Oak Ridge Avenue Intersection Signal 40.80 D 34.70 C

EB Signal 56.00 E 27.80 C

WB Signal 25.70 C 43.20 D

NB Signal 30.60 C 29.20 C

SB Signal 26.50 C 24.10 C

SR 16 W / Ferris Ave. at US 17 Intersection Signal 33.50 C 141.90 F

EB Signal 55.60 E 37.40 D

WB Signal 47.70 D 40.30 D

NB Signal 22.50 C 237.90 F

SB Signal 30.40 C 52.10 D

SR 16 E / Cooks Ln. at US 17 Intersection Signal 35.40 D 40.90 D

EB Signal 47.10 D 47.80 D

WB Signal 27.20 C 44.40 D

NB Signal 45.20 D 49.30 D

SB Signal 33.90 C 29.10 C

US 17 at Hall Park Road SBL Yield 9.00 A 25                    9.40 A 25                   

WB Stop 18.60 C 25                    12.10 B 25                   

Oak Ridge Avenue at Green Cove Avenue SBL Yield 7.80 A 25                    7.80 A ‐                  

WB Stop 12.00 B 25                    11.00 B 25                   

US 17 at Oak Ridge Avenue NBL Yield 8.70 A 25                    9.10 A 25                   

EB Stop 13.40 B 25                    12.50 B 25                   

Source: Attachment H

AM Peak PM Peak

Chindalur Traffic Solutions, Inc. 06/29/2021
Page 80

Item #1.



Table 05

Year 2027 Background Conditions ‐ HCM Delay and LOS Summary

Ayrshire PUD ‐ Traffic Study, City of Green Cove Springs, FL

Signal 95%ile 95%ile

Intersection Approach Control Delay LOS Queue (Feet) Delay LOS Queue (Feet)

SR 16 W at Oak Ridge Avenue Intersection Signal 42.90 D 35.00 D

EB Signal 60.30 E 27.80 C

WB Signal 26.00 C 43.80 D

NB Signal 30.90 C 29.50 C

SB Signal 26.60 C 24.10 C

SR 16 W / Ferris Ave. at US 17 Intersection Signal 33.80 C 148.10 F

EB Signal 55.20 E 37.40 D

WB Signal 47.70 D 40.40 D

NB Signal 23.00 C 249.30 F

SB Signal 30.90 C 54.00 D

SR 16 E / Cooks Ln. at US 17 Intersection Signal 35.70 D 42.30 D

EB Signal 47.30 D 48.10 D

WB Signal 27.50 C 47.40 D

NB Signal 45.40 D 49.80 D

SB Signal 34.10 C 29.20 C

US 17 at Hall Park Road SBL Yield 9.10 A 25                    9.50 A 25                   

WB Stop 19.90 C 25                    12.20 B 25                   

Oak Ridge Avenue at Green Cove Avenue SBL Yield 7.90 A 25                    7.80 A ‐                  

WB Stop 12.10 B 25                    11.10 B 25                   

US 17 at Oak Ridge Avenue NBL Yield 8.80 A 25                    9.10 A 25                   

EB Stop 13.90 B 25                    12.80 B 25                   

Source: Attachment H

AM Peak PM Peak

Chindalur Traffic Solutions, Inc. 06/29/2021
Page 81

Item #1.



Table 06

Year 2030 Background Conditions ‐ HCM Delay and LOS Summary

Ayrshire PUD ‐ Traffic Study, City of Green Cove Springs, FL

Signal 95%ile 95%ile

Intersection Approach Control Delay LOS Queue (Feet) Delay LOS Queue (Feet)

SR 16 W at Oak Ridge Avenue Intersection Signal 46.40 D 35.60 D

EB Signal 67.10 E 27.80 C

WB Signal 26.40 C 44.80 D

NB Signal 31.30 C 30.20 C

SB Signal 26.60 C 24.20 C

SR 16 W / Ferris Ave. at US 17 Intersection Signal 34.50 C 158.10 F

EB Signal 54.90 D 37.60 D

WB Signal 47.80 D 40.50 D

NB Signal 24.30 C 267.00 F

SB Signal 31.70 C 57.90 E

SR 16 E / Cooks Ln. at US 17 Intersection Signal 29.40 C 44.30 D

EB Signal 49.90 D 52.80 D

WB Signal 30.70 C 29.10 C

NB Signal 27.80 C 48.00 D

SB Signal 28.20 C 37.80 D

US 17 at Hall Park Road SBL Yield 53.50 F 25                    14.20 B 25                   

WB Stop 10.70 B 25                    24.40 C 50                   

Oak Ridge Avenue at Green Cove Avenue SBL Yield 7.90 A 25                    7.80 A ‐                  

WB Stop 12.30 B 25                    11.20 B 25                   

US 17 at Oak Ridge Avenue NBL Yield 8.90 A 25                    9.20 A 25                   

EB Stop 14.20 B 25                    12.90 B 25                   

Source: Attachment H

AM Peak PM Peak

Chindalur Traffic Solutions, Inc. 06/29/2021
Page 82

Item #1.



Table 07

Year 2035 Background Conditions ‐ HCM Delay and LOS Summary

Ayrshire PUD ‐ Traffic Study, City of Green Cove Springs, FL

Signal 95%ile 95%ile

Intersection Approach Control Delay LOS Queue (Feet) Delay LOS Queue (Feet)

SR 16 W at Oak Ridge Avenue Intersection Signal 53.70 D 37.00 D

EB Signal 81.70 F 28.00 C

WB Signal 27.20 C 47.30 D

NB Signal 31.90 C 31.50 C

SB Signal 26.90 C 24.30 C

SR 16 W / Ferris Ave. at US 17 Intersection Signal 35.80 D 174.90 F

EB Signal 54.00 D 37.90 D

WB Signal 48.20 D 40.80 D

NB Signal 26.60 C 295.70 F

SB Signal 33.30 C 66.00 E

SR 16 E / Cooks Ln. at US 17 Intersection Signal 30.00 C 47.70 D

EB Signal 50.40 D 66.20 E

WB Signal 30.80 C 30.60 C

NB Signal 28.50 C 48.30 D

SB Signal 28.80 C 44.90 D

US 17 at Hall Park Road SBL Yield 11.10 B 25                    15.00 B 25                   

WB Stop 66.40 F 25                    27.80 D 50                   

Oak Ridge Avenue at Green Cove Avenue SBL Yield 7.90 A 25                    7.80 A ‐                  

WB Stop 12.50 B 25                    11.50 B 25                   

US 17 at Oak Ridge Avenue NBL Yield 9.00 A 25                    9.30 A 25                   

EB Stop 14.70 B 50                    13.20 B 25                   

Source: Attachment H

AM Peak PM Peak

Chindalur Traffic Solutions, Inc. 06/29/2021
Page 83

Item #1.



Table 08

Year 2025 (Analysis Phase 01) Development Conditions ‐ HCM Delay and LOS Summary

Ayrshire PUD ‐ Traffic Study, City of Green Cove Springs, FL

Signal 95%ile 95%ile

Intersection Approach Control Delay LOS Queue (Feet) Delay LOS Queue (Feet)

SR 16 W at Oak Ridge Avenue Intersection Signal 36.20 D 35.50 D

EB Signal 45.80 D 33.60 C

WB Signal 23.40 C 40.80 D

NB Signal 31.80 C 29.90 C

SB Signal 25.10 C 23.20 C

SR 16 W / Ferris Ave. at US 17 Intersection Signal 31.60 C 133.70 F

EB Signal 52.60 E 37.60 D

WB Signal 45.80 D 39.40 D

NB Signal 21.00 C 220.70 F

SB Signal 28.30 C 64.70 E

SR 16 E / Cooks Ln. at US 17 Intersection Signal 34.90 C 42.00 D

EB Signal 50.30 D 49.50 D

WB Signal 25.40 C 48.50 D

NB Signal 43.70 D 47.60 D

SB Signal 34.00 C 29.40 C

US 17 at Hall Park Road SBL Yield 8.80 A 25                    9.50 A 25                   

WB Stop 14.30 B ‐                   12.00 B 25                   

Oak Ridge Avenue at Green Cove Avenue SBL Yield 8.00 A 25                    7.90 A ‐                  

WB Stop 12.30 B 25                    13.10 B 25                   

US 17 at Oak Ridge Avenue NBL Yield 8.50 A 25                    9.20 A 25                   

EB Stop 12.00 B 25                    12.20 B 25                   

Oak Ridge Avenue at Ayrshire Boulevard SBL Yield 7.6 A 25                    7.7 A 25                   

WBL Stop 11.4 B 25                    12.1 B 25                   

WBR Stop 9.4 A 25                    9.2 A 25                   

Source: Attachment H

AM Peak PM Peak

Chindalur Traffic Solutions, Inc. 06/29/2021
Page 84

Item #1.



Table 09

Year 2027 (Analysis Phase 02) Development Conditions ‐ HCM Delay and LOS Summary

Ayrshire PUD ‐ Traffic Study, City of Green Cove Springs, FL

Signal 95%ile 95%ile

Intersection Approach Control Delay LOS Queue (Feet) Delay LOS Queue (Feet)

SR 16 W at Oak Ridge Avenue Intersection Signal 37.20 D 37.10 D

EB Signal 47.80 D 37.20 D

WB Signal 22.90 C 42.40 D

NB Signal 30.60 C 29.00 C

SB Signal 25.10 C 23.20 C

SR 16 W / Ferris Ave. at US 17 Intersection Signal 32.20 C 96.70 F

EB Signal 55.70 E 38.20 D

WB Signal 45.70 D 46.80 D

NB Signal 22.00 C 157.50 F

SB Signal 29.00 C 42.40 E

SR 16 E / Cooks Ln. at US 17 Intersection Signal 37.30 D 45.00 D

EB Signal 49.10 D 48.90 D

WB Signal 27.80 C 53.30 D

NB Signal 49.60 D 48.40 D

SB Signal 33.40 C 32.00 C

US 17 at Ayrshire Boulevard/Hall Park Road Intersection Signal 13.50 B 13.00 B

EB Signal 15.00 B 16.00 B

WB Signal 20.40 C 22.00 C

NB Signal 14.50 B 11.90 B

SB Signal 11.70 B 13.90 B

Oak Ridge Avenue at Green Cove Avenue SBL Yield 7.90 A 25                    7.90 A ‐                  

WB Stop 12.00 B 25                    13.10 B 25                   

Oak Ridge Avenue at Ayrshire Boulevard SBL Yield 7.5 A 25                    7.7 A 25                   

WBL Stop 10.3 B 25                    12.1 B 25                   

WBR Stop 9.2 A 25                    9.2 A 25                   

US 17 at Oak Ridge Avenue NBL Yield 8.70 A 25                    9.20 A 25                   

EB Stop 12.40 B 25                    12.20 B 25                   

Source: Attachment H

AM Peak PM Peak

Chindalur Traffic Solutions, Inc. 06/29/2021
Page 85

Item #1.



Table 10

Year 2030 (Analysis Phase 03) Development Conditions ‐ HCM Delay and LOS Summary

Ayrshire PUD ‐ Traffic Study, City of Green Cove Springs, FL

Signal 95%ile 95%ile

Intersection Approach Control Delay LOS Queue (Feet) Delay LOS Queue (Feet)

SR 16 W at Oak Ridge Avenue Intersection Signal 37.60 D 35.80 D

EB Signal 48.60 D 33.20 D

WB Signal 22.90 C 42.40 D

NB Signal 30.30 C 29.00 C

SB Signal 25.10 C 23.30 C

SR 16 W / Ferris Ave. at US 17 Intersection Signal 32.90 C 173.20 F

EB Signal 53.80 D 37.70 D

WB Signal 45.70 D 39.60 D

NB Signal 24.00 C 245.60 F

SB Signal 30.70 C 145.20 F

SR 16 E / Cooks Ln. at US 17 Intersection Signal 30.50 D 44.50 D

EB Signal 50.50 D 46.70 D

WB Signal 30.60 C 29.70 C

NB Signal 28.60 C 47.10 D

SB Signal 29.90 C 41.80 D

US 17 at Ayrshire Boulevard/Hall Park Road Intersection Signal 14.00 B 15.70 B

EB Signal 23.30 C 25.40 C

WB Signal 25.50 C 31.60 C

NB Signal 10.90 B 15.80 B

SB Signal 12.80 B 12.50 B

Oak Ridge Avenue at Green Cove Avenue SBL Yield 7.90 A 25                    7.80 A ‐                  

WB Stop 12.10 B 25                    12.20 B 25                   

Oak Ridge Avenue at Ayrshire Boulevard SBL Yield 7.5 A 25                    7.6 A 25                   

WBL Stop 10.5 B 25                    10.9 B 25                   

WBR Stop 9.2 A 25                    9 A 25                   

Oak Ridge Avenue at Jersey Avenue SBL Yield 7.50 A 25                    7.50 A 25                   

WB Stop 9.70 A 25                    9.40 A 25                   

US 17 at Oak Ridge Avenue NBL Yield 8.60 A 25                    9.30 A 25                   

EB Stop 12.40 B 25                    12.50 B 25                   

Source: Attachment H

AM Peak PM Peak

Chindalur Traffic Solutions, Inc. 06/29/2021
Page 86

Item #1.



Table 11

Year 2035 (Analysis Phase 04) Development Conditions ‐ HCM Delay and LOS Summary

Ayrshire PUD ‐ Traffic Study, City of Green Cove Springs, FL

Signal 95%ile 95%ile

Intersection Approach Control Delay LOS Queue (Feet) Delay LOS Queue (Feet)

SR 16 W at Oak Ridge Avenue Intersection Signal 42.60 D 37.20 D

EB Signal 58.20 E 35.70 D

WB Signal 22.90 C 43.10 D

NB Signal 32.50 C 30.70 C

SB Signal 25.30 C 23.40 C

SR 16 W / Ferris Ave. at US 17 Intersection Signal 35.90 D 241.00 F

EB Signal 51.90 D 38.20 D

WB Signal 46.20 D 39.80 D

NB Signal 29.40 C 305.50 F

SB Signal 34.60 C 251.70 F

SR 16 E / Cooks Ln. at US 17 Intersection Signal 33.60 C 33.50 D

EB Signal 53.00 D 64.20 E

WB Signal 30.90 C 38.00 D

NB Signal 33.10 C 35.40 D

SB Signal 31.60 C 29.10 C

US 17 at Ayrshire Boulevard/Hall Park Road Intersection Signal 31.00 C 55.70 E

EB Signal 42.80 D 72.90 E

WB Signal 38.40 D 65.20 E

NB Signal 23.50 C 39.20 D

SB Signal 29.30 C 72.30 E

Oak Ridge Avenue at Green Cove Avenue SBL Yield 7.70 A 25                    8.00 A ‐                  

WB Stop 11.20 B 25                    13.80 B 50                   

Oak Ridge Avenue at Ayrshire Boulevard SBL Yield 7.7 A 25                    7.7 A 25                   

WBL Stop 11.4 B 25                    12 B 25                   

WBR Stop 9.5 A 25                    9.3 A 25                   

Oak Ridge Avenue at Jersey Avenue SBL Yield 7.50 A 25                    7.60 A 25                   

WB Stop 9.70 A 25                    9.80 A 25                   

US 17 at Oak Ridge Avenue NBL Yield 8.70 A 25                    9.60 A 25                   

EB Stop 12.80 B 25                    13.10 B 50                   

Source: Attachment H

AM Peak PM Peak

Chindalur Traffic Solutions, Inc. 06/29/2021
Page 87

Item #1.



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  Attachment A
Conceptual Site Plan

(Source: Dunn and Associates, Inc.)

Page 88

Item #1.



Ayrshire_School Proportionate Share Mitigation 
Agreement.DOCX

-1-

SCHOOL CONCURRENCY PROPORTIONATE SHARE MITIGATION 
AGREEMENT 

(Ayrshire)

THIS SCHOOL CONCURRENCY PROPORTIONATE SHARE MITIGATION 
AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is made by and among CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, a 
municipal corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of Florida, whose 
address is 321 Walnut Street, Green Cove Springs, Florida 32043 (the “City”); CLAY 
COUNTY DISTRICT SCHOOLS, a body corporate and political subdivision of the State of 
Florida, whose address is 900 Walnut Street, Green Cove Springs, Florida 32043 (hereinafter 
referred to as “School District”); and D.R. HORTON, INC. – JACKSONVILLE, a Delaware 
corporation, whose address is 4220 Race Track Road, St. Johns, Florida 32259 (hereinafter referred 
to as the “Developer”).

RECITALS:

WHEREAS, Developer is the contract purchaser of that certain tract of land being 
approximately 561 acres located in the City of Green Cove Springs, being a portion of Clay 
County Parcel Identification No. 38-06-26-016515-000-00 as more particularly described on 
Exhibit “A” attached hereto incorporated herein by this reference (the “Property”). The 
location of the Property described in Exhibit “A” is illustrated with a map appearing in Exhibit 
“B”; and further described in the School Concurrency Reservation Certificate application 
entitled Ayrshire/Gustafson’s Dairy; and

WHEREAS, the Applicant has submitted an application for a development proposal 
seeking approval to develop a maximum of 2,100 residential dwelling units on the Property, 
hereinafter referred to as the “Development Proposal”; and

WHEREAS, the City and the School District have adopted and implemented a public 
school concurrency management system to assure the future availability of public school 
facilities to serve new development consistent with level of service standards (“Level of 
Service” and “Level of Service Standards”) consistent with the terms of the current Interlocal 
Agreement for Coordinated Planning, Public Educational Facility Siting and Review and School 
Concurrency in Clay County between the School District, the Clay County Board of County 
Commissioners and the local governments, including the City (the “Interlocal Agreement”), 
and the public school facilities and capital improvement elements of the respective 
comprehensive plans (individually, “Element”; plural, “Elements”); and

WHEREAS, at the time of this Agreement, adequate elementary and high school 
capacity is available to accommodate the elementary and high school students the Development 
Proposal is anticipated to generate by the Development Proposal; and

WHEREAS, at the adopted Level of Service standards, (i) adequate school capacity is 
not available for seventy-one (71) junior high students generated by the Development Proposal at 
the Level of Service Standard within the school concurrency services area or areas 
(“Concurrency Service Area”; “Concurrency Service Areas”) in which the Development 

Page 89

Item #1.



Ayrshire_School Proportionate Share Mitigation 
Agreement.DOCX

-2-

Proposal is located, to accommodate the anticipated number of public school students that the 
Development Proposal will generate; (ii) the needed junior high school capacity for the 
applicable Concurrency Service Area or Concurrency Service Areas within which the 
Development Proposal is located is also not available in any contiguous Concurrency Service 
Areas; and (iii) available junior high school capacity will not be in place or under actual 
construction within three (3) years after the approval of the Development Proposal; and

WHEREAS, authorizing these new residential dwelling units without the mitigation 
provided for in this Agreement would result in a failure of the Level of Service Standard for 
public school facilities in one or more applicable Concurrency Service Areas, or will exacerbate 
existing deficiencies in Level of Service; and

WHEREAS, the Parties agree that public school concurrency shall be satisfied by the 
Applicant’s execution of this legally binding Agreement to provide mitigation proportionate to 
the demand for public school facilities to be created by these new residential dwelling units 
(“Proportionate Share Mitigation”); and

WHEREAS, the Parties further agree that the appropriate Proportionate Share Mitigation 
option necessary to satisfy public school concurrency is payment of Proportionate Share 
Mitigation in the amount of $1,967,552.00 for the Development Proposal, or $936.93 per 
dwelling unit, as more specifically depicted or described herein; and

WHEREAS, the purpose of this Agreement is to set forth the terms and conditions upon 
which the Developer shall pay funds as Proportionate Share Mitigation for the Property impacts 
on K-12 educational facilities under control of the School District. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing described Proportionate Share 
Mitigation, the mutual covenants contained herein, and other good and valuable consideration, 
the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties hereto, intending to be 
legally bound, hereby agree as follows:

1. INCORPORATION OF RECITALS. The foregoing recitals are true and 
correct and are hereby incorporated into this Agreement by this reference as if fully set forth 
herein.

2. PARTIES. The City, the School District and the Developer shall be collectively 
referred to as the “Parties.”

3. LEGALLY BINDING COMMITMENT. The Parties agree that this Agreement 
constitutes a legally binding commitment by the Developer to provide Proportionate Share 
Mitigation for the new residential dwelling units sought to be approved by City in the 
Development Proposal for the Property.

4. PROPORTIONATE SHARE MITIGATION. The Parties agree that the 
payment of Proportionate Share Mitigation in the total amount of
$1,967,552.00 for the Development Proposal, or $936.93 per dwelling unit, is an appropriate 
Proportionate Share Mitigation option necessary to maintain the Level of Service Standard for 
school capacity in the affected Concurrency Service Area or Concurrency Service Areas. Upon 

Page 90

Item #1.



Ayrshire_School Proportionate Share Mitigation 
Agreement.DOCX

-3-

the final execution of this Agreement, the School District shall issue a revised School 
Concurrency Determination showing adequate mitigation. The duration and effect of this School 
Concurrency Determination shall be in accordance with the Interlocal Agreement and the Public 
School Facilities Element. However, in no event shall this School Concurrency Determination, 
or any capacity reservation based on this Determination, continue to be effective if the Developer 
fails to perform its obligations under this Agreement. Conversely, once the Developer has 
completely performed its obligations under this Agreement, the Developer shall be entitled to 
rely on the School Concurrency Determination and capacity reservation to the extent of the 
capacity provided by the Proportionate Share Mitigation and once the Developer has completely 
performed its obligations under this Agreement, such right of reliance shall survive the 
expiration of this Agreement.

5. TIMING. The Parties agree that the Proportionate Share Mitigation shall occur at 
the time of, and be a condition for the issue by City of, final plat approval for each lot within the 
Property. For example, if a plat contains 100 lots, the Developer shall pay $93,693.00 (100 lots 
times $936.93 per lot) in Proportionate Share Mitigation prior to the City’s approval of such plat.  
Each payment shall be made directly to the School District.

6. IMPACT FEE CREDIT. As consideration for the Developer’s Proportionate 
Share Mitigation specified herein, the Parties agree that the City shall provide a credit of 
$1,967,552.00 for the Development Proposal, or $936.93 per dwelling unit, toward any school 
impact fee or exaction imposed by ordinance of the City or Clay County for the same need. 
Should the school impact fee or exaction be greater than the above-described credit, the 
Developer shall pay the difference at the time school impact fees are due. The Developer shall 
provide a school impact fee voucher substantially in the form of “Exhibit C” to the City and/or 
County, at the time of impact fee payment. Should the school impact fee or exaction be less, the 
Developer shall not be entitled to the use of any excess credits. Should school impact fees be pre-
paid in order to extend the Final Certificate of Concurrency, any remaining balance due on the 
Proportionate Share Mitigation shall be paid at the time of final subdivision approval. Provided, 
however nothing in this Agreement shall be deemed to require the City to continue to levy or 
collect School Impact Fees, or, if levied, to levy them for any certain amount.

7. SCHOOL CAPACITY IMPROVEMENT. The School District agrees to apply 
the Proportionate Share Mitigation contributed by the Developer toward a school capacity 
improvement which will be added to the planned capital improvements in the Five Year District 
Facilities Work Plan at the time of its next annual update, and which satisfies the demands 
created by the Development Proposal in accordance with this Agreement.

8. NO GUARANTEE OF LAND USE/ZONING. Nothing in this Agreement shall 
require the City to approve any Land Use Amendment or Rezoning application associated with 
the Property.

9. EFFECTIVE DATE. This Agreement shall become effective on the date it is 
recorded in the Public Records of Clay County, Florida (the “Effective Date”). If this Agreement 
is not executed by the Developer and delivered to the City within thirty (30) days after the latter 
of City or School District approval of this Agreement, this Agreement shall become void.

Page 91

Item #1.



Ayrshire_School Proportionate Share Mitigation 
Agreement.DOCX

-4-

10. TERM. This Agreement shall expire upon the Parties' completion of their 
performance of all obligations herein.

11. STATUTORY COMPLIANCE. The Parties agree that this Agreement satisfies 
the requirements for a binding Proportionate Share Mitigation Agreement in Section 
163.3180(6)(h), Florida Statutes.

12. NOTICES. Whenever any of the Parties desire to give notice to the other, such 
notice must be in writing, sent by U.S. Mail, postage prepaid, addressed to the party for whom it 
is intended at the place last specified. The place for giving of notice shall remain such until it is 
changed by written notice in compliance with the provisions of this paragraph. Until otherwise 
designated by amendment to this Agreement, the Parties designate the following as the 
respective places for giving notice:

TO THE CITY:

WITH COPIES TO:

City Manager
City of Green Cove Springs
321 Walnut Street
Green Cove Springs, Florida 32043

Jim Arnold, Attorney
City of Green Cove Springs
321 Walnut Street
Green Cove Springs, Florida 32043
cityattorney@greencovesprings.com

FOR SCHOOL DISTRICT: James Fossa
Coordinator of Planning and 
Intergovernmental Affairs
Clay County District Schools
900 Walnut Street
Green Cove Springs, Florida 32043

FOR DEVELOPER:

WITH COPIES TO:

D.R. Horton, Inc. – Jacksonville
Attn: John R. Gislason
4220 Race Track Road
St. Johns, Florida 32259

Ellen Avery-Smith, Esq.
Rogers Towers, P.A.
100 Whetstone Place, Suite 200
St. Augustine, Florida 32086

13. RELEASE. Upon the performance of all obligations of all Parties hereto, the 
School District shall release the Developer from this Agreement, and the Developer shall release 
the School District and the City from any and all future claims, costs or liabilities arising out of 

Page 92

Item #1.



Ayrshire_School Proportionate Share Mitigation 
Agreement.DOCX

-5-

the provision of Proportionate Share Mitigation in accordance with this Agreement. These 
releases shall be recorded at the Developer's expense in the Official Records of Clay County, 
Florida, evidencing such performance.

14. DEFAULT. If any party to this Agreement materially defaults under the terms 
hereof, then the City shall give the defaulting party thirty (30) days’ notice and a right to cure 
such breach. Should the Developer of the property described herein fail to timely cure a default 
in meeting their obligations set forth herein, its Concurrency certificate, issued based upon 
payment and/or performance hereunder, shall be voided and that Developer and the property 
described herein shall lose their right to concurrency under this Agreement and their right to 
School Impact Fee credits under this Agreement. Further, in the case of such default, any 
development upon that property dependent upon such certificate will be stopped, until and unless 
the agreement is reinstated or the default is cured or capacity becomes available and is granted 
through an appropriate application. Should City or School District fail to timely cure a default in 
meeting their obligations set forth herein, Developer may seek any and all remedies available to 
it in law or equity.

15. VENUE; CHOICE OF LAW. Any controversies or legal issues arising out of 
this Agreement, and any action involving the enforcement or interpretation of any rights 
hereunder, shall be submitted to the jurisdiction of the Circuit Court of Clay County, Florida, the 
venue sitis, and shall be governed by the laws of the State of Florida.

16. CAPTIONS and PARAGRAPH HEADINGS. Captions and paragraph 
headings contained in this Agreement are for convenience and reference only. They in no way 
define, describe, extend or limit the scope or intent of this Agreement.

17. NO WAIVER. No waiver of any provision of this Agreement shall be effective 
unless it is in writing, and signed by the party against whom it is asserted. Any such written 
waiver shall only be applicable to the specific instance to which it relates, and shall not be 
deemed to be a continuing or future waiver.

18. EXHIBITS. All Exhibits attached hereto contain additional tents of this 
Agreement and are incorporated herein by reference.

19. FURTHER ASSURANCES. The Parties hereby agree to execute, acknowledge 
and deliver and cause to be done, executed, acknowledged and delivered all further assurances 
and to perform such acts as shall reasonably be requested of them in order to carry out this 
Agreement.

20. AMENDMENTS. No modification, amendment, or alteration in the terms or 
conditions contained herein shall be effective, unless contained in a written document prepared 
with the same or similar formality as this Agreement and executed by all the Parties to this 
Agreement.

21. ASSIGNMENT. This Agreement runs with the land. The Developer may assign 
its rights, obligations and responsibilities under this Agreement to a third-party purchaser of all 
or any part of fee simple title to the Property. Any such assignment shall be in writing and shall 
require the prior acknowledgement of all of the Parties. At the election of the School District, 

Page 93

Item #1.



Ayrshire_School Proportionate Share Mitigation 
Agreement.DOCX

-6-

such acknowledgement may be conditioned upon the written agreement of the assignee to 
comply with conditions and procedures to aid in the monitoring and enforcement of the 
assignee's performance of the Proportionate Share Mitigation under this Agreement. The 
assignor under such assignment shall furnish the Parties with a copy of the written assignment 
within ten (10) days of the date of execution of same.

22. NO THIRD-PARTY BENEFICIARIES. This Agreement is made for the sole 
benefit and protection of the parties, their successors and assigns, and no other persons shall have 
any right of action hereunder.

23. COUNTERPARTS. This Agreement may be executed in three (3) counterparts, 
each of which may be deemed to be an original.

24. RECORDING OF THIS AGREEMENT. The Developer shall record this 
Agreement, at its expense, within fourteen (14) days after full execution, in the Clay County 
Public Records. Time is of the essence in the recording, and failure to timely record shall render 
this Agreement void.

25. MERGER CLAUSE. This Agreement sets forth the entire agreement among the 
Parties, and it supersedes all prior and contemporaneous negotiations, understandings and 
agreements, written or oral, among the Parties.

26. SEVERABILITY. If any provision of this Agreement is declared invalid or 
unenforceable by a court of competent jurisdiction, the invalid or unenforceable provision will be 
stricken from the Agreement, and the balance of this Agreement will remain in full force and 
effect as long as doing so would not affect the overall purpose or intent of the Agreement.

WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have made and executed this Agreement on the 
respective dates above each signature:

CITY of GREEN COVE SPRINGS, through its CITY COMMISSION, signing by and through 
its City Manager, authorized to execute same by Commission action on this

day of _____________, 2021.

The SCHOOL DISTRICT OF CLAY COUNTY, signing by and through its Chair, authorized to 
execute same by District action on this day of , 2021.

The DEVELOPER signing by  its _____________________ 
duly authorized to execute same, on this day of  , 2021.

Page 94

Item #1.



Ayrshire_School Proportionate Share Mitigation 
Agreement.DOCX

-7-

CITY
Passed and Duly Adopted by the City Commission of the City of Green Cove Springs, 

Florida this ____ day of ___________, 2021.

Attest: 

Print Name:__________________

Print Name:__________________

CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, 
FLORIDA, a municipal corporation

By: ________________________________
Steve Kennedy, City Manager

Approved as to form, legal sufficiency and 
execution:

By: ________________________________
L.J. Arnold, III, City Attorney

Page 95

Item #1.



Ayrshire_School Proportionate Share Mitigation 
Agreement.DOCX

-8-

SCHOOL DISTRICT

Signed, witnessed, executed and acknowledged on this day of , 2021.

WITNESSES                             THE SCHOOL BOARD OF CLAY COUNTY,
                                                                                 FLORIDA

Print Name:__________________

Print Name:__________________

By: , Chair

(Please Print)

ATTEST:

By: , Superintendent of Schools 

(Please Print)

Page 96

Item #1.



DEVELOPER 

Signed, witnessed, executed and acknowledged on this day of , 2021.

WITNESSES DEVELOPER

Print Name: ___________________

Print Name: ___________________

D.R. HORTON INC. -JACKSONVILLE, a 
Delaware corporation

By: ___________________________
Its: ___________________________
Date: _________________________

STATE OF FLORIDA

COUNTY OF ____________

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me by means of ___ physical 
presence or ___ online notarization on this day ___ of ________________, 2021, by 
_____________________________, as __________________ of D.R. Horton, Inc. - 
Jacksonville., a Delaware corporation, on behalf of the corporation, who is (check one)  
personally known to me or  has produced a valid driver’s license as identification.

         Notary Public
Name:
Commission Expires: _____________

Page 97

Item #1.



Exhibit “A”

Property

A portion of Section 38 of the George I.F. Clarke Grant, Township 6 South, Range 26 East, Clay 
County, Florida, being a portion of those lands described and recorded in Official Records Book 
1545, page 513 of the Public Records of said county and being more particularly described as 
follows:

For a Point of Reference, commence at the intersection of the Easterly right of way line of 
County Road 15A, (South Oakridge Avenue), a 100 foot right of way as presently established 
with the Southerly right of way line of Green Cove Avenue, a variable width right of way as 
presently established; thence Southerly along said Easterly right of way line and along the arc of 
a curve concave Westerly having a radius of 1959.86 feet, through a central angle of 14°47’09”, 
an arc length of 505.76 feet to the point of tangency of said curve, said arc being subtended by a 
chord bearing and distance of South 05°15’37” East, 504.36 feet; thence South 02°07’57” West, 
continuing along last said Easterly right of way line, 1331.79 feet to the Southwest corner of 
those lands described and recorded in Official Records Book 3863, page 203 of said Public 
Records and the Point of Beginning.

From said Point of Beginning, thence Easterly and Northeasterly along the Southerly and 
Southeasterly boundary of last said lands, the following 12 courses: Course 1, thence South 
88°31’42” East, departing last said Easterly right of way line, 282.59 feet; Course 2, thence 
North 21°17’17” East, 161.55 feet; Course 3, thence South 68°42’43” East, 287.10 feet; Course 
4, thence South 58°52’43” East, 32.90 feet; Course 5, thence South 37°48’54” East, 22.40 feet; 
Course 6, thence North 70°53’31” East, 15.20 feet; Course 7, thence North 34°14’49” East, 
52.23 feet; Course 8, thence South 88°17’22” East, 94.17 feet; Course 9, thence North 31°43’31” 
East, 427.82 feet; Course 10, thence North 73°46’32” West, 158.11 feet; Course 11, thence 
North 13°06’51” East, 477.10 feet; Course 12, thence North 10°55’57” East, 142.00 feet to a 
point lying on the Southwesterly line of those lands described and recorded as Parcel “A” in 
Official Records Book 3316, page 1098 of said Public Records; thence South 77°06’26” East, 
along last said line, 2932.48 feet to the Northwest corner of those lands described and recorded 
in Official Records Book 3855, page 1391 of said Public Records; thence Southerly along the 
westerly line thereof, the following 3 courses: Course 1, thence South 21°54’49” East, 3242.16 
feet; Course 2, thence South 68°05’09” West, 1307.43 feet; Course 3, thence South 21°54’51” 
East, 1003.87 feet to a point lying on the Northerly line of an Access and Maintenance Easement 
as described an recorded in Official Records Book 3855, page 1394 of said Public Records; 
thence Westerly along said Northerly line, the following 26 courses: Course 1, thence South 
37°01’31” West, 149.07 feet to the point of curvature of a curve concave Northwesterly having a 
radius of 955.00 feet; Course 2, thence Southwesterly along the arc of said curve, through a 
central angle of 16°37’06”, an arc length of 276.99 feet to a point on said curve, said arc being 
subtended by a chord bearing and distance of South 45°20’05” West, 276.02 feet; Course 3,  
thence South 67°24’13” West, along a non-tangent line, 105.10 feet; Course 4, thence South 
53°45’05” West, 12.16 feet; Course 5, thence South 13°14’26” West, 24.72 feet; Course 6, 
thence South 63°07’28” West, 859.11 feet; Course 7, thence North 26°52’32” West, 5.00 feet; 
Course 8, thence South 63°07’28” West, 382.73 feet; Course 9, thence North 26°52’32” West, 

Page 98

Item #1.



31.65 feet; Course 10, thence South 63°07’28” West, 74.60 feet; Course 11, thence South 
26°52’32” East, 36.65 feet; Course 12, thence South 63°07’28” West, 102.14 feet to the point of 
curvature of a curve concave Northerly having a radius of 955.00 feet; Course 13, thence 
Westerly along the arc of said curve, through a central angle of 22°47’15”, an arc length of 
379.82 feet to the point of tangency of said curve, said arc being subtended by a chord bearing 
and distance of South 74°31’05” West, 377.32 feet; Course 14, thence South 85°54’43” West, 
731.91 feet; Course 15, thence North 04°05’17” West, 5.00 feet to a point on a non-tangent curve 
concave Northerly having a radius of 250.00 feet; Course 16, thence Westerly along the arc of 
said curve, through a central angle of 05°44’03”, an arc length of 25.02 feet to the point of 
tangency of said curve, said arc being subtended by a chord bearing and distance of South 
88°46’45” West, 25.01 feet; Course 17, thence North 88°21’14” West, 61.78 feet; Course 18, 
thence North 19°49’14” West, 8.30 feet; Course 19, thence North 55°44’57” West, 30.16 feet; 
Course 20, thence South 67°18’10” West, 29.23 feet; Course 21, thence South 07°09’24” West, 
17.00 feet; Course 22, thence North 88°21’14” West, 362.37 feet; Course 23, thence South 
01°38’46” West, 5.00 feet; Course 24 thence North 88°21’14” West, 800.00 feet; Course 25, 
thence North 01°38’46” East, 10.00 feet; Course 26, thence North 88°21’14” West, 355.52 feet 
to a point lying on the aforementioned Easterly right of way line of County Road 15A; thence 
North 02°07’57” East, along last said Easterly right of way line, 5150.65 feet to the Point of 
Beginning.

Containing 560.52 acres, more or less.

Page 99

Item #1.



Exhibit “B”

Property Location 

Page 100

Item #1.



Exhibit “C”

Voucher #____

Impact Fee Voucher
Ayrshire

1. Name and address of Developer/Grantor: 

27. Name and address of Grantee:

28. Legal description of subject property: See attached Exhibit “A”

29. Subdivision or Master Development Plan name: Ayrshire PUD

The undersigned Developer/Grantor confirms that it has received from
 on , 202___ funds sufficient for the following impact fees 
required under the applicable School Impact Fee Ordinance, as amended, as indicated below. 
Developer/Grantor gives notice to the City of Green Cove Springs and/or Clay County, Florida 
that the following sums should be deducted from the applicable Impact Fee Credit account of the 
Developer/Grantor.

_____Schools In the amount of $

By:
Print:
Its:

Page 101

Item #1.



Page 102

Item #1.



Page 103

Item #1.



Page 104

Item #1.



Page 105

Item #1.



 
Florida Department of Transportation 

RON DESANTIS 
GOVERNOR 

2198 Edison Avenue MS 2806 
Jacksonville, FL  32204-2730 

KEVIN J. THIBAULT, P.E. 
SECRETARY 

 

  Improve Safety, Enhance Mobility, Inspire Innovation 
 www.fdot.gov 1 

June 14, 2021 
 
Mr. Michael Daniels, AICP 
Planning and Zoning Director 
City of Green Cove Springs 
321 Walnut Street 
Green Cove Springs, Florida 32043 
 
SUBJECT: City of Green Cove Springs Proposed Comprehensive Plan Amendment  
(21-1ESR) 
 
Dear Mr. Daniels, 
 
Pursuant to Section 163.3184(3), Florida Statutes, (F.S.) in its role as a reviewing agency as 
identified in Section 163.3184(1)(c), F.S., the Florida Department of Transportation (FDOT) 
reviewed proposed amendment, City of Green Cove Springs 21-1ESR. 
 
The City of Green Cove Springs has transmitted a Large Scale Future Land Use Map (FLUM) 
Amendment to re-designate the land use of 560.52 acres, located east of Oakridge, west of US-
17, north of SR-23 (First Coast Expressway) and south of Green Cove Avenue. The amendment 
changes the land use from Clay County Rural Fringe and Industrial to City of Green Cove 
Springs Residential Low Density with a site specific text amendment that adds development 
conditions related to the amendment. The existing land uses allow 540 single family dwelling 
units and 8,287,726 sq. ft. of industrial uses. The proposed land use allows a maximum of 2,242 
single family dwelling units and will increase PM Peak hour trips by 721 trips (Attachment A).  
 
The traffic impact study provided is based upon 2,100 dwelling units and indicates the 
amendment will have significant impacts to State facilities. The study should be updated to 
include intersection analyses on the affected roadways (Project entrance at US-17, US-17 at SR-
16E, US-17 at SR-16W, and US-17 at First Coast Expressway) as well as indicate improvements 
needed to mitigate the adverse impacts as a result of the land use amendment. FDOT is available 
to assist in a methodology meeting and determine any assumptions used in the updated study and 
in the creation of the forthcoming Development Agreement. 
 
We appreciate the opportunity to review the proposed comprehensive plan amendment and 
request that a copy of the adopted amendment, along with the supporting data and analysis be 
transmitted within ten working days after the second public hearing for FDOT review.  
 
If you have any questions, please do not hesitate to contact me by email: 
brian.austin@dot.state.fl.us or call: (904) 360-5664.  

Page 106

Item #1.



  
 Improve Safety, Enhance Mobility, Inspire Innovation 
 www.fdot.gov 2
  

Sincerely,  

  
Brian Austin 
Transportation Planner 
FDOT District Two 
 
cc:  Jennifer Carver, FDOT Central Office, Office of Policy Planning 

Ray Eubanks, DEO  
 

Page 107

Item #1.



 
Florida Department of Transportation 

RON DESANTIS 
GOVERNOR 

2198 Edison Avenue MS 2806 
Jacksonville, FL  32204-2730 

KEVIN J. THIBAULT, P.E. 
SECRETARY 

 

 www.dot.state.fl.us 1 

ATTACHMENT A 
 
SUBJECT: City of Green Cove Springs Proposed Comprehensive Plan Amendment  
(21-1ESR) 
 
Technical Assistance  
Trip Generation 
The City of Green Cove Springs has transmitted a Large Scale Future Land Use Map (FLUM) 
Amendment to re-designate the land use of 560.52 acres, located east of Oakridge, west of US-
17, north of SR-23 (First Coast Expressway) and south of Green Cove Avenue. The amendment 
changes the land use from Clay County Rural Fringe and Industrial to City of Green Cove 
Springs Residential Low Density with a site specific text amendment that adds development 
conditions related to the amendment. The existing land uses allow 540 single family dwelling 
units and 8,287,726 sq. ft. of industrial uses. The proposed land use allows a maximum of 2,242 
single family dwelling units. Table 1 shows the estimated trip generation using ITE’s Trip 
Generation Manual, 10th Edition.  
 

Table 1 

Scenario  
Land Use 

 
ITE 
Code 

Size Units Daily 
Trips 

AM 
Peak 
Trips 

PM 
Peak 
Trips  

Existing 

General Light 
Industrial 110 8,287,726 1,000 Sq. 

Ft. 31,468 682 777 

Single Family 
Residential 210 540 Dwelling 

Units 4,906 388 513 

Proposed Single Family 
Residential 210 2,242 Dwelling 

Units 18,177 1,597 2,011 

Total -18,197 +527 +721 
 
The proposed FLUM amendment will increase PM Peak Hour trips by 721 trips. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 108

Item #1.



Page 109

Item #1.



Page 110

Item #1.



Page 111

Item #1.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TO:  City Council Regular Meeting MEETING DATE: August 3, 2021 

FROM: Scott Schultz, Asst. Water Utilities Director 

SUBJECT: City Council approval of, and authorization for the Mayor to execute, Disbursement 

Request #3 which includes Contractor’s Pay Request #2 for Williams Industrial Services, 

LLC, in the amount of $459,854.82 (already paid) and Mittauer & Associates Invoice # 

21289 in the amount of $8500.00, for the Florida Department of Environmental Protection 

(FDEP), State Revolving Fund (SRF), Harbor Road Water Reclamation Facility (WRF) 

Expansion, Phase 2, SRF Agreement No. WW1000420. 
 

BACKGROUND 

On June 7, 2016, Council provided direction for staff to pursue “Scenario #3” (See excerpt from the June 7th 
staff report) sewer system expansion/improvements.   
 
Excerpt from the June 7, 2016 Staff Report 
 
“At the October 20, 2015 meeting, Council authorized submittal of a loan application under the Florida 
Department of Environmental Protection (FDEP) State Revolving Fund (SRF) program for the “Phase I” 
planning portion of the project which would be completed by Mittauer & Associates.  In addition, the Council 
approved a task order to Mittauer & Associates to prepare the planning documents necessary to secure 
capital financing under the SRF Program to complete a Facilities Plan, Environmental Plan, Capital 
Financing Plan, and associated Special Studies.”  
 
The staff report reviewed additional aspects of the analysis to date, and summarized three main 
development scenarios the City was considering.  They are outlined as follows: 
 
Scenario 1:      AWWTP only (no reclaimed water improvements) 
Scenario 2:      AWWTP and Reclaimed Water System Improvements 
Scenario 3:     AWWTP, Reclaimed Water System, and Existing Collection System Improvements 
 
As a result of the discussions and preliminary analysis, the City selected Scenario 3, which had the following 
implications: 
 
“Scenario 3 – AWWTP, reclaimed water system improvements and collection system improvements (repair 
and replacement of clay lines city-wide) 
 
                       Project Cost                            $35,181,000 
                       Loan Amount                          $28,681,000 
                       Retained Earnings                    $1,000,000 
                       Impact Fee Revenue                $1,200,000 
                       Grants                                       $4,300,000  
                       Annual Loan Payment              $1,316,100” 
 
The costs are planning-level values and the annual loan payment will be based on final bid prices, interest 

Page 112

Item #2.



rates at the time of construction loan acquisition, and accumulated grants/retained earnings/impact-fee 
revenue. Each scenario was reviewed with the following common variables: All scenarios assumed a 2% 
increase in the number of wastewater customers each year through FY’20 and a 0.5% increase each year 
from FY’21 through FY’25.All scenarios assumed $6,500,000 available in grant funding, retained earnings, 
and impact fee revenue dedicated to the project up front in order to reduce the total loan repayment 
amount.  Retained earnings is estimated at $1,000,000.  Impact fee revenue is estimated at 
$1,200,000.  Grant funding from all sources is estimated at $4,300,000.  Although, as indicated earlier in this 
writing, we may qualify for 45% grant funds from SRF, the total dollar amount available each year for grant 
funding is limited.  Staff feels that $4,300,000 is a reasonably conservative and prudent estimate as to the 
amount of grant dollars we may receive.  However, depending on the number of projects funded by the SRF 
program in the next two years and the amount of grant funding available, that number can certainly increase. 
All scenarios assume a 2.2%, 30-year loan repayment which is in line with the Capital Financing Plan 
formulas.  However, based on recent interest rate history in the SRF program and use of interest rate buy-
downs such as requiring Davis-Bacon wage requirements and Buy-American provisions of the contractor, 
we may be able to realize lower interest rates when our loan is actually processed.  The 30-year loan 
timeline contemplates repayments from FY’21 through FY’50.Reynolds Park re-development is not factored 
in to any of the scenarios. 
 
On August 10, 2016, SRF staff approved SRF Project # 100400 granting the City of Green Cove Springs a 
$2,261,200.00 loan with a principal forgiveness amount of $1,491,035.00 to address the project’s design, 
permitting, and SSES needs.  These tasks were completed and the project has been completed / closed. 
 
On October 18, 2016, the City Council adopted after second and final reading, Ordinance O-13-2016, 
authorizing the expenditures of up to $34,158,100.00 for capital improvements to the City's wastewater 
treatment, wastewater collection and reclaimed water systems 
 
On August 8, 2018, FDER SRF staff approved SRF Project # 100400 granting the City of Green Cove 
Springs a $6,120,600.00 loan with a principal forgiveness amount of $4,063,425.00 for Phase I Construction 
which includes reclaimed water, electrical and improvements to Lift Stations #2 and #4. 
 
On October 2, 2018 Council approved Resolution No. R-29-2018, a Resolution authorizing staff to submit 
and mayor to execute a loan application to the Florida Department of Environmental Protection (FDEP) 
State Revolving Fund (SRF) loan program for Phase I Construction of the Consolidated Advanced 
Wastewater Treatment Plant (AWWTP) and associated Lift Station Improvements. 
 
On December 4, 2018, council approved and authorized the execution of the contract  for SRF Project # 
100400 granting the City of Green Cove Springs a $6,120,600.00 loan with a principal forgiveness amount 
of $4,063,425.00 for Phase I Construction which includes reclaimed water, electrical and improvements to 
Lift Stations #2 and #4. 
 
On March 19, 2019, Council approved bid tabulations and awarded Sawcross the plant portion, and R2T the 
lift station portion, of the Phase I construction. 
 
Phase I construction being completed in May of 2020, Council authorized staff to submit a Request for 
Inclusion (RFI) to the Florida Department of Environmental Protection (FDEP) State Revolving Fund (SRF) 
for Construction Phase II, which includes construction of a 1.25 million gallon per day (MGD) - annual 
average daily flow (AADF), advanced wastewater treatment facility (AWWTF), in the amount of 
$18,165,500.00. 
 
On August 12, 2020, the FDEP SRF program awarded the City a $12,000,000.00, 20 year loan, with 
$4,452,835.00 in principal forgiveness (grant).  Due to a limitation of available funds, the SRF program 
withheld $6,186,500.00 in requested funds, which will be reviewed for award and addition to the current loan 
the next award period. 

On 10/6/2020 City Council approved Resolution No. R-27-2020, a Resolution authorizing staff to submit and 
Mayor to execute the loan application for SRF Loan # 100401 to the Florida Department of Environmental 
Protection (FDEP) State Revolving Fund (SRF) loan program for Phase II Construction of the Consolidated 

Page 113

Item #2.



Advanced Wastewater Treatment Plant (AWWTP) in the amount of $12,000,000.00 with a principal 
forgiveness (grant) amount of $4,452,835.00 providing for an actual repayment amount of $7,547,165.00. 

On 1/19/2021 the City Council approved of, and authorized the Mayor, City Attorney and City Clerk to  
execute, the Clean Water State Revolving Fund (SRF), Construction Loan Agreement WW100420, Grant 
Agreement SG 100421 for Phase II Construction of the Consolidated Advanced Wastewater Treatment 
Plant (AWWTP) in the amount of $12,000,000.00 with a principal forgiveness (grant) amount of 
$4,452,835.00 providing for an actual repayment amount of $7,547,165.00.  The original loan request was 
for $18,106,500.00.  Due to limited funds, the SRF program limited the award to $12,000,000.00, with the 
plan to award the city an additional $6,106,500.00 in July 2021. 

On February 2, 2021, eight Sealed Bids were opened for the construction of the above referenced project.  
Williams Industrial was determined to be the lowest qualified bidder.  The estimated budget / original SRF 
loan request was for $18,106,500.00.  This project came in under projected budget, including the Additive 
Alternates.  

On 2/10/2021 Council approved the Engineer’s Recommendation of Award to Williams Industrial Services, 
LLC, in the amount of $15,426,644.33, for the Florida Department of Environmental Protection (FDEP), 
State Revolving Fund (SRF), Harbor Road Water Reclamation Facility (WRF) Expansion, Phase 2, SRF 
Agreement No. WW1000420. 
 
On May 18, 2021, Council approved Disbursement Request #1 in the amount of $35,000.00. 
 
On June 15, 2021, Council approved Contractor’s Pay Request #1 for Williams Industrial in the amount of 

$669,305.42 

 

On July 6, 2021 Council approved Disbursement #2 (which included Contractor’s Pay Request #1 for 

Williams Industrial in the amount of $669,305.42) in the total amount of $710,205.42. 
 

 

FISCAL IMPACT 

$468,354.82 from the Wastewater CIP Budget 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

Approve of, and authorize the Mayor to execute, Disbursement Request #3 which includes Contractor’s 

Pay Request #2 for Williams Industrial Services, LLC, in the amount of $459,854.82 (already paid) and 

Mittauer & Associates Invoice # 21289 in the amount of $8500.00, for the Florida Department of 

Environmental Protection (FDEP), State Revolving Fund (SRF), Harbor Road Water Reclamation 

Facility (WRF) Expansion, Phase 2, SRF Agreement No. WW1000420. 

Page 114

Item #2.



    

  

      

       

 
                 

   

    

   

  

  

           

  

  

   

 

 

Disbursement Request Package
State Revolving Fund Programs 

1. Project Sponsor

2. Project Number

3. Disbursement Request Number

4. Invoice Period

5. Type of Request: Partial Final 

6. Federal Employer Identification Number

7. Mail EFT Send Remittance to: 

(This must match an address setup in MyFloridaMarketPlace.com as the Vendor address). 

Disbursement Details 
(Rounded to the nearest dollar) 

1. Planning and Specialized Studies (attach invoices)

2. Design (attach invoices)

3. Construction and Demolition (attach pay estimates)

4. Technical Services during Construction (attach invoices)

5. Other (must be specified in agreement)

6. 

7. Total cumulative to date

8.. Disbursements previously requested 

9. Amount requested for disbursement

Amount This Request Total Cumulative 

$ $ 

$ $ 

$ $ 

$ $ 

$ $ 

$ $ 

$ 

$( ) 

$ $ 

(Total of lines 1 through 6) (Line 7 minus Line 8) 

** SUBMIT ONE ORIGINAL COPY OF THIS FORM AND SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION TO: ** 

SRF_Reporting@dep.state.fl.us 

Page 1 of 4 

City of Green Cove Springs, Florida

WW100420/SG100421

3

6/7/2021 through 6/27/2021

59-6000328

Wells Fargo Bank N.A. Account#: 2000007820388 | ABA#: 121000248

Account Name: City of Green Cove Springs Utility Fund Savings

City Address:  321 Walnut Street, Green Cove Springs, FL  32043

  

  

                      459,854.82         1,129,160.24

                          8,500.00              49,500.00

         1,178,660.24

 

                     468,354.82
           468,354.82

        710,305.42

x

Page 115

Item #2.

mailto:SRF_Reporting@dep.state.fl.us
http:MyFloridaMarketPlace.com


 

  

 

  

 

 
 

 

 
 

   

 

  
 

  
 

 

  

 

 

 

  Project Number _______________________ 

Disbursement Number _______________ 

Authorized Representative’s Certification
of Disbursement Request and Davis-Bacon Certification 

I, , 

(name of Authorized Representative designated in the agreement) 

on behalf of , do hereby certify that: 

(name of Project Sponsor) 

1. The disbursement amount requested on page 1 of this form is for allowable costs for the project
described in the agreement.

2. Materials, labor, equipment, and/or services representing costs included in the amount requested
have been satisfactorily purchased, performed or received, and applied toward completing the project;
such costs are documented by invoices or other appropriate documentation which are filed in the
Project Sponsor’s permanent records.

3. The Project Sponsor is required to pay such costs under the terms and provisions of contracts relating
directly to the project, and the Project Sponsor is not in default of any terms or provisions of the
contracts.

4. All funds received to date have been applied toward completing the project.

5. All permits and approvals required for the construction which is underway have been obtained.

6. If applicable for construction projects, I certify to the best of my knowledge and belief that the above
referenced project complies with Davis-Bacon and Related Acts such that all of the laborers and
mechanics employed by contractors and subcontractors during the referenced period on the
contractors pay applications submitted with this disbursement request were paid wages at rates not
less than those listed on the prevailing wage rate contained in the contract documents and that all
applicable provisions of the Davis-Bacon and Related Acts have been met.

I also certify that interviews and periodic reviews of a representative sample of the weekly payroll data
have been performed to verify that contractors and subcontractors are paying the appropriate wage
rate.

I understand that falsifying information on this certification may be grounds for termination of the SRF
loan agreement.

( Signature of Authorized Representative) 

(Title) 

(Date) 

Page 2 of 4 

Period of Certification: 

6/7/21 through 6/27/21 

DEP Agreement No. WW100420/SG100421

Edward Gaw, Mayor

City of Green Cove Springs, Florida

Mayor

August 3, 2021

WW100420
3

Page 116

Item #2.



Page 117

Item #2.



Page 118

Item #2.



Page 119

Item #2.



Page 120

Item #2.



Page 121

Item #2.



Page 122

Item #2.



Page 123

Item #2.



Page 124

Item #2.



Page 125

Item #2.



Page 126

Item #2.



Page 127

Item #2.



Page 128

Item #2.



Page 129

Item #2.



Page 130

Item #2.



Page 131

Item #2.



Page 132

Item #2.



Page 133

Item #2.



Page 134

Item #2.



Page 135

Item #2.



Page 136

Item #2.



Page 137

Item #2.



MITTAUER & 
ASSOCIATES, INC.
580-1 WELLS ROAD
ORANGE PARK, FL  32073

904-278-0030

Invoice  21289

BILL TO

City of Green Cove Springs
321 Walnut Street
Green Cove Springs, FL  
32043
Attn: Mike Null

DATE
06/29/2021

PLEASE PAY
$8,500.00

DUE DATE
07/19/2021

M&A PROJECT NO.
8905-56-1

DESCRIPTION AMOUNT

DEP SRF HARBOR ROAD WWTF EXPANSION, PHASE 2
BIDDING & CONSTRUCTION ADMINISTRATION 
DEP AGREEMENT NO. WW100420/SG100421 
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA
P.O. NO.  2723070

Engineering services concerning the DEP SRF Harbor Road WWTF Expansion, Phase 2, 
Construction Administration project including FDEP SRF and SJRWMD coordination, attendance 
at construction conferences, shop drawing review, City coordination, RFI responses, vendor 
coordination, Davis-Bacon interviews, AIS compliance reviews, and contactor correspondence 
during the period ending June 25, 2021.

LUMP SUM CONTRACT AMOUNT:  $696,500.00
     Item A.  Administration Services, $20,000
     Item B.  Construction Bidding Services, $8,500
     Item C.  Construction Administration, $287,500
     Item D.  SRF Monitoring Requirements (Davis-Bacon & American Iron-Steel Monitoring), 
$114,500
     Item E.  Resident Project Representative Services, $233,500
     Item F.  Start-up Services & Operation/Maintenance Manual, $32,500

AMOUNT PREVIOUSLY INVOICED:  $41,000.00

Amount Earned This Period 8,500.00

TOTAL DUE $8,500.00

Thank you for your business.

THANK YOU.

Page 138

Item #2.



Sponsor Name: 3
DEP Agreement No.:

Vendor  Name Invoice Number  Invoice Date Invoice Amount Local Share or Other Funding 
or Amount Not Requested Requested Amount Check Number Category (ie. construction, technical 

services)
Mittauer & Associates, Inc. 21289 6/29/2021 8,500.00$                        -$                                          8,500.00$                     Technical Services
Williams Industrial Services ,LLC 2 6/29/2021 459,854.82$                    -$                                          459,854.82$                 Construction 

-$                                          -$                             
-$                                          -$                             
-$                                          -$                             
-$                                          -$                             
-$                                          -$                             
-$                                          -$                             
-$                                          -$                             
-$                                          -$                             
-$                                          -$                             
-$                                          -$                             
-$                                          -$                             

Totals: 468,354.82$             -$                                 468,354.82$                 

WW100420/SG100421

FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

REIMBURSEMENT SUMMARY

City of Green Cove Springs, Florida Payment Request No.:

Page 139

Item #2.



Summary of Work 
DEP SRF Harbor Road WWTF Expansion, Phase 2 

Bidding & Construction Phase 
DEP Agreement No. WW100420/SG100421 

City of Green Cove Springs, FL 
M&A Project Nos. 8905-56-1 

August 3, 2021 
 
 
Summary of work for Green Cove Springs Disbursement Request No. 3 to accompany the 
Contractor’s Application for Payment No. 2 and Mittauer & Associates Invoice No. 21289, consist 
of:  
 
Construction services included progress toward sitework; underground piping; fencing; influent 
structure equipment; oxidation ditch floor, walls, and walkways; clarifier concrete walls and 
equipment; and electrical work. Overall, construction services are 7.32% complete.  
 
 
Technical services during construction included FDEP SRF and SJRWMD coordination, attendance 
at construction conferences, shop drawing review, City coordination, RFI responses, vendor 
coordination, and contractor correspondence.  Overall, technical services during construction are 
7.11% complete.  
 
 
 

Page 140

Item #2.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TO:  City Council Regular Meeting MEETING DATE: August 3, 2021 

FROM: Scott Schultz, Asst. Water Utilities Director 

SUBJECT: City Council approval of funding in the amount of $125,038.65 to Gresco for electrical 

materials for inventory and the Magnolia Point reconductor project. 
 

BACKGROUND 

These materials are necessary for the Magnolia Point reconductor project and storeroom inventory.  Two 

sets of bids were requested.  Bid #1 totaled $69,654.30.  A second bid was sent out for additional 

materials and appurtenances.  Bid #2 totaled $55,384.35 for a grand total of $125,038.65. 

 

FISCAL IMPACT 

$125,038.65 initially to the electric inventory account number.  Materials will be charged to projects as 

removed from storeroom. 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

Approve funding in the amount of $125,038.65 to Gresco for electrical materials for inventory and the 

Magnolia Point reconductor project. 

Page 141

Item #3.



Page 142

Item #3.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TO:  Regular Session MEETING DATE: August 3, 2021 

FROM: Marlena Guthrie, Finance Director 

SUBJECT: City Council approval of the FY 2021 Revenues and Expenditures Report and the 

Quarterly Investment Report for the period ending June 30, 2021. 
 

BACKGROUND 

The attached Revenues and Expenditures Report is for the period October 1, 2020 through June 30, 

2021.  In the General Fund, revenues are listed by category and/or major funding sources.  In all funds, 

the budgeted figures are presented first with the actual expenditures and the variance between the budget 

and actual listed next.  The percent of actual is the amount that has actually been received (or accrued in 

the case of state shared revenues) or the amounts expended as a percent of the budget for the period 

ending June 30, 2021.  The report is prepared on a modified accrual basis with state shared revenues for 

the month of June 2021 (received in July 2021) accrued for the month of June 2021. 

Attachment “A” reflects the City of Green Cove Springs Investments which are currently 100% 

deposited with the Florida State Board of Administration as of June 30, 2021. 

 

FISCAL IMPACT 

None 

RECOMMENDATION 

Approve the FY 2021 Revenues and Expenditures Report and the Quarterly Investment Report 

for the Period Ending June 30, 2021. 
 

Page 143

Item #4.



GENERAL FUND

REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES 

AS OF JUNE 30, 2021

75% OF YEAR

VARIANCE % ACTUAL

BUDGET ACTUAL OVER TO 

(UNDER BUDGET) BUDGET

GENERAL FUND REVENUES:

Ad Valorem Taxes 1,968,056 1,912,944 (55,112) 97%

Gas Tax 349,269 242,239 (107,030) 69%

Surtax 814,357 648,468 (165,889) 80%

Franchise Fees 7,000 4,066 (2,934) 58%

Communications Svcs Tax 370,000 256,754 (113,246) 69%

Utility Taxes - Water 127,000 94,859 (32,141) 75%

Utility Taxes - Other 61,000 40,300 (20,700) 66%

Business Taxes 40,000 8,358 (31,643) 21%

Code Enforcement Fines 10,000 8,453 (1,547) 85%

State Shared Taxes/Licenses 244,549 172,290 (72,259) 70%

Sales Tax 420,668 340,178 (80,490) 81%

Municipal Fuel Rebate 8,000 4,031 (3,969) 50%

Planning and Zoning Fees 40,000 24,369 (15,631) 61%

Copying 2,000 474 (1,526) 24%

DOT Agreements 109,003 99,334 (9,669) 91%

Safety Grant-Fla League 6,000 0 (6,000) 0%

Special Events 60,000 39,398 (20,602) 66%

Interlocal - Clay County 100,000 635,144 535,144 0%

Interlocal - School Board 332,090 176,007 (156,083) 53%

Court Fines/Parking Fines 12,300 20,459 8,159 166%

Red Light Camera 900,000 718,015 (181,985) 80%

Police Education 6,000 271 (5,729) 5%

Asset Forfeiture - Federal 0 54,203 54,203 0%

Police Vest Grant 1,500 0 (1,500) 0%

DEA & DOJ Overtime 18,649 1,691 (16,958) 9%

Interest 45,000 2,006 (42,994) 4%

Private Developer 215,000 0 (215,000) 0%

Sale of Surplus 10,000 35,567 25,567 356%

Miscellaneous Income 15,000 895 (14,105) 6%

Rent-Building Department 30,000 22,500 (7,500) 75%

Rent-Augusta Savage Facility 22,740 15,570 (7,170) 68%

Pier Docking Fees 2,500 2,866 366 115%

Park Reservation Fees 15,000 13,536 (1,464) 90%

Cost Recoveries/Transfers to GF 1,686,331 1,264,748 (421,583) 75%

Reserves 51,171 0 (51,171) 0% Note #1

Grants 0 664 664 0%

Legislative Delegation 220,000 0 (220,000) 0%

    TOTAL REVENUES 8,320,183 6,860,655 (1,459,528) 82%

Note #1 - The majority of budgeted Reserves in the General Fund Revenues consists of Surtax, Gas Tax, 

and Depreciation.  These Reserves are the funding sources for various Capital uses in the General Fund 

as outlined in the CIP.  These Reserves are reflected on this report for presentation purposes to offset

the related General Fund Capital Expenditures as presented in the Budget. 1

7/26/2021Page 144

Item #4.



VARIANCE % ACTUAL

BUDGET ACTUAL OVER TO 

(UNDER BUDGET) BUDGET

GENERAL FUND EXPENDITURES:

CITY COUNCIL:

  PERSONAL SERVICES 50,029 37,319 (12,710) 75%

  OPERATING EXPENSES 26,460 3,240 (23,220) 12%

    TOTAL 76,489 40,560 (35,929) 53%

CITY CLERK:

  PERSONAL SERVICES 103,690 73,790 (29,900) 71%

  OPERATING EXPENSES 51,119 21,803 (29,316) 43%

    TOTAL 154,809 95,594 (59,215) 62%

CITY MANAGER:

  PERSONAL SERVICES 320,129 239,882 (80,247) 75%

  OPERATING EXPENSES 24,683 12,082 (12,601) 49%

    TOTAL 344,812 251,963 (92,849) 73%

HUMAN RESOURCES:

  PERSONAL SERVICES 199,551 149,952 (49,599) 75%

  OPERATING EXPENSES 23,536 15,282 (8,254) 65%

    TOTAL 223,087 165,233 (57,854) 74%

AUGUSTA SAVAGE:

  PERSONAL SERVICES 53,505 37,906 (15,599) 71%

  OPERATING EXPENSES 53,899 30,133 (23,766) 56%

  CAPITAL 420,000 872,745 452,745 208%

    TOTAL 527,404 940,784 413,380 178%

FINANCE:

  PERSONAL SERVICES 288,883 208,561 (80,322) 72%

  OPERATING EXPENSES 40,050 34,977 (5,073) 87%

  CAPITAL 0 0 0 0%

    TOTAL 328,933 243,539 (85,394) 74%

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY:

  PERSONAL SERVICES 118,358 90,282 (28,076) 76%

  OPERATING EXPENSES 37,476 27,286 (10,190) 73%

  CAPITAL 6,000 8,849 2,849 147%

    TOTAL 161,834 126,417 (35,417) 78%

GENERAL SERVICES:

  OPERATING EXPENSES 274,613 413,907 139,294 151% Note #2

  CAPITAL OUTLAY 66,000 37,378 (28,622) 57%

  CONTRIBUTION TO GF RESERVES 2,923 0 (2,923) 0%

    TOTAL 343,536 451,286 107,750 131%

Note #2 - Quarterly Insurance payment hasn't been allocated.  This occurs during Oct., Jan., April and July.

2

7/26/2021Page 145

Item #4.



VARIANCE % ACTUAL

BUDGET ACTUAL OVER TO 

GENERAL FUND EXPENDITURES (CONT'D) (UNDER BUDGET) BUDGET

CITY ATTORNEY:

  PERSONAL SERVICES 81,363 61,755 (19,608) 76%

  OPERATING EXPENSES 29,639 15,282 (14,357) 52%

    TOTAL 111,002 77,037 (33,965) 69%

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES:

  PERSONAL SERVICES 87,325 64,289 (23,036) 74%

  OPERATING EXPENSES 102,902 130,316 27,414 127%

    TOTAL 190,227 194,606 4,379 102%

CODE ENFORCEMENT:

  PERSONAL SERVICES 61,122 43,320 (17,802) 71%

  OPERATING EXPENSES 15,943 1,631 (14,312) 10%

    TOTAL 77,065 44,951 (32,114) 58%

POLICE:

  PERSONAL SERVICES 2,404,246 1,680,388 (723,858) 70%

  OPERATING EXPENSES 685,661 462,568 (223,093) 67%

  CAPITAL 172,050 221,976 49,926 129%

  TRANSFERS OUT TO POLICE BLDG FUND 160,254 80,425 (79,829) 50%

    TOTAL 3,422,211 2,445,357 (976,854) 71%

PUBLIC WORKS:

  PERSONAL SERVICES 326,783 235,377 (91,406) 72%

  OPERATING EXPENSES 293,840 182,962 (110,878) 62%

  CAPITAL 465,000 53,759 (411,241) 12%

    TOTAL 1,085,623 472,098 (613,525) 43%

RIGHT OF WAY MTCE:

  PERSONAL SERVICES 96,223 68,098 (28,125) 71%

  OPERATING EXPENSES 173,340 128,347 (44,993) 74%

  CAPITAL 53,500 20,728 (32,772) 39%

    TOTAL 323,063 217,173 (105,890) 67%

PARKS & RECREATION:

  PERSONAL SERVICES 207,118 159,358 (47,760) 77%

  OPERATING EXPENSES 137,760 92,405 (45,355) 67%

  CAPITAL 268,500 203,248 (65,252) 76%

  TRANSFERS OUT TO SPRING PARK FUND 81,381 81,381 0 100%

    TOTAL 694,759 536,392 (158,367) 77%

3

7/26/2021Page 146

Item #4.



VARIANCE % ACTUAL

BUDGET ACTUAL OVER TO 

GENERAL FUND EXPENDITURES (CONT'D) (UNDER BUDGET) BUDGET

PARKS & REC PROGRAMMING:

  OPERATING EXPENSES 72,000 24,171 (47,829) 34%

    TOTAL 72,000 24,171 (47,829) 34%

EQUIPMENT MTCE:

  PERSONAL SERVICES 159,596 109,864 (49,732) 69%

  OPERATING EXPENSES 23,733 9,978 (13,755) 42%

    TOTAL 183,329 119,842 (63,487) 65%

GRAND TOTAL ALL DEPARTMENTS 8,320,183 6,447,002 (1,873,181) 77%

EXCESS REVENUES OVER EXPENDITURES 413,652

4

7/26/2021Page 147

Item #4.



UTILITY FUND

REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES

AS OF JUNE 30, 2021

75% OF YEAR

VARIANCE %

BUDGET ACTUAL OVER ACTUAL

(UNDER BUDGET) TO BUDGET

REVENUES: ELECTRIC FUND

  OPERATING REVENUES 12,831,600 8,488,718 (4,342,882) 66%

   RESERVES/LOAN PROCEEDS 8,532,601 2,622,266 (5,910,335) 31%

   INTEREST 55,000 4,406 (50,594) 8%

  OTHER REVENUES 136,400 1,226,618 1,090,218 899% Note #3

    TOTAL REVENUES 21,555,601 12,342,007 (9,213,594) 57%

EXPENSES:

  PERSONAL SERVICES 1,069,017 620,210 (448,807) 58%

  OPERATING EXPENSES 9,951,899 6,337,098 (3,614,801) 64%

  CAPITAL 8,185,000 3,005,579 (5,179,421) 37%

  OTHER EXPENSES 17,000 1,040 (15,960) 6%

  COST ALLOC/TRANSFERS 1,344,434 1,008,325 (336,109) 75%

  DEBT 988,251 935,918 (52,333) 95%

   TOTAL EXPENSES 21,555,601 11,908,170 (9,647,431) 55%

REVENUES: WATER FUND

  OPERATING REVENUES 1,734,292 1,450,306 (283,986) 84%

  RESERVES/LOAN PROCEEDS 965,000 989,866 24,866 103%

  INTEREST 12,000 868 (11,132) 7%

  OTHER REVENUES 23,000 24,408 1,408 106%

    TOTAL REVENUES 2,734,292 2,465,447 (268,845) 90%

EXPENSES:

  PERSONAL SERVICES 693,724 491,352 (202,372) 71%

  OPERATING EXPENSES 538,494 337,979 (200,515) 63%

  CAPITAL 1,010,000 1,075,215 65,215 106%

  OTHER EXPENSES 3,000 0 (3,000) 0%

  COST ALLOC/TRANSFERS 304,697 228,523 (76,174) 75%

  DEBT 184,377 156,173 (28,204) 85%

   TOTAL EXPENSES 2,734,292 2,289,242 (445,050) 84%

Note #3 - Includes $1,151,987 DOT Reimbursable.

5

7/26/2021Page 148

Item #4.



VARIANCE %

BUDGET ACTUAL OVER ACTUAL

(UNDER BUDGET) TO BUDGET

REVENUES: WASTEWATER FUND

  OPERATING REVENUES 2,890,903 2,404,795 (486,108) 83%

  INTEREST 7,700 587 (7,113) 8%

  RESERVES 60,000 96,000 36,000 160%

  GRANTS/LOAN PROCEEDS 6,118,327 940,162 (5,178,165) 15%

  OTHER REVENUES 26,000 24,022 (1,978) 92%

    TOTAL REVENUES 9,102,930 3,465,566 (5,637,364) 38%

EXPENSES:

  PERSONAL SERVICES 693,724 507,621 (186,103) 73%

  OPERATING EXPENSES 681,914 415,976 (265,938) 61%

  CAPITAL 6,869,025 1,715,408 (5,153,617) 25%

  OTHER EXPENSES 4,000 0 (4,000) 0%

  COST ALLOC/TRANSFERS 373,940 280,455 (93,485) 75%

  DEBT 142,454 141,026 (1,428) 99%

  TO BE APPROPRIATED 100,000 0 (100,000) 0%

  CONTRIBUTION TO RETAINED EARNINGS 237,873 0 (237,873) 0%

   TOTAL EXPENSES 9,102,930 3,060,486 (6,042,444) 34%

REVENUES: SOLID WASTE FUND

  OPERATING REVENUES 844,620 633,821 (210,800) 75%

  LOAN PROCEEDS 340,000 0 (340,000) 0%

  INTEREST 5,500 411 (5,089) 7%

    TOTAL REVENUES 1,190,120 634,232 (555,888) 53%

EXPENSES:

  PERSONAL SERVICES 406,413 293,727 (112,686) 72%

  OPERATING EXPENSES 269,366 78,972 (190,394) 29%

  OTHER EXPENSES 3,000 0 (3,000) 0%

  CAPITAL 340,000 0 (340,000) 0%

  DEBT 37,423 66,012 28,589 176%

  COST ALLOC/TRANSFERS 133,918 100,438 (33,480) 75%

   TOTAL EXPENSES 1,190,120 539,150 (650,970) 45%

6

7/26/2021Page 149

Item #4.



VARIANCE %

BUDGET ACTUAL OVER ACTUAL

(UNDER BUDGET) TO BUDGET

REVENUES: CUSTOMER SERVICE FUND

  TRANSFERS FROM OTHER UTILITIES 470,658 352,993 (117,665) 75%

    TOTAL REVENUES 470,658 352,993 (117,665)                75%

EXPENSES:

  PERSONAL SERVICES 362,707 252,771 (109,936) 70%

  OPERATING EXPENSES 67,951 45,004 (22,947) 66%

  CUSTOMER SVC DEFICIT REPAYMENT 40,000 30,000 (10,000) 75%

   TOTAL EXPENSES 470,658 327,775 (142,883) 70%

REVENUES: STORMWATER FUND

  OPERATING REVENUES 574,000 620,952 46,952 108% Note #4

  OTHER REVENUES 150 1,244 1,094 829%

  LOAN 400,000 0 (400,000) 0%

    TOTAL REVENUES 974,150 622,196 (351,954) 64%

EXPENSES:

  PERSONAL SERVICES 85,520 44,401 (41,119) 52%

  OPERATING EXPENSES 88,130 39,623 (48,507) 45%

  OTHER EXPENSES 500 0 (500) 0%

  CAPITAL 800,000 39,091 (760,909) 5%

   TOTAL EXPENSES 974,150 123,115 (851,035) 13%

Note #4 - FY 21 is the fifth year for the majority of Stormwater Fund fees to be collected by 

Non-Ad Valorem Assessment.  FY 21 is also the first year for the Stormwater User Fee.

7

7/26/2021Page 150

Item #4.



SPECIAL REVENUE FUND-BUILDING FUND

REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES

AS OF JUNE 30, 2021

75% OF YEAR

BUDGET ACTUAL VARIANCE % ACTUAL

OVER TO 

(UNDER BUDGET) BUDGET

REVENUES:

 OPERATING REVENUES 330,748 136,355 (194,393) 41%

    TOTAL REVENUES 330,748 136,355 (194,393) 41%

EXPENSES:

   PERSONAL SERVICES 132,964 96,239 (36,725) 72%

   OPERATING EXPENSES 197,784 118,932 (78,852) 60%

   CAPITAL 0 46,251 46,251 0%

    TOTAL EXPENSES 330,748 261,423 (69,325) 79%

8

7/26/2021
Page 151

Item #4.



SPECIAL LAW ENFORCEMENT TRUST FUND

REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES 

AS OF JUNE 30, 2021

75% OF YEAR

BUDGET ACTUAL VARIANCE % ACTUAL

OVER TO 

(UNDER BUDGET) BUDGET

REVENUES:

 CONFISCATIONS 0 0 0 0%

 MISCELLANEOUS INCOME 0 0 0 0%

 FROM FUND BALANCE 20,000 10,008 (9,992) 50%

    TOTAL REVENUES 20,000 10,009 (9,991) 50%

EXPENSES:

   PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT 15,000 8,757 (6,243) 58%

   TRAVEL & PER DIEM 2,500 0 (2,500) 0%

   OPERATING EXPENSES 2,500 1,252 (1,248) 50%

    TOTAL EXPENSES 20,000 10,008 (9,992) 50%

9

7/26/2021
Page 152

Item #4.



POLICE BUILDING CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT FUND

REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES

AS OF JUNE 30, 2021

75% OF YEAR

BUDGET ACTUAL VARIANCE % ACTUAL

OVER TO 

(UNDER BUDGET) BUDGET

REVENUES:

 TRANSFERS IN 160,254 80,425 (79,829) 50%

    TOTAL REVENUES 160,254 80,425 (79,829) 50%

EXPENSES:

   DEBT 160,254 80,425 (79,829) 50%

    TOTAL EXPENSES 160,254 80,425 (79,829) 50%

10

7/26/2021
Page 153

Item #4.



SPRING PARK PROJECT FUND

REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES 

AS OF JUNE 30, 2021

75% OF YEAR

BUDGET ACTUAL VARIANCE % ACTUAL

OVER TO 

(UNDER BUDGET) BUDGET

REVENUES:

 TRANSFERS IN 81,381 81,381 0 100%

    TOTAL REVENUES 81,381 81,381 0 100%

EXPENSES:

   DEBT 81,381 81,381 0 100%

   CAPITAL 0 0 0 0%

    TOTAL EXPENSES 81,381 81,381 0 100%

11

7/26/2021
Page 154

Item #4.



Attachment "A"

PARTICIPANT RETURN 06/30/2021:  .10%

FUND

AGENCY 

ACCT. # BALANCE

GENERAL 1,629,254.39

UTILITY 4,012,720.28

SINKING FUND - WATER 323,397.09

SINKING - ELECTRIC 758,622.08

TOTAL 6,723,993.84

PER THE CITY'S INVESTMENT POLICY, SECTION XII.  AUTHORIZED INVESTMENTS 

AND PORTFOLIO COMPOSITION, A. THE FLORIDA LOCAL GOVERNMENT SURPLUS

FUNDS TRUST FUND, 2.  PORTFOLIO COMPOSITION - A MAXIMUM OF 100% OF

AVAILABLE FUNDS MAY BE INVESTED IN THE FLORIDA LOCAL GOVERNMENT

SURPLUS FUNDS TRUST FUND.

CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS

FLORIDA STATE BOARD OF ADMINISTRATION

LOCAL GOVERNMENT SURPLUS FUNDS TRUST FUND

BALANCE AS OF JUNE 30, 2021

mguthrie S:\Finance\Marlena - Finance Director\Investments\FSBA INVESTMENTS 7/21/2021
Page 155

Item #4.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TO:  City Council Regular Session MEETING DATE: August 03, 2021 

FROM: Andy Yeager, Electric Director 

SUBJECT: Magnolia Point Reconductor Phase 1- Council authorization to award Heart Utility with 

Phase 1 of installing the backbone feeder for the reconductor project at Magnolia Point in 

an amount not to exceed $300,000.  Andy Yeager 
 

BACKGROUND 

The Electric Department has been gearing up for the Magnolia Point underground conductor 

replacement project and now we are ready to move forward.  After I arrived as the Electric Director, I 

reviewed the project and then reached out for another review by a contractor, and then I made 

modifications to the project design and scope.  After these changes, I am comfortable with the project 

and I feel more confident that from now and into the future, the electrical grid in Magnolia Point will be 

more reliable and we will be able to make switching changes and restore power more quickly. 

(Something the last design would not have allowed us to do) 

We are going to be piggybacking off the current JEA contract (contract number 184918) which was 

negotiated in 5/2019 and awarded in October 2019 and runs through October 2022. Based on my past 

experiences with contracts through JEA, this bid was the most competitive one I have ever been a part of 

and has very small profit margins for the contractor. 

This part of the work will be Phase 1 to build what is called a backbone which will support the rest of 

the subdivision and offer years of dependable service. Soon, we will start building the other phases of 

the project after the completion of this phase. 

Heart Utilities has provided the attached estimate based on the plans.  They will bill on actual units of 

work completed for each line item per the JEA contract.  Staff is requesting authorization up to 

$300,000 to complete this work for unknowns such as changing bad transformers that may be 

encountered as work progresses.  Again, all work will be billed on actual units completed. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

Funds are budgeted for this purchase in the approved FY 21 Electric Department CIP Budget 

RECOMMENDATION 

Authorize a Purchase Order to Heart Utilities in an amount not to exceed $300,000 to provide labor and 

equipment to install the Backbone Feeder in Phase 1 of our reconductor project in Magnolia Point. 
 

Page 156

Item #5.



Loc Bid Item JEA Construction Description Quantity Unit Cost Extension

20623 TRENCH, 24" X 4'-0" DEEP, CLASS D, LF 600 $25.34 15,204.00$           

22513 INSTALL CONDUIT ELBOW, PVC OR STEEL, 4" TO 6" DIAMETER50 $91.23 4,561.50$             

22711 DUCT BANK, DIRECT BURY, 6", 2 HIGH X 2 WIDE, LF 60 $52.71 3,162.60$             

23601 INSTALL PIT, ALL, EA 10 $1,054.25 10,542.50$           

23609 INSTALL THREE PHASE PADMOUNT EQUIPMENT, ALL, EA, UP TO 750 KVA10 $2,027.40 20,274.00$           

24001 GROUND ROD ASSEMBLY, INSTALL, EA 10 $50.69 506.90$                

24707 SINGLE PHASE  SPLICE, 350 MCM AND LARGER, EA 21 $557.54 11,708.34$           

24703 PULL THREE PHASE CABLE 350 MCM & LARGER, LF15680 $6.08 95,334.40$           

28001 GENERAL FOREMAN - STRAIGHT TIME, Hr 16 $76.03 1,216.48$             

28007 LINEMAN - STRAIGHT TIME, Hr 32 $102.38 3,276.16$             

28010 LABORER - STRAIGHT TIME, Hr 32 $47.64 1,524.48$             

23512 ROD 4" DUCT/LF 15680 $1.62 25,401.60$           

23912 MANHOLE, PVC, CLASS II, INSTALL, EA 7 $1,216.44 8,515.08$             

24714 THREE PHASE 1000 MCM RISER POLE, EA 2 $3,041.10 6,082.20$             

24709 SINGLE PHASE TERMINATION, 350 MCM AND LARGER, EA63 $253.43 15,966.09$           

24002 MANHOLE BONDING GROUND, INSTALL, EA 7 $912.33 6,386.31$             

21604 EXCAVATE 6'X6'X60" DEEP,ALL,EA 10 $760.28 7,602.80$             

22603 DIRECTIONAL BORE 2" CONDUIT, LF 500 $20.27 10,135.00$           

24701 PULL SINGLE PHASE PRIMARY CABLE UP TO & INCLUDING 1/0 , LF500 $1.52 760.00$                

24708 SINGLE PHASE TERMINATION, UP TO AND INCLUDING 1/0 AWG, EA20 $101.37 2,027.40$             

22512 INSTALL CONDUIT ELBOW, PVC OR STEEL, UP TO 3" DIAMETER20 $91.23 1,824.60$             

 Total: 252,012.44$      

Page 157

Item #5.



Unit Code Description Sale Rate

15501 PAINT SINGLE PHASE TRANSFORMER/ENCLOSURE, ALL, EA 486.58

15502 PAINT THREE PHASE TRANSFORMER/ENCLOSURE, ALL, EA 608.22

15508 PAINT ALUMINUM/STEEL STREET LIGHT POLE, ALL, EA 486.58

15509 PAINT L4 STREET LIGHT POLE, EA. 486.58

20101 BASE COURSE, CY 48.66

20102 BACKFILL, COMPACTED, CY 32.44

20103 SELECT BACKFILL, COMPACTED, CY 40.55

20105 GROUT, 1:10, CY 150.03

20110 FLOWABLE FILL, CY 167.26

20201 TRENCH, 12" X 2', LF 24.33

20202 TRENCH, 12" X 2'-6", LF 25.95

20203 TRENCH, 12" X 3', LF 27.57

20204 TRENCH, 12" X 3'-6", LF 29.19

20205 TRENCH, 12" X 4', LF 32.44

20301 TRENCH, 24" X 2', LF 24.33

20302 TRENCH, 24" X 2'-6", LF 25.95

20303 TRENCH, 24" X 3', LF 27.57

20304 TRENCH, 24" X 3'-6", LF 29.19

20305 TRENCH, 24" X 4', LF 32.44

20306 TRENCH, 24" X 5', LF 97.32

20401 TRENCH, 30" X 2', LF 32.44

20402 TRENCH, 30" X 2'-6", LF 36.49

20403 TRENCH, 30" X 3', LF 40.55

20404 TRENCH, 30" X 3'-6", LF 44.60

20405 TRENCH, 30" X 4', LF 48.66

20406 TRENCH, 30" X 5', LF 60.82

20501 TRENCH, 42" X 3', LF 52.71

20502 TRENCH, 42" X 3'-6", LF 56.77

20503 TRENCH, 42" X 4', LF 64.88

20504 TRENCH, 42" X 5', LF 109.48

20505 TRENCH, 42" X 6', LF 129.75

20506 TRENCH, 42" X 7', LF 137.86

20507 TRENCH, 42" X 8', LF 154.08

20508 TRENCH, 42" X 9', LF 186.52

20509 TRENCH, 42" X 10', LF 194.63

20510 TRENCH, 42" X 11', LF 202.74

20511 TRENCH, 42" X 12', LF 210.85

20512 TRENCH, 42" X 13', LF 283.84

20513 TRENCH, 42" X 14', LF 324.38

20601 TRENCH, 48" X 3'-6", LF 36.49

20602 TRENCH, 48" X 4', LF 105.42

20603 TRENCH, 48" X 5', LF 113.53

20604 TRENCH, 48" X 6', LF 137.86

Page 158

Item #5.



20605 TRENCH, 48" X 7', LF 162.19

20606 TRENCH, 48" X 8', LF 202.74

20607 TRENCH, 48" X 9', LF 223.01

20608 TRENCH, 48" X 10', LF 243.29

20609 TRENCH, 48" X 11', LF 243.29

20610 TRENCH, 48" X 12', LF 263.56

20611 TRENCH, 48" X 13', LF 304.11

20612 TRENCH, 48" X 14', LF 324.38

20613 TRENCH, 48"WIDE X 5'DEEP,UNCOMPACTED, LF 121.64

20614 TRENCH, 48"WIDE X 5'DEEP, COMPACTED, LF 141.92

20615 TRENCH, 48"WIDE X 6'DEEP, UNCOMPACTED, LF 162.19

20616 TRENCH, 48"WIDE X 6'DEEP, COMPACTED, LF 243.29

20617 TRENCH, 48"WIDE, EA FOOT OF DEPTH BEYOND 6', UNCOMPACT, LF101.37

20618 TRENCH, 48"WIDE, EA FOOT OF DEPTH BEYOND 6',COMPACT, LF141.92

20619 TRENCH, 12" X 4'-0" DEEP, CLASS U, LF 25.34

20620 TRENCH, 24" X 4'-0" DEEP, CLASS U, LF 25.34

20621 TRENCH, 36" X 4'-0" DEEP, CLASS U, LF 25.34

20622 TRENCH, 12" X 4'-0" DEEP, CLASS D, LF 10.14

20623 TRENCH, 24" X 4'-0" DEEP, CLASS D, LF 25.34

20624 TRENCH, 36" X 4'-0" DEEP, CLASS D, LF 25.34

20625 TRENCH, 24" X 4'-0" DEEP, CLASS D, COMPACTED, LF 25.34

20626 TRENCH, 36" X 4'-0" DEEP, CLASS D, COMPACTED, LF 25.34

20627 EACH ADDITIONAL FT OF TRENCH BEYOND 4' DEPTH, LF 10.14

20701 TRENCH, 54" X 3'-6", LF 60.82

20702 TRENCH, 54" X 4', LF 101.37

20703 TRENCH, 54" X 5', LF 141.92

20704 TRENCH, 54" X 6', LF 162.19

20705 TRENCH, 54" X 7', LF 182.47

20706 TRENCH, 54" X 8', LF 202.74

20707 TRENCH, 54" X 9', LF 223.01

20708 TRENCH, 54" X 10', LF 243.29

20709 TRENCH, 54" X 11', LF 263.56

20710 TRENCH, 54" X 12', LF 283.84

20711 TRENCH, 54" X 13', LF 324.38

20712 TRENCH, 54" X 14', LF 470.36

20801 TRENCH, 60" X 3'-6", LF 60.82

20802 TRENCH, 60" X 4', LF 81.10

20803 TRENCH, 60" X 5', LF 121.64

20804 TRENCH, 60" X 6', LF 145.97

20805 TRENCH, 60" X 7', LF 170.30

20806 TRENCH, 60" X 8', LF 210.85

20807 TRENCH, 60" X 9', LF 235.18

20808 TRENCH, 60" X 10', LF 267.62

20809 TRENCH, 60" X 11', LF 300.06

Page 159

Item #5.



20810 TRENCH, 60" X 12', LF 364.93

20811 TRENCH, 60" X 13', LF 437.92

20812 TRENCH, 60" X 14', LF 486.58

20901 TRENCH, 72" X 3'-6", LF 121.64

20902 TRENCH, 72" X 4', LF 145.97

20903 TRENCH, 72" X 5', LF 243.29

20904 TRENCH, 72" X 6', LF 283.84

20905 TRENCH, 72" X 7', LF 324.38

20906 TRENCH, 72" X 8', LF 454.14

20907 TRENCH, 72" X 9', LF 470.36

20908 TRENCH, 72" X 10', LF 478.47

20909 TRENCH, 72" X 11', LF 486.58

20910 TRENCH, 72" X 12', LF 494.69

20911 TRENCH, 72" X 13', LF 510.90

20912 TRENCH, 72" X 14', LF 527.12

21001 EXCAVATION, 8' X 10' X  9', EA 2432.88

21002 EXCAVATION, 8' X 10' X 10', EA 2432.88

21003 EXCAVATION, 8' X 10' X 11', EA 2432.88

21004 EXCAVATION, 8' X 10' X 12', EA 2432.88

21005 EXCAVATION, 8' X 10' X 13', EA 2432.88

21006 EXCAVATION, 8 'X 10 'X 14', EA 2432.88

21021 EXCAVATION, 10' X 13' X  9', EA 2432.88

21022 EXCAVATION, 10' X 13' X 10', EA 2432.88

21023 EXCAVATION, 10' X 13' X 11', EA 2432.88

21024 EXCAVATION, 10' X 13' X 12', EA 2432.88

21025 EXCAVATION, 10' X 13' X 13', EA 2432.88

21026 EXCAVATION, 10' X 13' X 14', EA 2432.88

21101 EXCAVATION, 10' X 16' X  9', EA 2432.88

21102 EXCAVATION, 10' X 16' X 10', EA 2432.88

21103 EXCAVATION, 10' X 16' X 11', EA 2432.88

21104 EXCAVATION, 10' X 16' X 12', EA 2432.88

21105 EXCAVATION, 10' X 16' X 13', EA 2432.88

21106 EXCAVATION, 10' X 16' X 14', EA 2432.88

21107 EXCAVATION, 10' X 16' X 15', EA 2432.88

21201 EXCAVATION, 12' X 16' X  9', EA 2432.88

21202 EXCAVATION, 12' X 16' X 10', EA 2432.88

21203 EXCAVATION, 12' X 16' X 11', EA 2432.88

21204 EXCAVATION, 12' X 16' X 12', EA 2432.88

21205 EXCAVATION, 12' X 16' X 13', EA 2432.88

21206 EXCAVATION, 12' X 16' X 14', EA 2432.88

21207 EXCAVATION, 12' X 16' X 15', EA 2432.88

21301 EXCAVATION, 12' X 20' X 12', EA 2432.88

21302 EXCAVATION, 12' X 20' X 13', EA 2432.88

21303 EXCAVATION, 12' X 20' X 14', EA 2432.88

Page 160

Item #5.



21304 EXCAVATION, 12' X 20' X 15', EA 2432.88

21401 CONCRETE, 3000 PSI, CY 364.93

21402 CONCRETE, 5000 PSI, CY 405.48

21403 CONCRETE, 3500 PSI, CY 385.21

21501 REBAR, #3-#8 FOR CAST-IN PLACE STRUCTURES, LB 3.24

21502 REBAR, #6-#10, LONGITUDINAL IN CONDUIT, LB 2.03

21503 REBAR, #6-#7, TRANSVERSE IN CONDUIT, LB 2.03

21600 PULLING IRONS, INSTALL, EA 113.53

21602 EXCAVATE 2'X4'X60" DEEP,ALL,EA 283.84

21603 EXCAVATE 4'X6'X60" DEEP,ALL,EA 456.17

21604 EXCAVATE 6'X6'X60" DEEP,ALL,EA 760.28

21605 INSTALL SELECT BACKFILL,CU YD 30.41

21606 EXCESSIVE ISOLATION,HR 162.19

21607 ABNORMAL LOCATE SITUATIONS,HR 263.56

21608 EQUIPMENT BUMPER,EA 233.15

21609 CABLE RACK, MANHOLE,INCLUDING 3 ARMS,EA 40.55

21610 FOAM DUCT, INSTALL, EA 15.21

21711 PRECAST MANHOLE, SET 4' X 6' X 6' MANHOLE 9' DEEP, CLASS I, EA 3649.32

21712 PRECAST MANHOLE, SET 4' X 6' X 6' MANHOLE 9' DEEP, CLASS II, EA 3649.32

21721 PRECAST MANHOLE, SET 4' X 6' X 6' MANHOLE 10' DEEP, CLASS I, EA 3649.32

21722 PRECAST MANHOLE, SET 4' X 6' X 6' MANHOLE 10' DEEP, CLASS II, EA 3649.32

21731 PRECAST MANHOLE, SET 4' X 6' X 6' MANHOLE 11' DEEP, CLASS I, EA 3649.32

21732 PRECAST MANHOLE, SET 4' X 6' X 6' MANHOLE 11' DEEP, CLASS II, EA 3649.32

21741 PRECAST MANHOLE, SET 4' X 6' X 6' MANHOLE 12' DEEP, CLASS I, EA 3649.32

21742 PRECAST MANHOLE, SET 4' X 6' X 6' MANHOLE 12' DEEP, CLASS II, EA 3649.32

21743 SET 4'X 6' PRECAST CONCRETE MANHOLE, EA 6589.05

21751 PRECAST MANHOLE, SET 6' X 9' X 7' MANHOLE 9' DEEP, CLASS I, EA 3649.32

21752 PRECAST MANHOLE, SET 6' X 9' X 7' MANHOLE 9' DEEP, CLASS II, EA 3649.32

21761 PRECAST MANHOLE, SET 6' X 9' X 7' MANHOLE 10' DEEP, CLASS I, EA 3649.32

21762 PRECAST MANHOLE, SET 6' X 9' X 7' MANHOLE 10' DEEP, CLASS II, EA 3649.32

21771 PRECAST MANHOLE, SET 6' X 9' X 7' MANHOLE 11' DEEP, CLASS I, EA 3649.32

21772 PRECAST MANHOLE, SET 6' X 9' X 7' MANHOLE 11' DEEP, CLASS II, EA 3649.32

21781 PRECAST MANHOLE, SET 6' X 9' X 7' MANHOLE 12' DEEP, CLASS I, EA 3649.32

21782 PRECAST MANHOLE, SET 6' X 9' X 7' MANHOLE 12' DEEP, CLASS II, EA 3649.32

21783 SET 6'X 9' PRECAST CONCRETE MANHOLE, EA 8616.45

21811 PRECAST MANHOLE, SET 6' X 12' X 7' MANHOLE 10' DEEP, CLASS I, EA 6487.68

21812 PRECAST MANHOLE, SET 6' X 12' X 7' MANHOLE 10' DEEP, CLASS II, EA 6487.68

21821 PRECAST MANHOLE, SET 6' X 12' X 7' MANHOLE 11' DEEP, CLASS I, EA 6487.68

21822 PRECAST MANHOLE, SET 6' X 12' X 7' MANHOLE 11' DEEP, CLASS II, EA 6487.68

21831 PRECAST MANHOLE, SET 6' X 12' X 7' MANHOLE 12' DEEP, CLASS I, EA 6487.68

21832 PRECAST MANHOLE, SET 6' X 12' X 7' MANHOLE 12' DEEP, CLASS II, EA 6487.68

21841 PRECAST MANHOLE, SET 6' X 12' X 7' MANHOLE 13' DEEP, CLASS I, EA 6487.68

21842 PRECAST MANHOLE, SET 6' X 12' X 7' MANHOLE 13' DEEP, CLASS II, EA 6487.68

21843 SET 6'X 12' PRECAST CONCRETE MANHOLE, EA 10643.85

Page 161

Item #5.



21844 SET 8'X 12' PRECAST CONCRETE MANHOLE, EA 12671.25

21847 REMOVE PAD, ALL, EA 608.22

21849 ADJUST PAD, ALL, EA 608.22

21855 ADJUST PIT, ALL, EA 1216.44

21911 PRECAST MANHOLE, SET 6' X 12' X 10' MANHOLE 13' DEEP, CLASS I, EA7298.64

21912 PRECAST MANHOLE, SET 6' X 12' X 10' MANHOLE 13' DEEP, CLASS II, EA7298.64

21921 PRECAST MANHOLE, SET 6' X 12' X 10' MANHOLE 14' DEEP, CLASS I, EA7298.64

21922 PRECAST MANHOLE, SET 6' X 12' X 10' MANHOLE 14' DEEP, CLASS II, EA7298.64

21931 PRECAST MANHOLE, SET 6' X 12' X 10' MANHOLE 15' DEEP, CLASS I, EA7298.64

21932 PRECAST MANHOLE, SET 6' X 12' X 10' MANHOLE 15' DEEP, CLASS II, EA7298.64

21941 PRECAST MANHOLE, SET 6' X 12' X 10' MANHOLE 16' DEEP, CLASS I, EA7298.64

21942 PRECAST MANHOLE, SET 6' X 12' X 10' MANHOLE 16' DEEP, CLASS II, EA7298.64

22011 PRECAST MANHOLE, SET 8' X 12' X 7' MANHOLE 10' DEEP, CLASS I, EA6487.68

22012 PRECAST MANHOLE, SET 8' X 12' X 7' MANHOLE 10' DEEP, CLASS II, EA6487.68

22021 PRECAST MANHOLE, SET 8' X 12' X 7' MANHOLE 11' DEEP, CLASS I, EA6487.68

22022 PRECAST MANHOLE, SET 8' X 12' X 7' MANHOLE 11' DEEP, CLASS II, EA6487.68

22031 PRECAST MANHOLE, SET 8' X 12' X 7' MANHOLE 12' DEEP, CLASS I, EA6487.68

22032 PRECAST MANHOLE, SET 8' X 12' X 7' MANHOLE 12' DEEP, CLASS II, EA6487.68

22041 PRECAST MANHOLE, SET 8' X 12' X 7' MANHOLE 13' DEEP, CLASS I, EA6487.68

22042 PRECAST MANHOLE, SET 8'X 12' X 7' MANHOLE 13' DEEP, CLASS II, EA6487.68

22111 PRECAST MANHOLE, SET 8' X 16' X 7' MANHOLE 10' DEEP, CLASS I, EA7298.64

22112 PRECAST MANHOLE, SET 8' X 16' X 7' MANHOLE 10' DEEP, CLASS II, EA7298.64

22121 PRECAST MANHOLE, SET 8' X 16' X 7' MANHOLE 11' DEEP, CLASS I, EA7298.64

22122 PRECAST MANHOLE, SET 8' X 16' X 7' MANHOLE 11' DEEP, CLASS II, EA7298.64

22131 PRECAST MANHOLE, SET 8' X 16' X 7' MANHOLE 12' DEEP, CLASS I, EA7298.64

22132 PRECAST MANHOLE, SET 8' X 16' X 7' MANHOLE 12' DEEP, CLASS II, EA7298.64

22141 PRECAST MANHOLE, SET 8' X 16' X 7' MANHOLE 13' DEEP, CLASS I, EA7298.64

22142 PRECAST MANHOLE, SET 8' X 16' X 7' MANHOLE 13' DEEP, CLASS II, EA7298.64

22151 PRECAST MANHOLE, SET 8' X 16' X 7' MANHOLE 14' DEEP, CLASS I, EA7298.64

22152 PRECAST MANHOLE, SET 8' X 16' X 7' MANHOLE 14' DEEP, CLASS II, EA7298.64

22301 FORMS, PILE CAP, SFCA 16.22

22302 FORM, SLAB, SFCA 12.98

22303 FORM, REGULAR WALL, SFCA 24.33

22304 FORM, PILASTERED COLUMN, WALL, SFCA 21.08

22305 FORM, ELEVATED FLAT SLAB, SFCA 17.84

22306 FORM, ELEVATED TWO-WAY BEAM AND SLAB, SFCA 17.84

22307 FORMS, TRANSFORMER VAULT ACCESS CURB, SFCA 35.68

22401 MANHOLE NECK, INSTALL, EA 364.93

22405 ADJUST NON-TRAFFIC BEARING MANHOLE COVER, EA 729.86

22406 ADJUST TRAFFIC BEARING MANHOLE COVER, EA 973.15

22407 ADDITIONAL COURSE OF BRICK, EA 202.74

22408 ADJUST MANHOLE COVER AFTER MILL, EA 770.41

22409 ADJUST MANHOLE COVER BEFORE MILL, EA 770.41

22410 REPLACE BUTTERFLY MANHOLE ROOF, EA 1520.55

Page 162

Item #5.



22510 INSTALL CONDUIT, PVC OR STEEL, UP TO 3" DIAMETER 0.25

22511 INSTALL CONDUIT, PVC OR STEEL, 4" TO 6" DIAMETER 0.25

22512 INSTALL CONDUIT ELBOW, PVC OR STEEL, UP TO 3" DIAMETER91.23

22513 INSTALL CONDUIT ELBOW, PVC OR STEEL, 4" TO 6" DIAMETER 91.23

22602 DIRECTIONAL BORE 1" CONDUIT, LF 15.21

22603 DIRECTIONAL BORE 2" CONDUIT, LF 20.27

22604 DIRECTIONAL BORE 3" CONDUIT, LF 21.29

22605 DIRECTIONAL BORE 4" CONDUIT, LF 21.29

22625 DIRECTIONAL BORE 2-4" CONDUIT, LF 23.32

22606 DIRECTIONAL BORE 6" CONDUIT, LF 26.36

22626 DIRECTIONAL BORE 2-6" CONDUIT, LF 33.45

22700 MEASURING PULL TAPE, INSTALL, LF 1.62

22701 DUCT BANK, DIRECT BURY, 4", 2 HIGH X 2 WIDE, LF 36.49

22702 DUCT BANK, DIRECT BURY, 4", 2 HIGH X 3 WIDE, LF 44.60

22703 DUCT BANK, DIRECT BURY, 4", 2 HIGH X 4 WIDE, LF 52.71

22704 DUCT BANK, DIRECT BURY, 4", 2 HIGH X 5 WIDE, LF 60.82

22705 DUCT BANK, DIRECT BURY, 4", 3 HIGH X 3 WIDE, LF 68.93

22711 DUCT BANK, DIRECT BURY, 6", 2 HIGH X 2 WIDE, LF 52.71

22712 DUCT BANK, DIRECT BURY, 6", 2 HIGH X 3 WIDE, LF 60.82

22713 DUCT BANK, DIRECT BURY, 6", 2 HIGH X 4 WIDE, LF 68.93

22714 DUCT BANK, DIRECT BURY, 6", 2 HIGH X 5 WIDE, LF 77.04

22715 DUCT BANK, DIRECT BURY, 6", 3 HIGH X 3 WIDE, LF 77.04

22911 NON-REINFORCED CONCRETE, CLASS I, REMOVE, CF 25.34

22912 NON-REINFORCED CONCRETE, CLASS II, REMOVE, CF 40.55

22921 REINFORCED CONCRETE, CLASS I, REMOVE, CF 101.37

22922 REINFORCED CONCRETE, CLASS II, REMOVE, CF 101.37

22923 MODULAR BRICK STRUCTURE, REMOVE, CF 60.82

23011 DUCT BANK, NON-REINFORCED, 1 TO 4 DUCTS, CLASS I, REMOVE, LF97.32

23012 DUCT BANK, NON-REINFORCED, 1 TO 4 DUCTS, CLASS II, REMOVE, LF113.53

23013 DUCT BANK, REINFORCED, 1 TO 4 DUCTS, CLASS I, REMOVE, LF113.53

23014 DUCT BANK, REINFORCED, 1 TO 4 DUCTS, CLASS II, REMOVE, LF129.75

23021 DUCT BANK, NON-REINFORCED, 5 TO 8 DUCTS, CLASS I, REMOVE, LF113.53

23022 DUCT BANK, NON-REINFORCED, 5 TO 8 DUCTS, CLASS II, REMOVE, LF129.75

23023 DUCT BANK, REINFORCED, 5 TO 8 DUCTS, CLASS I, REMOVE, LF145.97

23024 DUCT BANK, REINFORCED, 5 TO 8 DUCTS, CLASS II, REMOVE, LF162.19

23031 DUCT BANK, NON-REINFORCED, 9 TO 12 DUCTS, CLASS I, REMOVE, LF145.97

23032 DUCT BANK, NON-REINFORCED, 9 TO 12 DUCTS, CLASS II, REMOVE, LF178.41

23033 DUCT BANK, REINFORCED, 9 TO 12 DUCTS, CLASS I, REMOVE, LF202.74

23034 DUCT BANK, REINFORCED, 9 TO 12 DUCTS, CLASS II, REMOVE, LF235.18

23041 DUCT BANK, NON-REINFORCED, 13 TO 16 DUCTS, CLASS I, REMOVE, LF202.74

23042 DUCT BANK, NON-REINFORCED, 13 TO 16 DUCTS, CLASS II, REMOVE, LF227.07

23043 DUCT BANK, REINFORCED, 13 TO 16 DUCTS, CLASS I, REMOVE, LF263.56

23044 DUCT BANK, REINFORCED, 13 TO 16 DUCTS, CLASS II, REMOVE, LF304.11

23051 DUCT BANK, NON-REINFORCED, 17 TO 20 DUCTS, CLASS I, REMOVE, LF344.66

Page 163

Item #5.



23052 DUCT BANK, NON-REINFORCED, 17 TO 20 DUCTS, CLASS II, REMOVE, LF385.21

23053 DUCT BANK, REINFORCED, 17 TO 20 DUCTS, CLASS I, REMOVE, LF405.48

23054 DUCT BANK, REINFORCED, 17 TO 20 DUCTS, CLASS II, REMOVE, LF466.30

23061 DUCT BANK, NON-REINFORCED, 21 TO 30 DUCTS, CLASS I, REMOVE, LF527.12

23062 DUCT BANK, NON-REINFORCED, 21 TO 30 DUCTS, CLASS II, REMOVE, LF608.22

23063 DUCT BANK, REINFORCED, 21 TO 30 DUCTS, CLASS I, REMOVE, LF648.77

23064 DUCT BANK, REINFORCED, 21 TO 30 DUCTS, CLASS II, REMOVE, LF729.86

23071 ABANDON MANHOLE, CF 101.37

23101 GROUT AND SEAL DUCT, CLASS I, EA 40.55

23102 GROUT AND SEAL DUCT, CLASS II, EA 60.82

23103 SEAL DUCT UP TO 6" IN DIAMETER, EA 40.55

23104 SEAL DUCT 7" TO 18" IN DIAMETER, EA 162.19

23105 SEAL DUCT 19" TO 36" IN DIAMETER, EA 324.38

23201 DUCT BANK, 4" DUCT, 2 HIGH BY 2 WIDE, LF 72.99

23202 DUCT BANK, 4" DUCT, 2 HIGH BY 3 WIDE, LF 81.10

23203 DUCT BANK, 4" DUCT, 2 HIGH BY 4 WIDE, LF 97.32

23204 DUCT BANK, 4" DUCT, 2 HIGH BY 5 WIDE, LF 113.53

23205 DUCT BANK, 4" DUCT, 3 HIGH BY 3 WIDE, LF 121.64

23206 DUCT BANK, 4" DUCT, 3 HIGH BY 4 WIDE, LF 129.75

23207 DUCT BANK, 4" DUCT, 4 HIGH BY 3 WIDE, LF 137.86

23208 DUCT BANK, 4" DUCT, 4 HIGH BY 4 WIDE, LF 145.97

23301 DUCT BANK, 6" DUCT, 2 HIGH BY 2 WIDE, LF 97.32

23302 DUCT BANK, 6" DUCT, 2 HIGH BY 3 WIDE, LF 113.53

23303 DUCT BANK, 6" DUCT, 2 HIGH BY 4 WIDE, LF 129.75

23304 DUCT BANK, 6" DUCT, 2 HIGH BY 5 WIDE, LF 145.97

23305 DUCT BANK, 6" DUCT, 3 HIGH BY 3 WIDE, LF 162.19

23306 DUCT BANK, 6" DUCT, 3 HIGH BY 4 WIDE, LF 178.41

23307 DUCT BANK, 6" DUCT, 4 HIGH BY 3 WIDE, LF 194.63

23308 DUCT BANK, 6" DUCT, 4 HIGH BY 4 WIDE, LF 210.85

23401 COUPLE TO 3-1/2" DUCT BANK, EA 28.38

23402 COUPLE TO 4" DUCT BANK, EA 28.38

23403 COUPLE TO 3-1/2" DUCT BANK, EA 28.38

23404 COUPLE TO 4" DUCT BANK, EA 28.38

23501 SPLIT DUCT, 4", INSTALL, LF 30.41

23502 SPLIT DUCT, 6", INSTALL, LF 30.41

23510 ROD 2" DUCT, LF 1.62

23511 ROD 3" DUCT, LF 1.62

23512 ROD 4" DUCT/LF 1.62

23513 ROD 6" DUCT/LF 1.62

23601 INSTALL PIT, ALL, EA 1054.25

23604 INSTALL SINGLE PHASE PADMOUNT EQUIPMENT, ALL, EA 202.74

23605 REMOVE SINGLE PHASE PADMOUNT EQUIPMENT, ALL, EA 608.22

23606 RELOCATE  SINGLE PHASE PADMOUNT EQUIPMENT, ALL, EA 608.22

23607 RELOCATE THREE  PHASE PADMOUNT EQUIPMENT, ALL, EA, UP TO 750 KVA1784.11

Page 164

Item #5.



23608 RELOCATE THREE PHASE PADMOUNT EQUIPMENT, ALL, EA, 1000 KVA TO 2500 KVA5271.24

23609 INSTALL THREE PHASE PADMOUNT EQUIPMENT, ALL, EA, UP TO 750 KVA2027.40

23610 INSTALL THREE PHASE PADMOUNT EQUIPMENT, ALL, EA 1000 KVA TO 2500 KVA3041.10

23611 REMOVE THREE PHASE PADMOUNT EQUIPMENT, ALL, EA UP TO 750 KVA4054.80

23612 REMOVE THREE PHASE PADMOUNT EQUIPMENT, ALL, EA 1000 KVA TO 2500 KVA7704.12

23811 INSTALL PULL AND SERVICE BOXES, ALL, EA 253.43

23812 REMOVE PULL AND SERVICE BOXES, ALL, EA 152.06

23813 INSTALL PEDSTALS, ALL, EA 182.47

23814 REMOVE PEDSTALS, ALL EA 101.37

23911 MANHOLE, PVC, CLASS I, INSTALL, EA 912.33

23912 MANHOLE, PVC, CLASS II, INSTALL, EA 1216.44

23913 MANHOLE, PVC, CLASS I, REMOVE, EA 689.32

23914 MANHOLE, PVC, CLASS II, REMOVE, EA 1216.44

23915 SET 36"X 60"X 36" POLYMER CONCRETE MANHOLE, EA 202.74

23916 REMOVE PVC MANHOLE, EA 861.65

24001 GROUND ROD ASSEMBLY, INSTALL, EA 50.69

24002 MANHOLE BONDING GROUND, INSTALL, EA 912.33

24200 PUMP OUT MANHOLE, EA 202.74

24300 CLEAN OUT MANHOLE, EA 912.33

24400 POLE AND FIXTURE, ALL OPTIONS, REM., EA 770.41

24410 POLE AND FIXTURE, ALL OPTIONS, REM., EA 770.41

24420 POLE AND FIXTURE, ALL OPTIONS, REM., EA 770.41

24460 POLE BRACKET AND  TWO FIXTURES, INSTALL OR REMOVE, EA304.11

24461 POLE BRACKET AND  TWO FIXTURES, INSTALL OR REMOVE, EA101.37

24462 INSTALL/REMOVE ANCHOR BASE, ALL, EA 1459.73

24470 REMOVE STREET LIGHT & BASE, ALL, EA 304.11

24471 INSTALL STREET LIGHT L1, L2, L3, ALL OPTIONS, EA 1216.44

24472 INSTALL STREET LIGHT L4,  ALL OPTIONS, EA 101.37

24473 INSTALL STREET LIGHT SINGLE ARM L5, L6, L12, L15, L16, 101.37

24474 INSTALL STREET LIGHT DOUBLE ARM L5, L6, L15, L16, 973.15

24475 WALL PACK FIXTURE, ALL OPTIONS, INSTALL OR REMOVE, EA 608.22

24476 REMOVE STREET LIGHT L1, L2, L3, ALL OPTIONS, EA 304.11

24600 ASPHALT PAVEMENT, REMOVAL, SF 4.05

24690 ASPHALT OVERLAY LESS THAN 2" THICK, SF 6.08

24700 ASPHALT PAVEMENT AND LIMEROCK REPLACEMENT, SF 8.92

24701 PULL SINGLE PHASE PRIMARY CABLE UP TO & INCLUDING 1/0 , LF1.52

24702 PULL THREE PHASE PRIMARY CABLE UP TO & INCLUDING 1/0, LF4.05

24703 PULL THREE PHASE CABLE 350 MCM & LARGER, LF 6.08

24704 REMOVE SINGLE PHASE PRIMARY CABLE, ALL, LF 2.03

24705 REMOVE THREE PHASE PRIMARY CABLE, ALL, LF 3.04

24706 SINGLE PHASE  SPLICE, UP TO AND INCLUDING 1/0 AWG, EA 101.37

24707 SINGLE PHASE  SPLICE, 350 MCM AND LARGER, EA 557.54

24708 SINGLE PHASE TERMINATION, UP TO AND INCLUDING 1/0 AWG, EA101.37

24709 SINGLE PHASE TERMINATION, 350 MCM AND LARGER, EA 253.43

Page 165

Item #5.



24710 SINGLE PHASE RISER POLE, EA 963.02

24711 TWO PHASE RISER POLE, EA 1165.76

24712 THREE PHASE 1/0 AWG RISER POLE, EA 1267.13

24713 THREE PHASE 350 MCM RISER POLE, EA 2027.40

24714 THREE PHASE 1000 MCM RISER POLE, EA 3041.10

24715 STRIP OUT RISER POLE - SINGLE OR MULTIPHASE - UP TO 350MCM, EA304.11

24716 STRIP OUT RISER POLE - 1000 MCM, EA 1317.81

24717 PULL THREE PHASE PRIMARY CABLE UP TO & INCLUDING 1/0, LF3.24

24718 PULL THREE PHASE CABLE 350 MCM & LARGER, LF 6.08

24801 CONCRETE SIDEWALK AND PAVEMENT 6" AND UNDER, REM., SF6.49

24802 CONCRETE SIDEWALK AND PAVEMENT OVER 6", REMOVE, CF 30.41

24803 MODULAR PAVEMENT, REMOVE, SF 10.14

24804 MODULAR PAVEMENT, INSTALL, SF 6.49

24900 INSTALL PAD,  ALL, EA 608.22

24901 CONCRETE SIDEWALK AND PAVEMENT 4" THICK, INSTALL, SF 6.49

24902 CONCRETE SIDEWALK AND PAVEMENT 5" THICK, INSTALL, SF 7.30

24903 CONCRETE SIDEWALK AND PAVEMENT 6" THICK, INSTALL, SF 8.11

24907 REMOVE PIT, ALL, EA 608.22

25001 CONCRETE CURB AND GUTTER, REMOVE, LF 17.84

25002 CONCRETE CURB AND GUTTER, ALL TYPES, INSTALL, LF 21.90

25003 GRANITE CURB REMOVAL, LF 20.27

25201 SAW CONCRETE, LF 6.08

25202 SAW ASPHALT, LF 4.87

25301 RAKE, SEED, AND MULCH 1000 SQUARE FEET AND LESS, SF 2.53

25302 RAKE, SEED, AND MULCH 1001 TO 5000 SQUARE FEET, SF 1.42

25303 RAKE, SEED, AND MULCH 5001 SF AND ABOVE, SF 2.03

25304 GRADE AND SOD 1000 SQUARE FEET AND LESS, SF 4.05

25305 GRADE AND SOD 1001 SQUARE FEET AND ABOVE, SF 2.84

25306 REMOVE/REPLACE SOD,SF 2.84

25400 DRILL HOLE IN MANHOLE FOR CONDUIT STUB-OUT, 364.93

25500 PULL PROPER SIZE DUCT SLUG THRU DUCT, ALL OPTIONS, LF 3.24

25601 PRIMARY, CABLE REMOVAL, UP TO 1/0, LF 3.24

25602 PRIMARY, CABLE REMOVAL, 1/0 TO 400 KCM, LF 4.05

25603 PRIMARY, CABLE REMOVAL, 401 KCM TO 750 KCM, LF 4.87

25604 SECONDARY, CABLE REMOVAL, 500 KCM OR SMALLER, LF 4.05

25605 12/2 SECONDARY CABLE INSTALLATION, LF 3.04

25606 #2  COPPER SECONDARY CABLE INSTALLATION, LF 2.43

25607 2/0 TRIPLEX SECONDARY CABLE INSTALLATION, LF 3.04

25608 4/0 TRIPLEX  SECONDARY CABLE INSTALLATION, LF 3.04

25609 SPLICE OR TERMINATION, SECONDARY, INSTALL, ALL, EA 136.85

25610 REMOVE SPLICE/TERMINATION SECONDARY, ALL, EA 5.07

25612 INSTALL SECONDARY CABLE UP TO & INCLUDING 4/0 AND FIBER OPTIC CABLE, ALL, LF1.52

25613 INSTALL SECONDARY CABLE 350 AND LARGER, ALL, LF 2.03

25614 REMOVE SECONDARY CABLE UP TO & INCLUDING 4/0 AND FIBER OPTIC CABLE, ALL, LF1.52

Page 166

Item #5.



25615 REMOVE SECONDARY CABLE 350 AND LARGER, ALL, LF 2.03

25616 SPLICE/TERMINATE SECONDARY, INSTALL, ALL, EA 10.14

25617 REMOVE SPLICE/TERMINATION SECONDARY, ALL, EA 5.07

25618 INSTALL & REMOVE UNDERGROUND SECONDARY RISER,ALL,EA456.17

28001 GENERAL FOREMAN - STRAIGHT TIME, Hr 76.03

28002 GENERAL FOREMAN - TIME  AND A HALF (1.5 X STRAIGHT TIME), Hr158.14

28003 GENERAL FOREMAN - DOUBLE TIME (2.0 X STRAIGHT TIME), Hr210.85

28004 FOREMAN (EQUIP. OPERATOR) - STRAIGHT TIME, Hr 83.53

28005 FOREMAN (EQUIP. OPR.) - TIME AND A HALF (1.5 X STR TIME)Hr125.29

28006 FOREMAN (EQUIP. OPR.) - DOUBLE TIME (2.0 X STR TIME)Hr 167.06

28007 LINEMAN - STRAIGHT TIME, Hr 102.38

28008 LINEMAN - TIME AND A HALF (1.5 X STRAIGHT TIME), Hr 153.58

28009 LINEMAN - DOUBLE TIME (2 X STRAIGHT TIME), Hr 163.81

28010 LABORER - STRAIGHT TIME, Hr 47.64

28011 LABORER - TIME AND A HALF (1.5 X STRAIGHT TIME), Hr 70.96

28012 LABORER - DOUBLE TIME (2.0 X STRAIGHT TIME), Hr 115.16

28013 FOREMAN - STRAIGHT TIME, Hr 70.96

28014 FOREMAN - TIME AND A HALF (1.5 X STRAIGHT TIME), Hr 106.44

28015 FOREMAN - DOUBLE TIME (2.0 X STRAIGHT TIME), Hr 165.44

28029 Electrical Contractor, Straight Time, hr. 182.47

29001 Hammer for Backhoe,HR 50.69

29002 Hammer, PNEUMATIC, 80 LB,HR 18.25

29003 Generator, 1 TO 5.0 KW,HR 14.19

29004 Cutting torch and Gas,HR 15.21

29005 Portable Welder,HR 15.21

29006 VIibrator, Concrete,HR 8.11

29007 Compactor, Roller, 2 Drum  2000 LB,HR 18.65

29008 Air Compressor,(250 CFM HOUR),HR 20.27

29009 Truck, Flatbed, 14 Foot to 16 Foot,HR 25.34

29010 Truck, Pickup, 4 Wheel Drive, HR 15.21

29011 Truck, Tractor 4X2,HR 64.88

29012 Truck, Flatbed, 14 to 16 Foot, HR 25.34

29013 Truck, Dump, 12 Yard,HR 35.48

29014 Truck, Dump, 6 Yards, HR 25.34

29015 Truck, Water, 1 Ton for Well Drilling,HR 91.23

29016 Truck, Dump, 16 Yards, HR 76.03

29017 Truck, Bucket, 42 Foot Working Height, HR 30.41

29018 Truck, Corner/center Mount, HR 65.89

29019 Truck, Utility Line, HR 65.89

29020 Trailer,  Semi Tractor, Hr 105.42

29021 Trailer, water tank, engine driven discharge,HR 20.27

29022 Crane, 15 Ton, HR 126.71

29023 Crane 40 Ton, HR 146.99

29024 Crane 75 Ton, HR 170.30

Page 167

Item #5.



29025 Crane, 90 Ton, HR 283.84

29026 Backhoe, CASE 580C or Equal with Transport Trailer, Hr 30.41

29027 Backhoe, CASE 780C or Equal with Transport Trailer, Hr 60.82

29028 Backhoe, Crawler Type with Transport Trailer, Hr 45.62

29029 Bulldozer, D4 Cat or Equal, Hr 133.81

29030 Bulldozer, D6 Cat or Equal, Hr 182.47

29031 Tractor and Mower, Bush Hog, Hr 60.82

29032 Trencher, Davis 40+4 or Equal with Transport Trailer, Hr 45.62

29033 Pump, Single Diaphragm, 5 HP Minimum, Hr 15.21

29034 Pump, 4" Jet with Intake and Discharge Hose, Hr 25.34

29035 Pump, 6" for Well Point Operation, Hr 68.93

29036 Pump, 6" for Well Point Operation, WK 4865.76

29037 Air Compressor with One Hammer, 100 CFM Minimum, Hr 35.48

29038 Air Compressor, 250 CFM Hour, Hr 45.62

29043 Saw, Concrete, Walking Type, Hr 36.49

29044 Saw, Concrete, Handheld Type, Hr 30.41

29045 Trailer, Material/Equipment, 6 Wheel, Hr 10.14

29046 Tamper, Power, 5HP Minimum, Hr 15.21

29047 Van, Splicer/Equipment, Hr 52.71

29050 Ground Penetrating Radar Unit, Hr 101.37

29051 Bore and Jack Equipment, Hr 648.77

29052 Directional Boring Equipment & Tank Truck, Hr 405.48

29053 Truck Mounted Ground Rod Driving Equipment, Hr 101.37

29054 Distribution Conductor Stringing Equipment 152.06

29055 Reel Carrier for Distribution Conductor 10.14

29056 Distibution Dollie 0.81

99999 REIMBURSABLE 1.00

Page 168

Item #5.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TO:  City Council Regular Session MEETING DATE: August 03, 2021 

FROM: Andy Yeager, Electric Director 

SUBJECT: Approval to pay Invoice # 1 and # 2 to SPX Transformer Solutions in the total amount of 

$977,105.00 for the purchase of Chapman Transformer #3.  Andy Yeager 
 

BACKGROUND 

To be able to supply the growing city of Green Cove Springs with more capacity and reliable energy 

into the future. It was decided after much debate to purchase a transformer from SPX Transformer 

Solutions and add it to our other two transformers at Chapman Substation. 

We put in the order and entered a contract on 7/23/2020 with SPX Transformer Solutions and the 

transformer was delivered on 5/28/2021 to the Chapman Substation. We are now in the process of 

burying underground cable to riser poles outside the substation and energizing the transformer. 

There are two invoices, one is for the transformer and one is for the field assembly and testing of the 

transformer at the Chapman Substation which is both covered in the contract. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

Funds are budgeted for this purchase in the approved FY 21 Electric Department CIP Budget 

RECOMMENDATION 

Authorize as an action to pay SPX Transformer Solutions in the amount of $ 977,105.00 which is the 

total of the combined two invoices attached 

 

Page 169

Item #6.



SPX TRANSFORMER SOLUTIONS, INC.
400 South Prairie Avenue
Waukesha, WI 53186-5969

INVOICE Page 1/1

Invoice Number: 90032165 Invoice Date: 06/09/2021

BILL TO:

CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS
Accounts Payable
321 WALNUT STREET
GREEN COVE SPRINGS FL 32043
USA

SHIP TO:Additional Info:

CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS
Chapman Substation
4530-3 CR 15A Int.Taylons&Boulevard Rds
GREEN COVE SPRINGS FL 32043
USA

Project Number:

GT-05319

Order Number:

5319

Order Date:

07/23/2020

Date Shipped:

05/25/2021
Customer Purchase Order:

Contract

Purchase Order Date:

07/23/2020

Terms of Payment:

Within 30 days Due net

Channel Partner:

Electric Sales Associates

Channel Partner No:
500002

Company Code:
2000

Customer Number:

3766

Bill of Lading: Shipped From:

GOLDSBORO, NC

Freight Terms:

FOB/ Pad
Item Description Quantity

Ordered
Quantity
Invoiced

Unit Price Amount

10 Transformer 1 1 Included $879,394.50

90% Upon Shipment

Subtotal before Taxes: $879,394.50

Total Invoice Amount: $879,394.50

Correspondence: 400 S.Prairie,Waukesha,WI 53186-5969 Remit To Address: PO Box 277311 Atlanta, GA 30384-7311

Wire Transfer
Information:

Bank of America/SPX Transformer Solutions, INC./New York NY
Account Number 3750584433 ABA#0260-0959-3

Automatic Clearing
House (ACH)
Information:

Bank of America/SPX Transformer Solutions, INC./New York NY
Account Number 3750584433 ABA# 1110-0001-2

Swift Information: BOFAUS3N

Please contact Accounting at 262-547-0121 for any questions regarding this document.

Page 170

Item #6.



SPX TRANSFORMER SOLUTIONS, INC.
400 South Prairie Avenue
Waukesha, WI 53186-5969

INVOICE Page 1/1

Invoice Number: 90032286 Invoice Date: 06/24/2021

BILL TO:

CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS
Accounts Payable
321 WALNUT STREET
GREEN COVE SPRINGS FL 32043
USA

SHIP TO:Additional Info:

CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS
Chapman Substation
4530-3 CR 15A Int.Taylons&Boulevard Rds
GREEN COVE SPRINGS FL 32043
USA

Project Number:

GT-05319

Order Number:

5319

Order Date:

07/23/2020

Date Shipped:

05/25/2021
Customer Purchase Order:

Contract

Purchase Order Date:

07/23/2020

Terms of Payment:

Within 30 days Due net

Channel Partner:

Electric Sales Associates

Channel Partner No:
500002

Company Code:
2000

Customer Number:

3766

Bill of Lading: Shipped From:

GOLDSBORO, NC

Freight Terms:

FOB/ Pad
Item Description Quantity

Ordered
Quantity
Invoiced

Unit Price Amount

10 Transformer 1 1 Included $97,710.50

10% Upon Completion of Field Assembly and submission of Field Test Report

Subtotal before Taxes: $97,710.50

Total Invoice Amount: $97,710.50

Correspondence: 400 S.Prairie,Waukesha,WI 53186-5969 Remit To Address: PO Box 277311 Atlanta, GA 30384-7311

Wire Transfer
Information:

Bank of America/SPX Transformer Solutions, INC./New York NY
Account Number 3750584433 ABA#0260-0959-3

Automatic Clearing
House (ACH)
Information:

Bank of America/SPX Transformer Solutions, INC./New York NY
Account Number 3750584433 ABA# 1110-0001-2

Swift Information: BOFAUS3N

Please contact Accounting at 262-547-0121 for any questions regarding this document.

Page 171

Item #6.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TO:  City Council Regular Session MEETING DATE: August 3, 2021 

FROM: Mike Null 

SUBJECT: Approval of Pay Application #6 to Terry’s Electric for Chapman Substation Construction 

Improvements in the amount of $114,950.00, leaving a balance of $184,126.80 in contract 

number LC 2020-17 in the total amount of $879,086.00. Andy Yeager 
 

BACKGROUND 

At the December 8, 2020 City Council meeting, Council awarded ITB LC 2020-17 to perform 

construction work at the Chapman Substation to Terry’s Electric in the amount of $879,086.00. 

At the March 16, 2021 Council meeting, Council approved Pay Application #1 in the amount of 

$227,171.99 for payment. 

At the April 6, 2021 Council meeting, Council approved Pay Application #2 in the amount of 

$83,855.41 for payment. 

At the April 20, 2021 Council meeting, Council approved Pay Application #3 in the amount of 

$39,600.00 for payment. 

At the May 18, 2021 Council Meeting, Council approved Pay Application #4 in the amount of 

$106,594.30 for payment. 

At the July 6, 2021 Council Meeting, Council approved Pay Application #5 in the amount of 

$122,787.50 for payment. 

Terry’s Electric has submitted Pay Application # 6 in the amount of $114,950.00 for payment.  The 

City’s Engineer, Patterson & Dewar, as well as city staff have reviewed the pay application and find it to 

be complete and recommend approval for payment. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

The funds for the construction project in the amount of $879,086.00 are in the Electric Department’s FY 

2021 capital project fund. 

RECOMMENDATION 

Approve Pay Application #6 to Terry’s Electric for Chapman Substation Construction Improvements in 

the amount of $114,950.00, leaving a balance of $184,126.80 in contract number LC 2020-17 in the 

total amount of $879,086.00. 
 

Page 172

Item #7.



1531 Hunt Club Blvd, Suite 200 
Gallatin, TN 37066 

(615) 527-7084 
pdengineers.com 

July 23, 2021 

Mr. Mike Null  
City of Green Cove Springs 
321 Walnut Street 
Green Cove Springs, FL 32043 

Subject: Chapman Substation & SCADA Installation, Construction Contract LC 2020-17 
Terry’s Electric – Application for Payment No. 6 

Mr. Null, 

Enclosed is the Contractor’s sixth invoice for the subject project.  We have reviewed the invoice and recommend 
payment as follows: 

Original Contract Amount 879,086.00$            
Total Amount Due to Date 731,536.00$            
Less Retainage (5%) (36,576.80)$             
Net Amount Due to Date 694,959.20$            
Less Previously Recommended Payments (580,009.20)$          
Net Amount Due this Application 114,950.00$            
Balance Remaining 184,126.80$            

Please forward payment directly to the address noted on the invoice. If you have any questions or comments, please 
feel free to call me at (615) 527-7077. 

Sincerely, 
Patterson & Dewar Engineers, Inc. 

P. Anthony Hanson, P.E.
Principal Engineer
ahanson@pdengineers.com

Page 173

Item #7.

mailto:ahanson@pdengineers.com


114,950.00

07/23/2021

Page 174

Item #7.



Page 175

Item #7.



Page 176

Item #7.



FMPA Monthly Report 

 

August 2021 

 

Rate Call 

 

The average price of natural gas for the month was $3.02. Daily natural gas prices have fluctuated in the 

$3.60 - 4.20 range and natural gas pricing continues its upward trend. The forward pricing curve moved to 

36% above the  FY21 budgeted natural gas price. 

 

The peak for the month occurred on 11 June at 5 PM. 

 

Natural gas accounted for 78% of the generation mix. Coal was 14% and nuclear was 5%. Solar 

generation was 1%. 

 

The Vero Beach cost recovery account stands at $4.3 million. This is $5.3 million below the planned 

target. 

 

Board of directors 

 

The Board of Directors approved the refinancing of St Lucie debt and the nomination of Board officers. 

 

Information items included a third-party sales margin summary, review of the APPA position on climate 

change, review of distribution reliability and notice of annual Continuing Disclosure report. 

 

Executive Committee 

 

The Executive Committee approved the sunsetting of the Conservation and Renewable Energy Advisory 

Committee (CREAC), nomination of Executive Committee officers and the FPL transmission refund. 

 

Information items were the same as those in the Board of Directors meeting. 

 

Policy Makers Liaison Committee  
 

The Policy Makers Liaison Committee approved the election of officers and the FY22 meeting schedule. 

 

Information items included a report by the General Manager and CEO, update on the All-Requirements 

Project and Municipal Power cost, Electric Distribution Reliability update and a discussion of the APPA 

position on climate change.  

 

The presentations from the PMLC agenda are include for your review. 

Page 177

Item #8.



MEETING AGENDA PACKAGE

Policy Makers Liaisons Committee 

July 22, 2021 
3:00 to 4:00 p.m. 

Meeting Being Held at: 

Naples Grande Beach Resort 
475 Seagate Drive, Naples, FL 

Dial-in information:  407-404-7556 or 855-831-5534, 
Access Code 13244# 

+ + + + + + + + + + + + + 

Policy Makers Liaisons Committee 

Dan Robuck, Leesburg – Chair 
Robert Page, Green Cove Springs – Vice Chair 
Bil Spaude, Bushnell 
Kristine Petersen, Clewiston 
Rick Cochrane, Fort Meade 
Tom Perona, Fort Pierce 
George Forbes, Jacksonville Beach 
Robert Barrios, Key West 
Ethel Urbina, Kissimmee 
Rae Hemphill, Kissimmee, Alternate 
Bill Conrad, Newberry 
Brent Malever, Ocala 
Keith Trace, St. Cloud 
Scott Roberts, Starke 

Page 1 of 50 Page 178

Item #8.



 
 

 

 

MEMORANDUM 
 

TO: Policy Makers Liaisons Committee 
FROM: Mark McCain 
DATE: July 13, 2021 
RE: Policy Makers Liaisons Committee Meeting 
 Thursday, July 22, 2021, 3:00 p.m. to 4:00 p.m. [NOTE TIME] 
PLACE: Naples Grande Beach Resort, 475 Seagate Dr., Naples, FL [NOTE PLACE] 
TEAMS: In-Person and Telephonic - 407-404-7556 or 855-831-5534, Conf. ID 13244#,  
 (If you have trouble connecting, please call 407-355-7767) 
 

Chair Dan Robuck, Presiding 
 

The mission of the Committee is to facilitate the education of elected or appointed governing body members of FMPA’s 
member utility systems, and to foster opportunities for greater communication and knowledge among governing body 
members regarding the business and projects of FMPA. 

 

AGENDA 
1. Call to Order, Roll Call, Declaration of Quorum 

 
2. Set Agenda (by vote) 

 
3. Consent Agenda 

a. Approval of the Minutes for the Meeting Held April 14, 2021 
 

4. Action Items 
a. Election of Committee Officers (Mark McCain) 
b. Approval of 2021-2022 Meeting Schedule (Mark McCain) 

 

5. Report from the General Manager and CEO (Jacob Williams) 
 

6. Information Items 
a. Update on All-Requirements Project and Municipal Power Costs (Jacob Williams) 
b. Electric Distribution Reliability Update (Cairo Vanegas) 
c. APPA Climate Discussions and Comparison of Legislative Proposals (Jacob Williams) 

 
7. Member Comments 

 
8. Announcements 

a. Next Meeting (if schedule approved): Wednesday, October 20, 2021 at FMPA, 8553 Commodity 
Circle, Orlando, FL 

 
9. Adjourn 

 

One or more participants in the above referenced public meeting may participate by telephone. At the above location there will be a speaker telephone so that any interested 
person can attend this public meeting and be fully informed of the discussions taking place either in person or by telephone communication.  If anyone chooses to appeal any 
decision that may be made at this public meeting, such person will need a record of the proceedings and should accordingly ensure that a verbatim record of the proceedings is 
made, which includes the oral statements and evidence upon which such appeal is based.  This public meeting may be continued to a date and time certain, which will be 
announced at the meeting.  Any person requiring a special accommodation to participate in this public meeting because of a disability, should contact FMPA at (407) 355-7767 or 
1-(888)-774-7606, at least two (2) business days in advance to make appropriate arrangements. 

Page 2 of 50 Page 179

Item #8.



QUORUM REQUIREMENT 
(MAJORITY OF AVERAGE NUMBER OF MEMBERS PRESENT FROM LAST 

4 PMLC MEETINGS) 

July 29, 2020 – 7 present 

October 14, 2020 – 8 present 

January 20, 2021 – 7 present 

April 15, 2021 – 7 present 

AGENDA ITEM 1 - CALL TO ORDER, 
ROLL CALL, DECLARATION OF 
QUORUM 

Policy Makers Liaisons Committee Meeting 
July 22, 2021 

Page 3 of 50 Page 180

Item #8.



AGENDA ITEM 2 – SET AGENDA (by 
vote) 

Policy Makers Liaisons Committee Meeting 
July 22, 2021 

Page 4 of 50 Page 181

Item #8.



AGENDA ITEM 3 – CONSENT AGENDA 

a. Approval of Minutes for the Meetings
Held April 14, 2021

Policy Makers Liaisons Committee Meeting 
July 22, 2021 

Page 5 of 50 Page 182

Item #8.



CLERKS DULY NOTIFIED ..................................................................... APRIL 6, 2021 
AGENDA PACKAGE E-MAILED TO MEMBERS .................................. APRIL 7, 2021 

 

 
MINUTES 

FMPA TELEPHONIC POLICY MAKERS LIAISONS COMMITTEE MEETING 
FLORIDA MUNICIPAL POWER AGENCY 

8553 COMMODITY CIRCLE 
ORLANDO, FL  32819 

DATE:  WEDNESDAY, APRIL 14, 2021 
TIME: 1:00 P.M. 

 
MEMBERS  Bob Page, Green Cove Springs 
PRESENT  George Forbes, Jacksonville Beach 
 Robert Barrios, Key West (via telephone) 

Rae Hemphill, Kissimmee 
Dan Robuck, Leesburg 
Bill Conrad, Newberry (via telephone) 
Keith Trace, St. Cloud 

 
OTHERS Jody Young, Bushnell 
PRESENT  

 
STAFF  Jacob Williams, General Manager & CEO 
PRESENT Ken Rutter, Chief Operating Officer 
 Mark McCain, Vice President of Member Services and 
      Public Relations 
 Jody Finklea, General Counsel & CLO 
 Dan O’Hagan, Asst. General Counsel & Regulatory  
      Compliance Counsel 
 Mike McCleary, Manager of Member Services 
 Cairo Vanegas, Manager of Member Services 

 Sue Utley, Executive Assistant to CEO / Asst. Secretary to Board 
 Susan Schumann, Public Relations and External Affairs  
      Manager 

 
Item 1 – Call to Order, Roll Call, Declaration of Quorum 
 
Chair Dan Robuck, called the meeting to order at 1:00 p.m. on Wednesday, April 14, 
2021, at Florida Municipal Power Agency, 8553 Commodity Circle, Orlando, Florida.  A 
roll call was taken and 7 members were present. 
 
Item 2 – Set Agenda (By Vote) 
 
MOTION: George Forbes, Jacksonville Beach, moved to set the agenda as presented.  
Bill Conrad, Newberry, seconded the motion.  Motion carried 7 – 0 
 
Item 3 – Consent Agenda 
 
3a – Approval of the Minutes for the meeting held October 14, 2020 
 
MOTION:  George Forbes, Jacksonville Beach, moved approval of the Minutes of 
January 20, 2021.  Bob Page, Green Cove Springs, seconded the motion.  Motion 
carried 7 – 0. 
 

Page 6 of 50 Page 183

Item #8.



Policy Makers Liaisons Committee Meeting Minutes 
April 14, 2021 
Page 2 of 2 

Item 4 – Report from the General Manager 
 
Jacob Williams reported on the year-to-date progress on the Goals Scorecard. 
 
Item 5 – Information Items 
 

a. Lessons from the Texas Energy Crisis 
 
Jacob Williams presented information on the energy crisis in Texas and the Midwest. 
 

b. Florida Legislative Update 
 
Ryan Matthews, Peebles, Smith and Matthews, LLC, reported on what the upcoming 
issues are for public power in Florida. 
 

c. Estimated Impact of CLEAN Future Act in Congress 
 
Jacob Williams and Navid Nowakhtar gave a presentation on the impacts of the CLEAN 
Future Act draft legislation in Congress. 
 

d. Follow Up from FMPA’s Strategic Planning Workshop 
 
Jacob Williams reported the top five Board of Directors strategic priorities and the 
Executive Committee’s top three strategic priorities and next actions for both. 
 
Item 6 – Member Comments 
 
Dan Robuck, Leesburg, said there is money available from the Federal government for 
cities to add solar and car charging stations. 
 
Item 7 – Announcements 
 

a. Next Meeting:  Thursday, July 22, 2021 at the Naples Grande Beach Resort, 475 
Seagate Drive, Naples, FL 

 
Item 9 - Adjourn 
 
There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 2:11 p.m. 
 
 
              
Dan Robuck      Sue Utley 
Chairman      Assistant Secretary 
 
 
Date Approved      
 
DR/su 

Page 7 of 50 Page 184

Item #8.



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM 4 – ACTION ITEMS 
 
a. Election of Committee Officers 
 
Policy Makers Liaisons Committee Meeting 
July 22, 2021 

Page 8 of 50 Page 185

Item #8.



Policy Makers Liaisons Committee

4a – Election of Committee Officers

July 22, 2021
Page 9 of 50 Page 186

Item #8.



Committee Charter Describes Officer Election Process

• Committee elects two officer annually: Chair and Vice Chair

• Elections held every July or when there is a vacancy

• Officers serve until the next July election

• Nominations come from the Committee prior to an elective vote

• Quorum Requirement: Majority of appointed Liaisons (or their 
alternate) present in person or by electronic means

• Majority vote; one vote per city on the Committee

2

Nominations and Elections by the Committee from the Floor

Page 10 of 50 Page 187

Item #8.



Current Officers as Elected in 2020

3

Existing Officers Willing to Serve Another Year, If Nominated

Current Officers Elected 2020
• Chair

Dan Robuck
City of Leesburg

• Vice Chair
Bob Page
City of Green Cove Springs

Nomination Considerations
• Historically, PMLC has 

maintained officers for at 
least two years to promote 
leadership continuity

• Both current officers willing 
to serve again, if nominated

Page 11 of 50 Page 188

Item #8.



Recommended Motions

4

• Nominate a Chair and Vice Chair

• Elect a Chair and Vice Chair

Page 12 of 50 Page 189

Item #8.



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM 4 – ACTION ITEMS 
 
b. Approval of 2021-2022 Meeting 

Schedule 
 
Policy Makers Liaisons Committee Meeting 
July 22, 2021 

Page 13 of 50 Page 190

Item #8.



Policy Makers Liaisons Committee

4b – Approval of 2021-2022 Meeting 
Schedule

July 22, 2021
Page 14 of 50 Page 191

Item #8.



Charter States PMLC Shall Meet at Least Annually

• Committee required to meet at least annually at FMEA Annual 
Conference

• Over the years, Committee has decided to meet quarterly

• Meetings typically held day before FMPA governing board meetings

• Policy Makers meet informally at noon for lunch

• Business meetings held starting at 1 p.m.

2

Historically, Committee Has Opted to Meet Quarterly

Page 15 of 50 Page 192

Item #8.



Recommended Meeting Schedule for 2020-2021

• Wednesday, October 20, 2021

• Wednesday, January 19, 2022

• Wednesday, April 20, 2022

• At FMEA Annual Conference in July 2022 (TBD)

3

Meeting Dates Day Before FMPA Governing Board Meetings

Page 16 of 50 Page 193

Item #8.



Recommended Motion

4

Move approval of the Policy Makers Liaisons Committee’s 
meeting schedule for 2021-2022, as recommended.

Page 17 of 50 Page 194

Item #8.



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM 5 – REPORT FROM 
THE GENERAL MANAGER  
 
Policy Makers Liaisons Committee Meeting 
July 22, 2021 

Page 18 of 50 Page 195

Item #8.



Goal Status Actual
YTD 

Actual
YTD 

Target
FY’21 
Target Comment

1.Safety
Lost-time Accidents 0 1 0 0

No lost time accidents in June.
OSHA Recordables 0 1 0 0

2.Compliance
Environmental 0 0 0 0

Potential CIP Self Report related to 
scanning external mediaFinancial 0 0 0 0

Regulatory 0 0 0 0

3.Low Cost
($/MWh)

Under $70/MWh $61.00* $70.13* $74.31 < $70.00 * May 2021. June 2021 data will updated
for the mtg. YTD May 2021 MWh sales 
3.2% > budget. All-in Costs ~$4 /MWh 
(6.0%) < YTD target due to O&M (9%), 
assigned project costs (10%), admin & 
gen.(11%) offset by net fuel costs (2%) > 
target.

Fuel $25.67* $22.44* $22.19 $22.19

Non-Fuel $35.33* $47.69* $52.12 $47.81

4.Stanton I and Stanton II
Decision from OUC to reduce power 
costs and emissions

Engineering design underway
Working with OUC on post conversion 
energy scheduling concepts
OUC recommendation on timing of 
conversion by September

Fiscal 2021 Management Goals through June 30, 2021

Page 19 of 50 Page 196

Item #8.



Goal Status Actual
YTD 

Actual
YTD 

Target
FY’21 
Target Comment

5.Cyber 
Security

Breaches 0 0 0 0

Phishing tests 2.7% 3.8% 5% or < 5% or <
Two people clicked the email link this month 
and one of them entered their credentials 
into a fake Amazon webpage

Member assessments 0 2 3 5 Seven assessments in progress

6.Reliability

CC EAF 99.8% 92.2% 88.5% 90%
TCEC was in forced outage due to a 
mechanically bound CT #2 bearing blower 
diverter and associated switch failure.

SI black start and 
trans. backup 0 11 11 100%

SAIDI Reduction 0 4 8 10

7.Member
Services

Leadership
member visits 3 61 56.25 75

Projects managed for 
members 2 14 15 20 Clewiston system map, Starke power factor 

correction

8.Value
of Muni

Member info updates 1 11 12 16
Alachua, Bartow, Chattahoochee, FPUA, 
GCS, Havana, Jacksonville Beach, KUA, New 
Smyrna Beach, Ocala, Wauchula

Presentations
Social media 2 9 8 10

Bartow, Chattahoochee, FPUA (7/19), KUA, 
Lake Worth, Leesburg, New Smyrna Beach 
(9/28), Newberry, Starke, Wauchula

Page 20 of 50 Page 197

Item #8.



Goal Status Actual
YTD 

Actual
YTD 

Target
FY’21 
Target Comment

9.Load
Management

Dev. opportunities for 5 
MW 0 0 5

Visits underway with 13 ARP cities. Thus 
far 5 cities surveyed with potential for 
2MW

10.Financing

Restructure debt 0 1 1 1 Done

Extend debt to include 
R&R funding 0 0 0 1

St. Lucie refi underway. Should select 
UW soon. NPV of 5% or greater 
expected

Prepaid gas min. svgs. 
of $0.20/mmBtu 0 0 0 1

Two transactions approved awaiting 
closure in June and summer only before 
EC in June

11.Transmission Neg. service upgrade 
for LWB & Homestead

LWB engineer work ongoing, Homestead 
development in progress

12.People

360 training for 
Leadership & mgmt. 0 11 6.4 11 All 11 Directors/Managers Completed

Mgmt. outreach to 
diverse prof. groups .5 2.5 1.5 3

Jacob - AABE membership
Linda – NABA membership; contact at 
NSBE

Individual development 
plans 21 50 50 50 Completed by March 31. Now follow-up 

on plans

FMPA Fleet Team 
Sharing – Days 0 131 75 100 Page 21 of 50 Page 198

Item #8.



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM 6 – INFORMATION 
ITEMS 
 
a. Update on All-Requirements Project 

and Municipal Power Costs 
 
Policy Makers Liaisons Committee Meeting 
July 22, 2021 

Page 22 of 50 Page 199

Item #8.



Policy Makers Liaisons Committee

4a – Update on All-Requirement Project 
and Municipal Power Costs

July 22, 2021
Page 23 of 50 Page 200

Item #8.



FMPA’s Power Costs Lowest Since 2004

2

36% Below 2009 Costs; $220M Lower in Overall Costs in FY20

$104.80

$94.60

$83.20
$79.40

$85.90
$81.80

$72.80 $71.90
$77.10

$71.68 $71.22
$66.83 $69.00

$73.07

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

$4-5/MWh 
Increase Due to  

Gas Price Increase

Forecasted

All-Requirements Project Power Costs
Average cost per 1,000 kWh billed by fiscal year, historic and forecasted

Page 24 of 50 Page 201

Item #8.



FMPA Focused on Reducing Controllable Costs

Major Cost-Saving Efforts for Fiscal 2021 Fiscal Year Savings

Margin from off-system capacity and energy sales $12.8 million

Pre-paid natural gas and physical hedges $6.0 million

Debt financing for capital expenditures $4.0 million
Continued above average availability of combined cycles $8.0 million

3

Recent Efforts to Save $30.8M Annually, or ~$5 per MWh

Future Cost-Savings Efforts Underway Potential Savings

Stanton conversion from coal to natural gas $6-$15 million1

Continued above average availability of combined cycles $7.0 million

1 Estimated savings per year once completed
Page 25 of 50 Page 202

Item #8.



Natural Gas Prices Rising Pressuring Power Cost

4

Wholesale Power Costs $6-7/MWh Higher Due to Gas Prices

NYMEX Natural Gas Prices
Price per MMBtu as of July 9, 2021, FMPA actual and projections

$2.33 $2.57

$3.03 $2.99

$2.53 $2.57 $2.62 $2.62 $2.60

$2.10

$3.00

$2.90

$2.47

$2.76

$2.85

$2.59

$2.93
$2.98

$3.62 $3.69 $3.67

$2.00

$2.20

$2.40

$2.60

$2.80

$3.00

$3.20

$3.40

$3.60

$3.80

Budget

Actual and 
Projections

Page 26 of 50 Page 203

Item #8.



Average Municipal Retail Rates Competitive with IOUs

5

There’s More to Do for All Municipals to Be Competitive Locally

1,000 kWh Residential Bill

Florida Municipals* Investor-Owned Utilities*

$132

2010

$121

2010

$109

2010

$110

2020

$108

2020

$108

2020

$75

$85

$95

$105

$115

$125

$135

FMPA ARP*

14% 10%

Proposed 10% 
Avg. Increase 

in 2022

* 2010 and 2020 ARP, Municipal and IOU rates weighted by 2010 and 2019 annual load, Calendar Year
Page 27 of 50 Page 204

Item #8.

Presenter
Presentation Notes
RICHARD TO REVISE



Base Rates for Investor-Owned Utilities Going Up

Utility
Current Rate 
1,000 kWh1

Percent Increase in Residential Electric Rates 
by Effective Date Return on 

Equity 
1/1/22 1/1/23 1/1/24 1/1/25

FPL2 $103.02 10.6% 3.6% 1.9% 1.3% 11.5%

Duke Florida3 $127.36 3-4% 1-2% 1-2% -- 9.85%

Tampa Electric4 $105.25 19.2% TBD TBD -- 10.75%

6

Lowest IOUs Requested Rate Increases of 10-19% on 1/1/22

1 Florida PSC, Florida investor-owned electric utilities total cost for 1,000 kilowatt hours residential service, May 1, 2021, through December 31, 2021
2 News Service of Florida, FPL’s proposed rate increases and ROE are subject to approval by the Florida Public Service Commission.
3 Florida PSC Approves Duke Energy Florida Rates Through 2024. The rate increases are in ranges because caveats in the approved rates, such as federal and/or state 

income-tax changes, could alter the increases.
4 News Service of Florida, Tampa Electric’s proposed rate increases and ROE are subject to approval by the Florida Public Service Commission.

Page 28 of 50 Page 205

Item #8.

http://www.psc.state.fl.us/Files/PDF/Utilities/Electricgas/BillingAdjustments/ba_total-2021.pdf
https://charlottecounty.floridaweekly.com/articles/florida-power-light-files-plan-for-base-rate-hikes/
http://www.psc.state.fl.us/Home/NewsLink?id=11931
https://wusfnews.wusf.usf.edu/economy-business/2021-04-10/teco-customers-could-see-rate-hikes-over-next-three-years


AGENDA ITEM 6 – INFORMATION 
ITEMS 

b. Electric Distribution Reliability Update

Policy Makers Liaisons Committee Meeting 
July 22, 2021 

Page 29 of 50 Page 206

Item #8.



Policy Makers Liaisons Committee

6b – Electric Distribution Reliability Update

July 22, 2021
Page 30 of 50 Page 207

Item #8.



Helping Members Enhance Reliability to Customers

• Customers expect more reliable power

• Investor-owned utilities (IOUs) are making 
system investments and setting new standard 
for reliability

• Some municipals perform excellent in 
reliability but performance on some indices 
varies widely

• As municipal rates become more competitive, 
need to invest back in systems

2

Investment Needed in Electric System to Improve Performance

60
Reduce average   

outage duration for 
Florida’s municipals to 

60 minutes

60
Page 31 of 50 Page 208

Item #8.



Municipal Reliability Performance Varies Widely

3

Effort Required to Meet SAIDI Goal of 60 Minutes

Average Outage Duration (SAIDI) for Municipals That Provide Data to FMPA
In minutes for FY 2020

0

50

100

150

200

250

Municipals Less Than 6,000 Meters Greater Than 50,000 MetersBetween 12,000-36,000 Meters

Goal

Page 32 of 50 Page 209

Item #8.



IOU Spend on Reliability Up ~4-10 Times Since 2011

$0

$2

$4

$6

$8

$10

$12

2011 2013 2015 2017 2019 2021

4

Reinvestment in the System Impacts Reliability Performance

SOURCE: Distribution Reliability Report filed with Florida Public Service Commission

Investor-Owned Utility (IOU) Spending on Reliability
Dollar increases from base year of 2011

FPL Duke 
Florida

Page 33 of 50 Page 210

Item #8.



FMPA Has a Team of Experts to Provide Assistance 

Alan O’Heron, P.E.
Engineer, 33 years of substation 
design and operations experience

Cairo Vanegas 
Engineer, 23 years of experience in 
T&D operations and engineering

Mike McCleary
Former lineman and senior manager 
with 39 years operational experience

Sharon Samuels
23 years experience administrating 
FMPA’s contract products & services

5

Recently Added Alan to the Team to Support This Initiative

Page 34 of 50 Page 211

Item #8.



Conclusion: Focus Needed to Improve Reliability

• IOUs investing in their systems are achieving best-ever performance

• Municipals of all sizes need to focus on reliability. If we don’t improve, 
we risk falling behind

• Municipal investment on maintenance and system improvements 
required to reverse the trends

• FMPA offers subject-matter experts and an array of contract services 
to support munis with reliability best practices

6

As Wholesale Costs Come Down, Need to Invest in Systems

Page 35 of 50 Page 212

Item #8.



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM 6 – INFORMATION 
ITEMS 
 
c. APPA Climate Discussions and 

Comparison of Legislative Proposals 
 
Policy Makers Liaisons Committee Meeting 
July 22, 2021 

Page 36 of 50 Page 213

Item #8.



1

Policy Makers Liaisons Committee

6c – APPA Climate Discussions and 
Comparison of Legislative Proposals

July 21, 2021
Page 37 of 50 Page 214

Item #8.



Climate Legislation a Top Priority for Administration

• Climate legislation a top priority of administration - First Executive Order was Keystone Pipeline

• Administration called for electric sector to have net-zero carbon emissions by 2035

• APPA engaged Climate Task Force of CEOs from ~30 joint action agencies and large public power 
utilities to update the APPA position

• Task force wrapping up six-month effort for presentation to APPA Board in July

• Differences in generation mix, access to renewables and energy usage guided conversations 
around the need to balance emission reductions and have affordable, reliable power

• APPA position to help influence legislative proposals in coming months

• Two proposals (CLEAN Future Act and DeGette) represent range of alternatives with significantly 
different impacts to Florida customers (200%–300% increase to consumers vs. 25%–40%)

2

APPA Developing Climate Position to Participate in Discussions

Page 38 of 50 Page 215

Item #8.



U.S. Regional Electric Generation CO2 Emissions (lbs./MWh)

3

Emissions Driven in Part by Access to Natural Resources

> 1,400 lbs./MWh

1,000 – 1,400 
lbs./MWh

600 – 1,000 
lbs./MWh

< 600 lbs./MWH

Pacific Northwest 
454

Greater TX
982

Rockies
1,625

Southeast
801

Southwest 901

Midwest
1,070 East Central

1,153CA
447

1,260

Hawaii 1,659

Northeast
510

Page 39 of 50 Page 216

Item #8.



U.S. Residential Customer Consumption (kWh/Cust.)

4

Significant Difference in Usage Driven by Air Conditioning

> 12,000 
kWh/Customer

8,000 – 12,000 
kWh/Customer

< 8,000 
kWh/Customer

Hawaii 6,296

Alaska
6,665

Northeast
7,374

Rockies
8,506

Midwest 
9,873

Pacific Northwest 
11,314

East Central
10,832

Southwest 10,995
Southeast

13,555Greater TX
13,766

CA
6,385

Page 40 of 50 Page 217

Item #8.



U.S. Average Residential Retail Price (cents/kWh)

5

Higher Consumption Regions Tend to Have Lower Prices

> 18 cents

12-13 cents

< 12 cents

Pacific Northwest 
10.20

Greater TX
11.17

Rockies
11.55

Southeast
11.73

Southwest
12.34

Midwest
12.46

East Central
12.90

Northeast
18.29

CA
19.15

22.92

Hawaii 32.06 Page 41 of 50 Page 218

Item #8.



U.S. Solar Capability Predominate in SW, SE

6

Solar Much More Unreliable Even in Florida, North Limited

SOURCE: National Renewable Energy Laboratory

High solar capability

Average solar capability

Minimal solar capability

Solar Resource Potential

Page 42 of 50 Page 219

Item #8.



U.S. Wind Access Strong in Middle U.S.

7

Very Limited in Most of Eastern U.S.

SOURCE: National Renewable Energy Laboratory and AWS Truepower, LLC

High wind capability

Above average wind capability

Average wind capability

Below average wind capability

Minimal wind capability

U.S. Wind Resource

Page 43 of 50 Page 220

Item #8.



FMPA Input into APPA Draft Climate Position

• Few public power utilities could meet net-zero emission goals by 2035, majority cannot cost-effectively meet 
goal until ~2050 – similar to IOUs

• CO2 emission reduction legislation must keep power supply reliable and affordable and have provisions if 
power costs rise too much in a region

 APPA recognizes significant rate increases disproportionately hurt fixed and low-income customers

• To meet CO2 reduction goals, new technologies must be developed and be cost effective to ensure 
affordable and reliable power 

• Ensure cost-effective dispatchable resources remain available to serve loads until energy storage technology 
is commercially developed and cost effective to ensure grid reliability and rate affordability

• Significant nationwide research and development budget is required to develop these new technologies

• Significant transmission additions needed in U.S.; Federal siting authority needed for multi-state projects

• Numerous federal agencies including DOE, EPA, FERC and NERC must work together to implement, monitor 
cost and reliability impacts of such legislation and should report impacts to Congress every five years

8

Balance Emission Reductions with Power Costs and Reliability

Page 44 of 50 Page 221

Item #8.



Legislative Proposals Differ in Process and Impact

9

Florida Customers Could See Significant Rate Increases 

CLEAN Future Act DeGette Bill

Net-zero by 2035 Net-zero by 2050 – smoother path to 
goal

Alternative emission payments escalated 
by fixed-amount plus inflation

Alternative emission payments escalated 
at lower fixed-rate and no inflation

No rate protection mechanism for 2035 
and beyond

Continued rate protection mechanism 
through 2050

Florida costs increase 200% – 300% 
above baseline by 2035

Florida costs increase 25% – 40% above 
baseline by 2035

Page 45 of 50 Page 222

Item #8.



ARP Avoids Penalties Through ‘35 Under DeGette Bill

10

Lack of Penalties Keep Rates Lower on Path to 2050

$0

$50

$100

$150

$200

$250

$300

$68
$96

$76
DeGette

CLEAN 
Future

No Legislative 
Constraints

DeGette
Bill

*All cases assume no more than 3% inflation, no ITC. ITC may help provide a small cost offset on amortized solar assets.

Estimated ARP Wholesale Power Rate* ($/MWh)

2023 Base Plan 2035 Base Plan
(55% CO2 Reduction)

70% Reduction
(2035)

100% Reduction
(2035)

$290
Includes additional solar 
generation and storage 
that would be needed

Page 46 of 50 Page 223

Item #8.



Florida Response to Alternatives Would Differ

11

Pace of Investment Could Crowd Out Future Viable Technology

CLEAN Future Act DeGette Bill

Significant overbuild on solar and 
storage – 10 X current Florida capacity Slower solar build, time for storage gains

Many multiples of new transmission 
need permitting and new construction

Transmission additions at a pace similar 
to today's level

Customer cost burden ramps 
significantly through 2035

Continued rate protection mechanism 
through 2050 minimizes increases

Limited time for alternative tech (e.g., 
clean hydrogen) to become low cost

Smoother transition operationally with 
open-ended approach to new tech

Page 47 of 50 Page 224

Item #8.



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM 7 – MEMBER COMMENTS 
 
 
Policy Makers Liaisons Committee Meeting 
July 22, 2021 

Page 48 of 50 Page 225

Item #8.



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM 8 – ANNOUNCEMENTS 
 
a. Next Meeting:  Wednesday, October 20, 2021 

at FMPA, 8553 Commodity Circle, Orlando, 
FL 

 
 
Policy Makers Liaisons Committee Meeting 
July 22, 2021 

Page 49 of 50 Page 226

Item #8.



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM 9 – ADJOURN 
 
 
 
 
 
Policy Makers Liaisons Committee Meeting 
July 22, 2021 
 
 

Page 50 of 50 Page 227

Item #8.



Page 228

Item #9.



Page 229

Item #9.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TO:  City Council Regular Session MEETING DATE: 08/03/2021 

FROM: Ben Plourd, Code Enforcement  

SUBJECT: Lien Reduction Request For 704 Governors Cir  
 

BACKGROUND 

Previous owner issued notice of repeat violation on May 21st, 2019, for overgrown grass/weeds and 

numerous property maintenance violations. Compliance was not met, and the case was brought to 

hearing on June 19th, 2019. Property was found in violation and assessed a $100 administration fee. A 

daily fine of $25 was ordered to start August 1st, 2019, if the violations were not corrected. Property was 

brought back to the special magistrate on July 21st, 2020. The daily fines had accumulated to $8,750 

plus the $100 admin fee. A lien was imposed in the amount of $8,850. The property remained in 

violation and the $25 per day fine was ordered to continue.  

Property was sold on May 7th, 2021; however, the lien was not paid off. The new owner obtained the 

required permits and cleaned up the property which is now in compliance.  

Property owner is asking for the lien in the amount of $8,850 be reduced. 

Total lien amount $8,850 

 

FISCAL IMPACT 

$8,850 for the existing lien on the property. 

RECOMMENDATION 

City recommends the request be denied, lien amount assessed was due to ongoing and repeated code 

violations that were still present at the time of the property changing owners. The lien was recorded with 

the county clerk and would have been discoverable during a lien/title search done before the property 

changed hands.   
 

Page 230

Item #9.



Page 231

Item #10.



Page 232

Item #10.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TO:  City Council Regular Session MEETING DATE: 08/03/2021 

FROM: Ben Plourd, Code Enforcement  

SUBJECT: Lien Reduction Request For 402 Roberts St.  
 

BACKGROUND 

Previous owner issued notice of violation on June 29th, 2016, for overgrown grass/weed and fence in 

disrepair. A daily fine of $25 was assessed starting after September 8th, 2016. While the daily fine was 

accruing the property, ownership transferred to FLA TRUST SERVICES LLC TRUSTEE. The new 

property owner was advised of the violations and the fines. On August 16th, 2017, the Special Magistrate 

signed an order allowing the city to abate all remaining violations including the overgrown weeds/grass 

and the fence, as well as assessing a lien in the amount of $8625 which included accrued daily fines and 

administrative costs. On October 18th,2017 a lien in the amount of $196.80 was assessed, this included 

the cost of work done by the city as well as administrative cost.  

As of today, the property is in compliance.  

Total lien amount $8,821.80 

 

FISCAL IMPACT 

$8,821 for the existing lien on the property. 

RECOMMENDATION 

City recommends the request be denied, lien amounts assessed were due to ongoing and repeated code 

violations  
 

Page 233

Item #10.



Page 234

Item #11.



Page 235

Item #11.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TO:  City Council Regular Session MEETING DATE: 08/03/2021 

FROM: Ben Plourd, Code Enforcement  

SUBJECT: Lien Reduction Request For 115 St. Johns  
 

BACKGROUND 

The previous property owner was cited several times for overgrown weeds/grass. These violations 

resulted in four separate liens being placed on the property. Three of the liens were assessed in 2013, the 

lien totals, $390.24, $169.89 and $169.89 include administrative costs and fees for the city cutting the 

overgrown weeds/grass. The fourth lien in the amount of $9,000 was assessed in 2016 and includes a 

onetime fine of $200 and a daily fine of $100 running from September 24th ,2015, until December 21st, 

2015. Property has been vacant for several years and has remained in compliance due to neighbors 

maintaining the grass. 

Ownership was transferred to William C. Higgins from the previous owner through a quit claim deed 

recorded on June 3rd, 2021.  

Mr. Higgins paid all four of the liens off in June, 2021   However, Mr. Higgins has requested a lien 

reduction of the $9,000 lien.   

FISCAL IMPACT 

$9,000 for the existing lien on the property 

RECOMMENDATION 

City recommends the request be denied, lien amount assessed was due to ongoing and repeated code 

violations. All liens were recorded with the county clerk and would have been discoverable during a 

lien/title search done before the property changed hands.   
 

Page 236

Item #11.


	Top
	Item #1.	CC1: Ayrshire PUD - 1st Reading
	Staff Report_Ayrshire PUD 7.12.2021
	Ordinance O-06-2021 - Ayrshire PUD
	Ordinance O-06-2021 Exhibit D
	Development Agreement
	Extracted pages from Ayrshire PUD Traffic Impact Study 06302021 SS
	School_Proportionate share agreement draft
	DEO comments GREEN COVE SPRS. 21-01ESR (P)
	FDOT comments City_of_Green_Cove_Springs_21-1ESR_T_FDOT_D2_Letter
	Application

	Item #2.	HRAWWTF, SRF Disbursement Request #3
	Disbursement Request  3, Advanced WWTF, 8-5-21 Staff Report
	Green Cove Springs Disb Req No. 3_signed

	Item #3.	Electric Materials Purchase
	Electric Materials Purchase, 8-3-21 Staff Report
	Electric Material Quote

	Item #4.	City Council approval of the FY 2021 Revenues and Expenditures Report and the Quarterly Investment Report for the period ending June 30, 2021
	Aug 2021 Staff Report for Rev and Expenditures 06 30 21
	Expenditure Report JUNE 30 2021
	FSBA INVESTMENTS 0621

	Item #5.	Magnolia Point Reconductor Heart Construction Contract
	Staff Report Magnolia Point - Mag Pt Reconductor 080321
	Mag Point Phase 1 Quote 2

	Item #6.	Andy Yeager
	Chapman Substation Transfomer
	SPX Transformer Solutions Invioce #1
	SPX Transformer Solutions Invoice #2

	Item #7.	Terry's Pay App #6
	Staff Report - Terry&#39;s Pay App No 6 - 080321
	LC 2020-17, AFP No. 6

	Item #8.	FMPA - August 2021
	FMPA Monthly Report August 2021-word
	PMLC-Agenda-Package-2021-07-22

	Item #9.	704 Governors Cir lien reduction request
	704 GOVERNORS CIR RECORDED LIEN (1)
	704 Gov Cir Lien Reduction Staff report Updated

	Item #10.	402 Roberts lien reduction request
	402 Roberts street lien 1
	402 Roberts street lien 2
	402 Roberts Street Lien Reduction Staff report updated

	Item #11.	115 St. Johns lien reduction request
	115 St. Johns Lien
	115 St. Johns Lien Reduction Staff report updated

	Bottom

